
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                              
     NOTICE OF MEETING  

 
   

 

HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 

 
 
THURSDAY, 5TH NOVEMBER, 2009 at 18:00 HRS - CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH ROAD, 
WOOD GREEN, N22 8LE. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Membership: Please see membership list set out below. 
 
1. APOLOGIES    
 
 To received any apologies for absence.  

 
2. URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 The Chair will consider the admission of any items of Urgent Business. (Late items 

will be dealt with under the agenda item where they appear. New items of Urgent 
Business will be dealt with under Item 10 below).   
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 Members of the HSP should declare any personal/and or prejudicial interests with 

respect to agenda items and must not take part in any decision required with respect 
to those items.   
 

4. MINUTES  (PAGES 1 - 12)  
 
 To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 23 June and 23 September as correct 

records.  
 

DISCUSSION ITEM: 
 
5. UPDATE ON HARINGEY'S RESPONSE TO THE RECESSION  (PAGES 13 - 34)  
 
BUSINESS ITEMS: 
 
6. NEW DEAL FOR COMMUNITIES SUCCESSION PLAN  (PAGES 35 - 102)  
 
7. LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE  (PAGES 103 - 126)  
 

 



 

2 

INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 
8. HARINGEY'S COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT FRAMEWORK: DELIVERY PLAN  

(PAGES 127 - 136)  
 
9. THEMATIC BOARD UPDATES  (PAGES 137 - 142)  
 
10. NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 To consider any new items of Urgent Business raised under Item 2 above.  

 
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS    
 
 To raise any items of AOB.  

 
12. DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS    
 
 To note the dates of future HSP meetings set out below: 

 

• 6pm, 21 January 2010, Civic Centre  

• 6pm, 25 March 2010, Civic Centre 
 

 
Ken Pryor      Xanthe Barker 
Deputy Head of Local Democracy   Principal Committee Coordinator 
London Borough of Haringey   Tel: 020 8489 2957 
River Park House     Email: xanthe.barker@haringey.gov.uk  
225 High Road Wood Green  
London 
N22 4QH      28 October 2009  
 
 
 
 
 



 

3 

 

Organisation (s) No. of 
reps 

Name of Representative 

Haringey Council 
 

5 Cllr. Claire Kober, Leader of the Council (Chair) 
Dr Ita O’Donovan, Chief Executive  
Cllr. Kaushika Amin, Cabinet Member  
Cllr. Nilgun Canver, Cabinet Member (Enforcement and Safer 
Communities) 
Cllr. Lorna Reith, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Children and 
Young People) 
 

NHS Haringey   
 
 
Haringey Council/NHS 
Haringey 

2 
 
 
1 

 

Richard Sumray, Chairman 
Tracey Baldwin, Chief Executive 
 
Eugenia Cronin, Director of Public Health  
 

Barnet, Enfield & Haringey 
Mental Health Trust 

1 Maria Kane, Chief Executive 

London Fire Brigade 1 
 

John Brown, Borough Commander Haringey 

Metropolitan Police 1 Dave Grant, Chief Superintendent  
 

Job Centre Plus 1 Walter Steel, External Relations Manager 
 

Middlesex University 1 Lucille Allain, Director of Social Programmes 
 

Learning and Skills Council  1 
 

Yolande Burgess, Partnerships Director 
 

College of North East London 1 Paul Head, Principal of CONEL (Vice-Chair) 

Registered Social Landlords 1 TBC 
 

Homes for Haringey 1 Michael Jones, Chair of Homes for Haringey 

Community Link Forum 6 John Egbo  
Derma Ioannou 
Reverend Nims Obunge 
Martha Osamor 
Faiza Rizvi 
Michelle Stokes 
 

HAVCO 1 Robert Edmonds, Chair of HAVCO 
  

Haringey Youth Council  2 TBC 

The Bridge New Deals for 
Communities (NDC) 

1 Lorne Horsfoth Chair of the NDC 

Thematic Board 
Representatives 

5 Cllr Brian Haley, BPP representative  
Peter Lewis, CYPSPB representative   
Cllr John Bevan, IHB representative 
TBC, EPB representative  
Rev Nims Obunge, SCEB representative  
Cllr Dilek Dogus, WBSPB representative  
 

2 MP’s and 1 GLA 
representative 

3 David Lammy, MP for Tottenham 
Lynne Featherstone, MP for Hornsey and Wood Green 
Joanne McCartney, GLA AM for Haringey and Enfield 
  

TOTAL  
 

35  



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 

 
Present: Councillor Claire Kober (Chair), Tracey Baldwin, Chris Barclay, John 

Councillor John Bevan, John Brown, Yolande Burgess, Councillor 
Nilgun Canver, Eugenia Cronin, Robert Edmonds, John Egbo, Paul 
Head, Peter Lewis, Joanne McCartney, Dr Ita O’Donovan, Martha 
Osamor, Councillor Lorna Reith, Faiza Rizvi, Michele Stokes and 
Richard Sumray.  

 
 
In 
Attendance: 

Xanthe Barker, Jackie Barry-Purssell, Janet Capstick, Mary Connolly, 
Tim Dauncey, Marc Dorfman, Penny Fisher, Patrick Jones, Sharon 
Kemp, Wayne Longshaw, Eve Pelekanos, Helena Pugh, Philip Pullen 
and Naeem Sheikh.  

 
 

MINUTE 
NO. 

 
SUBJECT/DECISION 

ACTION 
BY 

 

HSP154. 
 

APOLOGIES  

 Apologies for absence were received from the following: 
 
Dave Grant            -Chris Barclay substituted 
Derma Ioannou 
Michael Jones 
David Lammy MP 
Walter Steel  
 

 
 

HSP155. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS  

 The Board was provided with an update in relation to the measures that 
were being taken to address Swine Flu.  
 
It was noted that Swine Flu was now classed as a pandemic by the 
World Health Organisation. Although the illness had spread rapidly it 
was not as severe as initially feared and those effected generally 
recovered well without needing to be admitted to hospital.  
 
The Board would receive further updates as the situation developed.  
 
RESLOVED: 
 
That the update provided be noted.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All to note 

HSP156. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 No declarations were made.  
 

 
 

HSP157. 
 

MINUTES  

 With regard to minute HSP141 it was noted that concern had been 
raised at the previous meeting, in relation to population projections and 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

the need to gain a better understanding of these, both in terms of the 
picture in Haringey the wider London context. This was particularly 
important in forming the Partnership’s response to the Recession.  
 
This point was noted my members of the Board.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2009 be confirmed as a 
correct record.  
 

Director of 
Public 
Health  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

HSP158. 
 

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR 2009/10  

 RESOLVED: 
 
That Councillor Claire Kober be confirmed as Chair of the Haringey 
Strategic Partnership for 2009/10.  
 

 
 

HSP159. 
 

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

 RESOLVED: 
 
That Paul Head be appointed as Vice-Chair of the Haringey Strategic 
Partnership for 2009/10.  
 

 
 

HSP160. 
 

CHAIR'S ANNUAL STATEMENT  

 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Chair’s Annual Statement be noted.  
 
(A copy is appended to these minutes). 
 

 
 

HSP161. 
 

CONFIRMATION OF TERMS OF REFERENCE AND MEMBERSHIP: 
2009/10 

 

 The Board considered a report presenting its Terms of Reference and 
Membership for confirmation.  
 
It was noted that on the 16 June Council’s Cabinet had appointed three 
Cabinet Members to the HSP for 2009/10: 
 

• Councillor Nilgun Canver 

• Councillor Matt Cooke 

• Councillor Lorna Reith 
 
The agencies included within the list remained the same.  
 
There was agreement that wording contained within the Terms of 
Reference, with respect to the attendance of meetings, should be 
revised to reflect that Members of the Board were expected to give 
apologies for no more than two consecutive meetings in any twelve 
month period, without sending an appropriate substitute. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HSP 
Manager 
 

Page 2



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

It was noted that references to the Children and Young People’s 
Strategic Partnership Board would need to be amended to reflect the 
establishment of the Children’s Trust.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
i. That, subject to clarification and amendment with regard to the 

points raised above, the Term of Reference presented be agreed 
on an interim basis.  

 
ii. That the Membership List for 2009/10 be noted.  
 

 
 
HSP 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HSP 
Manager 

HSP162. 
 

INITIAL FEEDBACK ON THE COMPREHENSIVE AREA 
ASSESSMENT 

 

 The Board received an overview of the Emerging Issues Feedback 
paper, prepared the Audit Commission, on the recent Comprehensive 
Area Assessment and how the Partnership had been assessed. 
 
It was noted that the document highlighted Mortality as an area where 
further information would be sought. The Director of Public Health noted 
that the Local Area Agreement (LAA) referred to standardised mortality 
ratios and that a briefing for the Audit Commission could be provided on 
this and there was agreement that this would be useful.  
 
In response to a query, as to when the outcome of the recent Care 
Quality Commission inspection of Adult Services would be available, the 
Board was advised that this was due within the next three weeks. 
 
The Audit Commission thanked the Partnership for undertaking the Self 
Assessment, which they had found useful.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the feedback provided be noted.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director of 
Public 
Health  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HSP163. 
 

THE PARTNERSHIP'S EXPERIENCE OF THE COMPREHENSIVE 
AREA ASSESSMENT 

 

 The Board was provided with an overview of how preparation for the 
CAA had been undertaken and the experience of the CAA Steering 
Group.  
 
The Chair of the CAA Steering Group noted that the process had 
provided partner organisations with a better understanding of how the 
different organisations operated and the issues they faced. Partners 
from the Voluntary Sector noted that this was the first time they had 
contributed to this type of work and the experience had been positive 
and that it would be useful in developing collaborative working across 
the Partnership.  
 
There was a general consensus that the process and the critique of the 
Partnership by the Audit Commission had been informative and would 
strengthen future collaborative working.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

 
It was noted that there should be a balance between positive areas of 
work and those where further work was required. Although there were 
significant areas of challenge for the Partnership this should not 
overshadow the good work and progress that had been achieved.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the verbal report be noted.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

HSP164. 
 

UPDATE FROM THE RECESSION TASK GROUP  

 The Board received a report that provided an update on work being 
carried out by the Recession Taskforce.  
 
Apologies were given for the omission of Appendix 1, referred to in the 
report and the Board was advised that this would be circulated 
separately.  
 
It was noted that the first meeting of the Taskforce had taken place on 3 
June and that this had been attended by a range of representatives from 
across the Partnership. A Recession ‘Dashboard’, which contained 
statistical information drawn from across a number of areas, provided a 
broad picture of the impact that the recession was having upon 
Haringey. This was now being shared across Partner organisations and 
would form an important tool for the Taskforce. 
 
The Board was advised that the Government had recently announced 
that £30M was being made available for public authorities to bid for job 
creation programmes. The Taskforce would be identifying opportunities 
in Haringey to take up this offer.  
 
At the previous HSP meeting the Board had been advised that options 
around the establishment of a Credit Union were being considered. This 
work was progressing and the Recession Taskforce would receive a 
presentation on progress at its next meeting.  
 
The Board was advised that NHS Haringey was constructing business 
cases for community based health projects. At present posts for sixteen 
Health Workers, who would be community based and would provide 
information on health and well being. In addition health equality audits 
continued to be carried out and these would be used as a tool to 
highlight areas of need.  
 
It was noted that the Government Office for London (GOL) was carrying 
out work with respect to the establishment of Credit Unions and there 
was agreement that officers from the Council’s Regeneration Team 
should contact GOL to discuss this further.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
i. That the report be noted.  

 
 
 
 
Business 
and 
Enterprise 
Policy 
Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All to note 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business 
and 
Enterprise 
Policy 
Officer  

Page 4



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

 
ii. That officers from the Council’s Regeneration Team should 

contact GOL to discuss the establishment of Credit Unions.   
 
 

HSP165. 
 

IMPLEMENTATION OF HARINGEY CHILDREN'S TRUST  

 The Board received a report with respect to the establishment of a 
Children’s Trust, which would form part of the HSP structure and replace 
the former Children and Young People’s Strategic Partnership Board 
(CYPSP).   
 
It was noted that the Trust had met on 19 May and had agreed its Terms 
of Reference, Membership and the format for its three Sub Groups. The 
Children’s Trust Executive Performance Management Group (EPMG), 
which would take an overview of performance and agenda planning, had 
be established and was due to meet on 24 June.  
 
In response to concerns that the size of the Trust would inhibit its ability 
to work effectively the Board was advised that the Membership had been 
reviewed with a view to reducing it size. However, as new legislation was 
expected in relation to the membership of Children’s Trusts, it had been 
decided that the membership should remain relatively broad until 
guidance was received.  
 
There was agreement that there should be a six month review of the 
Terms of Reference, rather than a twelve month review as set out in the 
report.  
 
It was noted that as the Sub Groups developed members of the Trust 
may feel that it was more appropriate to take up places on these bodies 
and therefore there may be a natural reduction in its size.  
 
Clarification was sought as to how the Trust and the role of its members 
differed to that of the CYPS and it was noted that each partner 
organisation, regardless of its size, would share equal accountability for 
delivering the Trusts work. The document contained a section describing 
the difference that the Trust would make and the new legislation around 
the Trust was also likely to clarify the role of trustees.  
 
In terms of the relationship between the EPMG and the HSP 
Performance Management Group (PMG) in order to ensure that the 
PMG could hold the EMPG to account there would be no cross 
membership. Therefore second tier officers had been nominated to sit on 
the EPMG by the statutory organisations with places on both groups  
 
The Board discussed the role of the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) and the relationship between this and the Children’s Trust. It was 
noted that there would be an element of scrutiny between the bodies. 
However, they had separate roles to perform and therefore there would 
be no duplication. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Interim 
Director of 
Special 
Projects 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the proposals with respect to the implementation of the Haringey 
Children’s Trust, as set out in the report and protocol, be approved 
subject to a review being carried out after six months, rather the twelve 
months, as set out in the report.  
 

 
 
 
 
Interim 
Director of 
Special 
Projects  

HSP166. 
 

HARINGEY'S INFORMATION SHARING PROTOCOLS  

 The Board considered a report that provided an update on the work 
being undertaken to improve Information Sharing Protocols (ISPs).  
 
The Board was reminded that the JAR Action Plan had recommended 
that the Partnership Framework for information sharing should be 
improved and developed. To address this, an officer working group 
consisting of representatives from the statutory organisations, had been 
formed to identify consider how the respective information sharing 
arrangements could be aligned to the Information Commissioners model 
of best practice.  
 
It was confirmed that provision was being made to include the services 
delivered by the Voluntary Sector.  
 
It was contended that information relating to young people at risk of Anti 
Social Behaviour (ASB) would need to be held in one area. In response 
the Board was advised that as the issue was pertinent to many areas it 
would need to be addressed across the partnership.  
 
In terms of ensuring that personal data was not shared inappropriately 
the Board was advised that the Information Commissioner had set 
protocols around this and that training would be provided on a multi 
agency basis.  
 
The Board was advised that officers had attended a pan London group 
that had been formed to look at information sharing across Boroughs. 
Work was also being carried out around the establishment of cross 
Borough agreements and progress would be reported to the Board.  
 
It was noted that, as the framework was developed, there would be 
provision for feeding information down through organisations. There was 
a general consensus that some of the practices already used by Chief 
Officers in terms of sharing information should be systemised and built 
upon.  
 
It was suggested that, as the framework developed it may be useful if 
multi agency meetings were held, where information could be shared.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
i. That the overarching position statement, as set out in the report, 

be agreed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

ii. That the three existing ISPs should be revised in line with the 
Information Commissioner’s Office model protocol template.  

 
iii. That a presentation should be received at the next HSP meeting 

on the revised protocols.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
CE 
PPP&C 

HSP167. 
 

LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT END OF YEAR PERFORMANCE 
REPORT: 2008/09 

 

 The Board received a report that provided an overview of performance 
against Local Area Agreement (LAA) targets at the end of 2008/09.  
 
The Board was advised that at the end of 2008/09 forty-two were rated 
as either Green or Amber and twelve were rated as Red. An additional 
twenty-six could not be assessed at present as the data was not 
available at present.  
 
It was noted that the HSP PMG was reviewing the way it managed 
performance with a view to increasing dialogue with Thematic Board 
Chairs.  This was intended to improve the focus on areas of 
underperformance and identifying measures to address these.  
 
The performance reports received by the PMG would also focus on 
exception reporting with more detailed information being included with 
regard to the remedial actions being taken by the Thematic Boards.  
 
The Board discussed how reward money attached to the achievement of 
Stretch Targets contained within the 2007 LAA would be distributed. 
There was agreement that the PMG should consider options for its use 
and present proposals to the HSP to consider at its next meeting.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
i. That the performance and the remedial actions being taken to 

address areas of under performance be noted.  
 
ii. That progress against the 2007 LAA Stretch Targets be noted.  
 
iii. That the PMG should consider options for Stretch Target Reward 

funding and report back to the HSP to consider at its next 
meeting.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
CE 
PPP&C / 
Head of 
Policy and 
Performan
ce 

HSP168. 
 

THEMATIC BOARD UPDATES  

 The Board considered a report that provided a summary of the work 
streams, activities and recent decisions taken by each of the Thematic 
Boards during the last cycle of meetings.  
 
The following updates were provided: 
 
Integrated Housing Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
TUESDAY, 23 JUNE 2009 
 

 
Tour of Decent Homes Works in Haringey -27 June 
 
The Board was advised that a tour was being arranged of the Decent 
Homes works being carried out in the Borough on 27 June. Details 
would be circulated to members of the Board following the meeting.  
 
It was requested that the HSP PMG should review how often information 
reports and presentations were submitted to each Thematic Board as 
these often took up a large part of the meetings.  
 
RESLOVED: 
 
i. That the report and additional updates provided be noted.  

 
ii. That the HSP PMG should review how often information reports 

and presentations were submitted to each Thematic Board. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All to note 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
CE 
PPP&C 
Assistant 
CE 
PPP&C 
 

HSP169. 
 

NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 No new items of Urgent Business were raised.  
 

 
 

HSP170. 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 Week of Peace -20 to 27 September 2009 
 
It was noted that the theme for the Week of Peace, being held from 20 to 
27 September, would be Unity.  
 

 
 
 
All to note 

HSP171. 
 

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

 The Board was asked to note the following dates of future meetings and 
was advised that an additional date was being arranged for late 
September to consider the CAA results.  
 

• September 2009 * 

• 5 November 2009  

• 21 January 2010  

• 25 March 2010   
 
* The date of this meeting will be confirmed shortly.  
 

 
 

COUNCILLOR CLAIRE KOBER 
 
Chair 
 
The meeting closed at 8.10pm. 

Page 8



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
WEDNESDAY, 23 SEPTEMBER 2009 

 
Present: Councillor Claire Kober (Chair), Tracey Baldwin, Chris Barclay, John 

Brown, Councillor John Bevan, Yolande Burgess, Eugenia Cronin, 
Markos Chrysostomou, Councillor Brian Haley, Paul Head (Vice-Chair), 
Derma Ioannou, Dr Ita O’Donovan, Martha Osamor, Councillor Lorna 
Reith, Faiza Rizvi, Richard Sumray and Walter Steel. 

 
 
In 
Attendance: 

Xanthe Barker, Mary Connolly, Wayne Longshaw, Eve Pelekanos, 
Helena Pugh.  

 
 

MINUTE 
NO. 

 
SUBJECT/DECISION 

ACTION 
BY 

 

HSP174. 
 

APOLOGIES  

 Apologies for absence were received from the following: 
 
Councillor Kaushika Amin  
Councillor Nilgun Canver 
Robert Edmonds                 - Markos Chrysostomou substituted 
John Egbo 
Lynne Featherstone MP 
Dave Grant   -Chris Barclay substituted  
Lorne Horsforth 
Michael Jones  -Jackie Thomas substituted 
David Lammy MP 
Pastor Nims Obunge  
 

 
 

HSP175. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 No declarations were made.   
 

 
 

HSP176. 
 

COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT: FEEDBACK FROM AUDIT 
COMMISSION 

 

  
The Board received a presentation from Jackie Barry-Pursell and 
Christine Moody of the Audit Commission, on the findings of the draft 
Area Assessment.  
 
A briefing note was tabled that provided an overview of the draft findings.  
 
Following the presentation the Board was advised of the next steps in 
terms of finalising the Area Assessment and publication.  
 
It was noted that there would be a meeting between the Audit 
Commission and Council officers leading on the Area Assessment 
during the next week to discuss any areas of concern arising from the 
draft Area Assessment. On the 19 October the Council would formally 
received the findings of the Area Assessment, the Organisational 
Assessment and the Use of Resources evaluation.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
WEDNESDAY, 23 SEPTEMBER 2009 
 

 
There would then be a period of just over seven weeks before the Area 
Assessment was published on the Audit Commission’s website on 10 
December 2009. 
 
The Board discussed the draft Area Assessment and questions were put 
to the Audit Commission representatives.  
 
In response to a query, relating to the period of time covered by the Area 
Assessment, the Board was advised that although the timeline for CAA 
began in April 2009, some of the data gathered may be up to two years 
old. Conclusions set out in the document had been drawn after looking 
at this range of data in the round.  
 
Concern was raised with respect to some of the language used within 
the document and it was suggested that reference to an ‘emerging Red 
Flag’ with respect to Children’s Services should be removed until 
Ofsted’s assessment had been received.  
 
It was also suggested that NHS Haringey should liaise with the Audit 
Commission to re-word parts of the document relating to ‘Economic 
Vitality and Prosperity Shared by All’ in order to reflect the recent 
improvement in figures and the action being taken to reduce instances of 
teenage pregnancy and the recruitment of health visitors.  
 
In terms of improving skills levels it was noted that the Council actively 
encouraged the organisations it worked with to use apprentices and it 
was requested that this was reflected in the document.  The Council had 
also provided additional funding to support the Citizens Advice Bureaux 
to enable it to meet the increased demand for information received from 
people affected by the change in economic climate.  
 
It was noted that further information, specific to the role of the Council, 
may fit better within the Organisational Assessment also untaken by the 
Audit Commission.   
 
There was agreement that partners should advise the Council’s 
Assistant Chief Executive, Policy, Partnerships, Performance and 
Communications, of any areas where they considered additional 
information should be submitted to the Audit Commission.  
 
A demonstration of the Audit Commission’s new website ‘My Place’ was 
given. The Board was advised that this would provide a tool for members 
of the public to obtain information regarding how Local Authorities 
performed in certain areas.  
 
Following the demonstration members of the Board put questions to 
Christine Moody of the Audit Commission.  
 
The Board was advised that information relating to ‘Value for Money’ 
would be contained within the Use of Resources evaluation. This would 
also be published on the website.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ass CE 
PPP & C 

Page 10



MINUTES OF THE HARINGEY STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD (HSP) 
WEDNESDAY, 23 SEPTEMBER 2009 
 

 
In response to a query the Board was advised that the site’s search 
engine would enable searches to be carried out both by theme and by 
the flagging system used to indicate areas of innovation and concern. All 
of the information published would make reference to the date of when it 
was obtained. Links to the organisations referred to would also be 
provided.  
 
The Board was advised that when updates were made these would be 
undertaken across each area at the same time. This would provide 
consistency and ensure that members of the public were provided with a 
rounded view of the Borough.  
 
In conclusion the Board was reminded that the website would be 
launched on 10 December.  
 

HSP177. 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 None.  
 

 
 

HSP178. 
 

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

 The dates of HSP meetings for the remainder of 2009/10 were noted: 
 

• 5 November 2009  

• 21 January 2010  

• 25 March 2010  
 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 7.15pm.   

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Meeting:  Haringey Strategic Partnership      
 
Date:   5 November 2009  
 
Report Title: Update on Haringey’s Response to the Recession  
 
Report of: Marc Dorfman, Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regeneration 
 
 

Purpose  
 
The purpose of this report is to update the strategic partnership on the key 
indicators of the recession in Haringey and the development of an action plan 
to respond to the recession in the borough. 
 

Summary 
 
The latest Position 
 
The report sets out the findings of the latest update of the recession (the 
fourth update) and the development of an action plan to respond to the 
recession in the borough.  Analysis of the latest update of the recession 
dashboard (October) shows that two stand out indicators, which help tell the 
narrative of the impact of the recession in Haringey, to be the JSA claim rate 
and average house prices.  Both indicators are available on a monthly basis 
and with comparison data at local, regional and national levels; they are both 
datasets that will respond quickly to economic conditions. 
 
JSA Claim rates 
 
The long trends for JSA claim rates in the borough show that historically, 
claim rates in Haringey have been 2-2.5% higher than the average for London 
and England.  This is understandable in the context of the levels of 
deprivation experienced in the north east of the borough and in particular the 
Northumberland Park and White Hart Lane wards.  Over a quarter of the 
super output areas in the borough are within the 10% most deprived 
nationally.  Latterly, as the economic downturn lead to recession, all trends for 
JSA claim rates have pointed up.  However, the figures for Haringey have 
been less severe relative to London and England.  Increasing by 36% since 
May 2008, compared to 42% in London and 47% across England.   The 
increase in the number of JSA claimants is also amongst the lowest in 
London, although the absolute number of claimants in the borough remains 
amongst the highest in the capital. 
 
The borough’s internal trends are also of interest, showing that whilst the JSA 
claim rate in the Tottenham parliamentary constituency have increased by 
50% since May 2008, the rate in the Hornsey and Wood Green constituency 

Agenda Item 5Page 13



has increased by 70% for the same period.  It is important to note that despite 
the higher increase in claim rates overall the absolute number of claimants in 
Tottenham (5,886) remains higher than in Hornsey and Wood Green (4,004).  
This information is indicative of how this recession has impacted upon 
professional sectors and in particular the financial services sector, where we 
know through commuter patterns that there are many residents from the 
Muswell Hill and Crouch End neighbourhoods working in the square mile. 
 
Average House Prices 
 
Based upon Land Registry data, all local, regional and national trends show 
growth in average house prices up until early spring 2008, when they peaked 
and began to shrink at around the same rate that they rose.  For Haringey the 
market peaked at just under £367,000 in March 2008, for London and 
England they peaked in February 2008 at £356,000 and £184,000 
respectively.   The decline in the market continued until late winter 2009, 
where figures appear to have bottomed out and in Haringey’s case, tentatively 
grow again.  These dates correspond with, in the first instance the fallout of 
the Northern Rock collapse and its ultimate impact upon the availability of 
mortgages and repossessions, and secondly the slight recovery is timed with 
the fiscal stimulus packages being agreed across the G20 nations, recovering 
confidence within the markets and talk of increased lending in the mortgage 
market. 
 
Overall Haringey average house prices are consistent with the London 
average, for much of the downturn the average price was higher than London, 
but August 2009 figures are slightly below the London average.  Average 
house prices for England are consistently over £100,000 less than in London.  
Looking at Haringey’s performance, tells us that a) housing stock in Haringey 
is still (on average) in demand and b) that the net result of transactions in the 
borough has not been erratic enough during the recession to suggest 
anything other than relative stability. 
 
Other indicators 
 
In addition to the JSA claim rate and average house prices, there are other 
indicators that have been monitored on the recession dashboard, which give 
an insight into the state of the borough.  Many of these indicators are updated 
annually or quarterly and therefore don’t portray the latest picture, but by the 
next update they will become increasingly informative.  They include: 
 

• The ILO unemployment rate (model based) – 9.7% for the period April 
2008 to March 2009, which is an increase from 9% in the previous 
period and still higher than London (7.4%) and England (6.2%). 

• Eligibility for Free School Meals – for the year 2009/10, 31% of the 
primary school roll and 35% of the secondary school roll have been 
assessed as eligible for free school meals.  The most up to date 
comparative data provided, shows the London averages for 2008 to be 
24.3% (Secondary) and 22.5% (Primary). 

• County court records show that between Q3 2008 and Q2 2009, 3.6 in 
every 1,000 households have been handed down a court order in 
relation to mortgage repossessions and 12.8 in relation to landlord 

Page 14



repossessions of privately rented homes.  in the case of mortgage 
repossessions, Haringey is lower than the London and England 
averages at 3.9 and 4 per 1,000 households respectively.  For 
Landlord repossessions, Haringey is almost twice as high as the 
London average (7.4) and almost three times as high as the England 
average (4.3). 

• Construction industry figures, available until October 2008, show that 
whilst the price of steelwork and the general cost of building has 
increased, the rate of increase is slowing.  In London at the end of 
2008, the cost of building index was 28 points higher at 206 compared 
to 178 nationally. 

• During the same period, the value of new orders for contractors has 
declined rapidly from over £50bn nationally in 2007 to less than £42bn 
in 2008.  The largest declines in orders were in the private housing and 
private commercial sectors – both falling by around 50% during 2008.  
This decline is despite an increased demand for infrastructure projects 
and both private and social rented sector housing.  In London the value 
of new orders fell from £9bn in 2007 to £8.7bn in 2008, with housing 
and private commercial again the weakest performing sectors. 

 
Conclusions 
 
From the available data we can draw the conclusion that the residents and the 
economy of Haringey have not suffered any more adversity than the rest of 
London or England, as a result of the recession, perhaps even showing a 
degree of resilience.  Nationally there are signs of improvement despite the 
continuing contraction of GDP.  However there are two notes of caution, firstly 
in many cases the latest data is not available and therefore we are not seeing 
the complete picture.  Secondly it is increasingly expected that the full impacts 
of the recession on employment will not be known until after the next 
government Spending Review and the general election next spring. 
 
Next Steps 
 
The analysis presented above helps agencies within the strategic partnership 
understand the impact of the recession in the borough, but it is how we use 
this analysis to respond to the recession that is important.  An action plan is 
required that demonstrates clear links with the findings of the above analysis.  
This work has already begun. 
 
The credit crunch 10pt plan was published in January 2009 and we have met 
or are meeting all 10 objectives.  An action plan has been drafted, expanding 
from the original 10 actions to a total of 20 actions, this has formed the basis 
of presentations to area assemblies.  This action plan should be consolidated 
into a formal partnership approach with ownership, resources, timescales 
assigned to addressing the analysis of the recession indicators.  This would 
enable us to better plan and target use of resources on the projects that are 
making the biggest impact. 

Legal/Financial Implications 
 
There are no direct legal and financial implications arising. 
 

Page 15



Recommendations 
 
The board are asked to note the contents of this report and to the work going 
forward to improve and refine the recession dashboard and the recession 
action plan. 
 

For more information contact: 
 
Name:  Patrick Jones 
Title: Business and Enterprise Policy Officer 
Tel: 020 8489 2670 
Email address: Patrick.jones@haringey.gov.uk  

 
Appendices  
 

Appendix A – Recession Dashboard 
Appendix B – Draft Action Plan 

Page 16



H
A
R
IN
G
E
Y
 R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 O
C
T
O
B
E
R
 2
0
0
9

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 A

In
d
ic
a
to
r

F
re
q
u
e
n
c
y

D
a
ta
 P
ro
v
id
e
r/
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

P
re
v
io
u
s
 d
a
ta
 

L
a
te
s
t 
d
a
ta

T
re
n
d

R
A
G

P
re
v
io
u
s
 d
a
ta

L
a
te
s
t 
d
a
ta

T
re
n
d

R
A
G

P
re
v
io
u
s
 d
a
ta

L
a
te
s
t 
d
a
ta

T
re
n
d

R
A
G

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

S
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 -
 u
s
a
g
e
A
n
n
u
a
l

R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

J
o
h
n
 M
o
rr
is

1
,1
7
9
,5
8
4

(2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

3
7
3
,0
0
0

(t
o
 J
u
n
e
 0
9
)

é
G
re
e
n

L
O
C
A
L
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R

T
h
e
re
 w
e
re
 o
v
e
r 
1
.2
 m
ill
io
n
 u
s
e
rs
 o
f 
le
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
, 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 o
v
e
r 
9
0
0
,0
0
0
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

U
s
a
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p

M
o
n
th
ly
 w
it
h
 a
 1
 

m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 l
a
g

L
ib
ra
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
ia
n
a
 E
d
m
o
n
d
s

9
,5
2
8

(2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

9
,4
3
5

(Y
e
a
r 
to
 J
u
n
e
 0
9
)
ê

G
re
e
n

L
O
C
A
L
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 i
s
 9
0
0
0
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 d
a
te
 

is
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
is
.

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 (
b
a
s
e
d
 

o
n
 4
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
) 
w
it
h
 a
 6
 

to
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

A
m
b
ro
s
e
 

Q
u
a
s
h
ie

6
3
.7
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

to
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

6
2
.2
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 

to
 A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

ê
R
e
d

7
0
.4
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

to
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

7
0
.1
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 

to
 A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

7
4
.2
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

to
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

7
4
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 t
o
 

A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

In
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 t
h
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 w
a
s
 6
3
.7
%
, 
d
o
w
n
 a
 r
a
te
 o
f 
6
5
.9
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r.
  
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
's
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 (
7
0
.4
%
) 
a
n
d
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 (
7
4
.2
%
) 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
s
. 
 

IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 (
b
a
s
e
d
 

o
n
 4
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
) 
w
it
h
 a
 6
 

to
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

A
m
b
ro
s
e
 

Q
u
a
s
h
ie

9
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 t
o
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

9
.7
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 

to
 A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

é
R
e
d

6
.9
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

to
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

7
.4
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 

to
 A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

é
R
e
d

5
.8
%
 (
J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

to
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
8
)

6
.3
%
 (
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8
 

to
 A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
)

é
R
e
d

In
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 t
h
e
 I
L
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 w
a
s
 7
.3
%
, 
d
o
w
n
 f
ro
m
 a
 r
a
te
 o
f 
8
.4
%
 

in
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r.
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 i
n
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
a
te
 (
i.
e
. 
p
e
o
p
le
 n
o
t 
a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

s
e
e
k
in
g
 w
o
rk
) 
in
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 f
ro
m
 2
8
.0

O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
)

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 w
it
h
 a
 6
 

m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 l
a
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

A
m
b
ro
s
e
 

Q
u
a
s
h
ie

1
8
.5
%
 

(N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
)

1
9
.3
%
 (
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r
1
4
.3
%
 

(N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
)

1
5
.1
%
 (
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r
1
4
.2
%
 

(N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
)

1
5
.3
%
 (
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r
In
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
, 
th
e
 o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 w
a
s
 1
6
.8
%
, 
d
o
w
n
 f
ro
m
 a
 r
a
te
 

o
f 
1
7
.8
%
 a
 y
e
a
r 
a
g
o
. 
 O
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
lis
e
d
 b
a
s
is
, 
th
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 
th
e
 o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 s
in
c
e
 c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
 b
e
g
a

C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 
u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t

M
o
n
th
ly
 w
it
h
 a
 1
 

m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 l
a
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

A
m
b
ro
s
e
 

Q
u
a
s
h
ie

6
.2
%
 (
A
u
g
 2
0
0
9
)
6
.3
%
 (
S
e
p
 2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r

4
.4
%
 (
A
u
g
 2
0
0
9
)
4
.5
%
 (
S
e
p
 2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r

4
.2
%
 (
A
u
g
 2
0
0
9
)

4
.2
%
 (
S
e
p
 2
0
0
9
)

è
A
m
b
e
r

A
t 
J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
, 
6
.1
%
 o
f 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
's
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 c
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 
u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
, 
u
p
 f
ro
m
 a
 r
a
te
 

o
f 
4
.2
%
 a
 y
e
a
r 
a
g
o
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
th
is
 r
a
te
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
in
c
e
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
0
. 
 I
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 l
o
n
e
 p
a
re

In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 w
it
h
 a
 6
 

m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 l
a
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

A
m
b
ro
s
e
 

Q
u
a
s
h
ie

7
.6
%
 (
N
o
v
 2
0
0
8
)
7
.6
%
 (
F
e
b
 2
0
0
9
)

è
A
m
b
e
r
6
.0
%
 (
N
o
v
 2
0
0
8
)
6
.0
%
 (
F
e
b
 2
0
0
9
)

è
A
m
b
e
r
6
.6
%
 (
N
o
v
 2
0
0
8
)

6
.6
%
 (
F
e
b
 2
0
0
9
)

è
A
m
b
e
r
A
t 
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
, 
th
e
 I
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 w
a
s
 7
.6
%
, 
d
o
w
n
 f
ro
m
 a
 r
a
te
 o
f 
7
.7
%
 p
e
r 

c
e
n
t 
a
 y
e
a
r 
a
g
o
. 
 O
n
 a
n
n
u
a
lis
e
d
 b
a
s
is
 t
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 
th
e
 I
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
 

s
e
v
e
n
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 
, 
p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 w
it
h
 a
n
 

1
 y
e
a
r 
ti
m
e
 l
a
g

O
N
S
/N
o
m
is

P
a
tr
ic
k
 J
o
n
e
s

6
2
.1
 (
2
0
0
6
)

8
3
.1
 (
2
0
0
7
)

é
G
re
e
n

7
8
.9
 (
2
0
0
6
)

1
0
4
.8
 (
2
0
0
7
)

é
G
re
e
n

5
4
.8
 (
2
0
0
6
)

6
4
.2
 (
2
0
0
7
)

é
G
re
e
n

T
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 d
a
ta
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
a
t 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 l
a
g
s
 b
e
h
in
d
 t
h
e
 B
a
rn
e
t 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 b
u
t 
h
a
s
 r
e
m
a
in
e
d
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 

a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 E
n
fi
e
ld
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
s
.

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h

A
n
n
u
a
lly

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
3
 (
2
0
0
8
)

6
3
 (
2
0
0
9
 Y
T
D
)

é
G
re
e
n

T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
 p
la
c
e
s
 t
o
 2
5
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 

lo
n
d
o
n
 w
id
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
2
,0
0
0
 o
v
e
r 
tw
o
 y
e
a
rs
.

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
ro
ll 
e
lig
ib
le
 

fo
r 
fr
e
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
m
e
a
ls
.

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

A
v
i 
B
e
c
k
e
r

P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 3
0
.8
%

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 -
 

3
4
.1
%

(2
0
0
8
)

P
ri
m
a
ry
 –
 3
1
.2
%

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 –
 

3
5
.3
%

(2
0
0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r

P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 2
4
.3
%

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 -
 

2
2
.5
%

(2
0
0
8
)

N
/A

N
/a

n
/a

O
f 
1
4
8
 r
a
n
k
e
d
 a
u
th
o
ri
te
s
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 1
0
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
s
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
e
n
ro
llm

e
n
ts
. 
 O
v
e
ra
ll 
ra
te
s
 o
f 
e
lig
ib
ili
ty
 a
re
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
, 
b
u
t 
lo
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 

in
n
e
r 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
.

M
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 c
la
im
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 
(E
d
m
o
n
to
n
 

c
o
u
n
ty
 c
o
u
rt
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 f
ig
u
re
s
)

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

C
o
u
n
ty
 c
o
u
rt
 

re
c
o
rd
s
/M
in
is
tr
y
 

o
f 
J
u
s
ti
c
e

3
4
8
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

3
4
5
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

1
3
,7
5
2
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

1
2
,5
1
5
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

9
4
,5
8
9
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

8
5
,1
3
0
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 a
re
 n
o
w
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 a
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 b
a
s
is
. 
 T
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
4
 q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
a
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 a
re
a
s
, 
c
la
im
s
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 
h
a
v
e
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
d
. 
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
s
 c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
o
r 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 
b
u
t 
s
in
c
e
 2
0
0
1
 o
rd
e
rs
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 5
%
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
rd
e
rs
 i
n
 

L
o
n
d
o
n
. 
 F
ig
u
re
s
 p
e
a
k
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
.

L
a
n
d
lo
rd
 p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 c
la
im
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 
(E
d
m
o
n
to
n
 

c
o
u
n
ty
 c
o
u
rt
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 f
ig
u
re
s
)

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

C
o
u
n
ty
 c
o
u
rt
 

re
c
o
rd
s
/M
in
is
tr
y
 

o
f 
J
u
s
ti
c
e

1
,5
1
8
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

1
,2
3
0
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

2
4
,1
4
3
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

2
3
,6
6
0
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

9
5
,4
3
9
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
7
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
8
)

9
1
,6
2
2
 (
Q
3
 2
0
0
8
 -
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 a
re
 n
o
w
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 a
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 b
a
s
is
. 
 T
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
4
 q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
a
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 a
re
a
s
, 
c
la
im
s
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 
h
a
v
e
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
d
. 
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
s
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
o
r 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 
b
u
t 
s
in
c
e
 2
0
0
3
 o
rd
e
rs
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 3
%
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
rd
e
rs
 i
n
 

L
o
n
d
o
n
. 
 F
ig
u
re
s
 p
e
a
k
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
.

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
 p
ri
c
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y

M
o
n
th
ly

L
a
n
d
 R
e
g
is
tr
y
 

o
n
lin
e

£
3
4
2
,4
2
8

(A
u
g
 0
8
)

£
3
0
4
,3
9
1

(A
u
g
 0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r
£
3
3
1
,1
8
7

(A
u
g
 0
8
)

£
3
1
0
,6
4
0

(A
u
g
 0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r
£
1
7
2
,2
0
3

(A
u
g
 0
8
)

£
1
5
5
,9
6
8

(A
u
g
 0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 1
3
.5
%
 d
ro
p
 i
n
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 d
ro
p
 i
n
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 p
ri
c
e
s
 (
1
2
.5
%
) 
b
u
t 
lo
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 

E
n
g
la
n
d
 (
1
4
%
).
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 p
ri
c
e
s
 b
e
g
a
n
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
in
 M
a
rc
h
 0
9
, 
w
h
e
re
a
s
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 

re
c
o
v
e
ry
 o
n
ly
 b
e
g
a
n
 t
h
is
 m
o
n
th
.

P
ri
c
e
 o
f 
s
te
e
lw
o
rk
 p
e
r 
to
n
n
e

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

D
e
p
t 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

In
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

S
k
ill
s

£
1
7
0
 (
O
c
t 
2
0
0
7
)

£
1
9
0
 (
O
c
t 
2
0
0
8
)

é
G
re
e
n

N
O
T
 A
V
A
IL
A
B
L
E

C
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 -
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
b
u
ild
in
g
 c
o
s
t 

in
d
e
x

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

D
e
p
t 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

In
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

S
k
ill
s

1
7
0
 (
O
c
t 
2
0
0
7
)

1
7
8
 (
O
c
t 
2
0
0
8
)

é
G
re
e
n

1
9
7
 (
O
c
t 
0
7
)

2
0
6
 (
O
c
t 
0
8
)

é
G
re
e
n

C
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 -
 n
e
w
 o
rd
e
rs

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

(b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 

d
a
ta
 i
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l)

D
e
p
t 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

In
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

S
k
ill
s

£
1
1
,5
b
n
 (
Q
4
 2
0
0
7
)£
8
.2
b
n
 (
Q
4
 2
0
0
8
)

ê
R
e
d

£
9
b
n
 (
2
0
0
7
)

£
8
.7
b
n
 (
2
0
0
8
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r
£
2
5
.5
b
n
 (
2
0
0
7
)

£
3
6
b
n
 (
2
0
0
8
)

é
G
re
e
n

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 s
e
ri
o
u
s
 

a
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
 c
ri
m
e
s
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
)

M
o
n
th
ly

S
a
fe
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

L
e
o
 K
e
a
rs
e

7
.9
 (
Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
)
1
7
.1
 (
Q
2
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
)

ê
G
re
e
n

S
e
ri
o
u
s
 A
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
 C
ri
m
e
 h
a
s
 f
a
lle
n
 b
y
 4
%
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
 y
e
a
r,
 j
u
s
t 
s
h
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
5
.5
%
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
o
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 d
ri
v
e
n
 b
y
 B
u
rg
la
ry
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
 y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 b
y
 T
h
e
ft
 F
ro
m
 M
o
to
r 
V
e
h
ic
le
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 u
p
 4
.9
%
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
 y
e
a
r.

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 V
io
le
n
c
e
 -
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

S
a
fe
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

P
e
te
r 
D
e
 B
o
u
rg

5
1
.4
%

(2
0
0
7
/0
8
)

4
5
.3
%

(t
o
 J
a
n
 2
0
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

T
O
 B
E
 U
P
D
A
T
E
D

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te

A
n
n
u
a
l

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x
a
ti
o
n

F
re
d
d
ie
 G
re
a
li
s
h

9
8
.2
%

(S
e
p
 0
8
)

9
7
.6
%

(S
e
p
t 
0
9
)

ê
A
m
b
e
r

9
8
.8
%

(M
a
r 
0
8
)

9
7
.4
%

(M
a
r 
0
9
)

ê
R
e
d

n
/a

W
h
ils
t 
th
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 d
e
c
lin
e
d
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 t
o
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 t
h
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
 i
s
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 b
y
 r
a
te
p
a
y
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 e
x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
s
ta
lm
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
1
0
, 
a
s
 o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 t
e
n
 m
o
n
th
ly
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
th
e
 d
e
fe
rr
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 o
ff
e
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a
lm
o
s
t 
3
0
0
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
p
a
y
e
rs
.

N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 m
o
n
th
.

P
e
r 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 

m
o
n
th

P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

P
a
u
l 
W
il
li
a
m
s
o
n

+
2

(J
u
ly
 0
9
)

+
2

(A
u
g
 0
9
)

é
G
re
e
n

T
H
IS
 I
S
 A
N
 I
N
T
E
R
N
A
L
 A
P
P
R
O
A
C
H
 T
O
 M
E
A
S
U
R
IN
G
 T
H
IS
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
, 
B
E
N
C
H
M
A
R
K
IN
G
 D
A
T
A
 N
O
T
 A
V
A
IL
A
B
L
E

*T
re
n
d
 c
o
m
p
a
re
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
m
o
n
th
 g
a
in
 /
 l
o
s
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 (
ro
lli
n
g
) 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
. 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
/c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
s

A
n
n
u
a
l

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x
a
ti
o
n

T
im
 F
is
h
e
r

3
7
,2
0
1

(J
u
n
e
 0
8
)

3
9
,0
1
6

(J
u
n
e
 0
9
)

é
A
m
b
e
r
n
/a

T
h
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 n
e
w
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
 i
s
 2
.3
%
.

H
A
R
IN
G
E
Y
 (
G
L
O
B
A
L
 w
h
e
re
 n
o
 c
o
m
p
)

L
O
N
D
O
N

E
N
G
L
A
N
D

Page 17



C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te

M
o
n
th
ly
 w
it
h
 a
 1
 

m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 l
a
g

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x
a
ti
o
n

F
re
d
d
ie
 G
re
a
li
s
h

9
3
.3
%

(S
e
p
 0
8
)

9
1
.9
%

(S
e
p
t 
0
9
)

ê
R
e
d

9
5
.4
%

(M
a
r 
0
8
)

9
5
.4
%

(M
a
r 
0
9
)

è
A
m
b
e
r

C
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 l
e
v
e
ls
. 
A
 n
o
te
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 c
o
rr
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
c
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 r
e
c
ie
v
e
d
 

a
n
d
 t
h
is
 m
a
y
 b
e
 a
tt
ri
b
u
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
c
o
m
m
it
tm
e
n
ts
. 
 E
ff
o
rt
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
o
s
e
 h
a
v
in
g
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
y
 m
a
k
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
a
t 
th
e
 e
a
rl
ie
s
t 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
re
v
is
e
d
 r
e
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 m
a
y
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
. 
W
h
e
re
 

a
v
o
id
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
is
 k
n
o
w
n
, 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
in
s
o
lv
e
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
in
g
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

s
e
c
u
re
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t.
 T
h
e
s
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
re
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 w
it
h
in
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

in
to
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
. 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 r
e
m
in
d
e
rs
 i
s
s
u
e
d

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x
a
ti
o
n

M
a
x
in
e
 

B
ro
a
d
b
ri
d
g
e

4
1
,3
5
6
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

(S
e
p
t 
0
8
)

4
0
,8
8
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

(S
e
p
t 
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

N
O
T
 A
V
A
IL
A
B
L
E

T
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 f
in
a
l 
n
o
ti
c
e
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d
.

C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 s
u
m
m
o
n
s
e
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x
a
ti
o
n

M
a
x
in
e
 

B
ro
a
d
b
ri
d
g
e

1
7
,1
1
7
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

(S
e
p
t 
0
8
)

1
5
,7
7
6
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

(S
e
p
t 
0
9
)

ê
G
re
e
n

N
O
T
 A
V
A
IL
A
B
L
E

S
e
a
rc
h
 f
e
e
s
 c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
a
m
e
 

m
o
n
th
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r

A
n
n
u
a
l

L
e
g
a
l

C
h
ri
s
ti
n
e
 P
h
il
ip
s

£
5
9
3
,4
0
1

(2
0
0
7
/0
8
)

£
2
9
2
,7
2
8

(2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

N
/A

A
m
b
e
r
B
E
N
C
H
A
M
A
R
K
IN
G
 D
A
T
A
 N
O
T
 A
V
A
IL
A
B
L
E
 D
U
E
 T
O
 V
A
R
IA
T
IO
N
S
 I
N
 F
E
E
S
 C
H
A
R
G
E
D
 B
Y
 A
U
T
H
O
R
IT
IE
S

T
h
is
 d
a
ta
 h
a
s
 c
a
v
e
a
ts
 d
u
e
 t
o
 n
o
n
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
fa
c
to
rs
 -
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 c
o
m
p
e
ti
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 

n
e
w
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
.

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
e
e
s
 

M
o
n
th
ly

P
la
n
n
n
in
g

D
a
v
e
 W
h
it
e
h
e
a
d

£
4
8
4
,5
1
0
 f
ro
m
 

1
,1
9
9
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
fi
rs
t 

6
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
f 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

£
3
2
6
,5
1
6
 f
ro
m
 

1
,0
7
8
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
fi
rs
t 

6
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
f 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
)

ê
R
e
d

Y
e
a
r 
to
 d
a
te
 f
ig
u
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 l
a
g
 b
e
h
in
d
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
 a
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 s
ta
g
e
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 b
o
th
 f
o
r 
fe
e
s
 

re
c
e
ip
ts
 a
n
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
.

P
re
-a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
c
o
m
e

M
o
n
th
ly

P
la
n
n
n
in
g

D
a
v
e
 W
h
it
e
h
e
a
d

£
1
5
,6
1
5

(1
6
 c
a
s
e
s
) 

(2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

£
1
5
,2
0
0

(9
 c
a
s
e
s
)

(2
0
0
9
/1
0
 Y
T
D
)

é
G
re
e
n

K
e
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 b
o
o
s
te
d
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 a
 r
e
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
rs
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 o
n
e
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
b
e
in
g
 c
re
d
it
e
d
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
.

B
u
lid
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 
in
c
o
m
e

M
o
n
th
ly

P
la
n
n
n
in
g

D
a
v
e
 W
h
it
e
h
e
a
d

£
3
2
0
,1
1
7
 f
ro
m
 

9
4
4
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

(f
ir
s
t 
6
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
f 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
)

£
3
5
0
,5
9
7
 f
ro
m
 

7
0
1
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

(f
ir
s
t 
6
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
f 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
)

è
A
m
b
e
r

Y
e
a
r 
to
 d
a
te
 f
ig
u
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 l
a
g
 b
e
h
in
d
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
 a
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 s
ta
g
e
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 b
o
th
 f
o
r 
fe
e
s
 

re
c
e
ip
ts
 a
n
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
.

K
E
Y

G
R
E
E
N

S
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t,
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly
 i
n
 s
p
it
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
.

A
M
B
E
R

S
m
a
ll 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 (
p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
) 
a
n
d
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 i
n
 c
a
s
e
 o
f 
m
o
re
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
m
o
v
e
m
e
n
ts
.

R
E
D

S
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
d
e
te
ri
o
ra
ti
o
n
, 
a
p
p
a
re
n
tl
y
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
.

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 O
U
T
C
O
M
E
S

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
a
ll

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fo
c
u
s
e
d

Page 18



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 B
 

 R
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 –
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 U
p
d
a
te
 

 S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

  

M
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 (
H
G
),
 F
a
m
ili
e
s
 

in
 W
o
rk
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

P
le
d
g
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

T
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
is
 p
h
a
s
e
 h
a
s
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
. 

 D
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
F
a
m
ili
e
s
 i
n
to
 W
o
rk
 

is
 o
n
g
o
in
g
. 
 T
o
 d
a
te
 5
9
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
is
 o
n
 c
o
u
rs
e
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

w
it
h
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
4
0
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r.
  
 T
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
h
a
s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 8
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
to
 w
o
rk
 

(a
h
e
a
d
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
),
 1
8
 a
re
 

re
g
is
te
re
d
 o
n
 t
ra
in
in
g
 c
o
u
rs
e
s
 

a
n
d
 2
4
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 C
V
s
, 

a
re
 n
o
w
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 j
o
b
-r
e
a
d
y
 

a
n
d
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
ly
 f
o
r 
jo
b
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
. 

 D
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

P
le
d
g
e
 i
s
 o
n
g
o
in
g
. 
 I
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

in
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
, 
5
7
 E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 

a
 m
in
im
u
m
 o
f 
2
3
 j
o
b
s
 w
e
re
 

p
ro
fi
le
d
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 w
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 9
0
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 

 IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

ra
te
 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
) 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

in
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 
(u
p
 t
o
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

 L
D
A
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 (
u
p
 

to
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

 L
D
A
-E
S
F
 c
o
-

fi
n
a
n
c
in
g
 (
u
p
 t
o
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
) 

M
a
rt
in
 

T
u
c
k
e
r,
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 19



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
u
tp
u
ts
, 
4
6
 j
o
b
 s
ta
rt
s
 

a
n
d
 2
9
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 j
o
b
s
. 
1
1
0
 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 6
4
 j
o
b
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
 

s
in
g
le
 S
k
ill
s
 O
ff
e
r 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 U
L
V
 

d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 3
0
0
 B
a
s
ic
 S
k
ill
s
, 
2
0
0
 

O
th
e
r 
S
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 7
5
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 

S
k
ill
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
if
e
ti
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

 £
2
.5
m
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 L
D
A
 f
o
r 
th
e
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

P
le
d
g
e
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
6
2
5
 

s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 j
o
b
s
 f
ro
m
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 t
o
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

E
x
te
n
d
 H
G
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

n
e
w
ly
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
e
w
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
ro
m
 u
p
 t
o
 4
0
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

D
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
ly
 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

T
h
is
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

th
e
 o
u
tr
e
a
c
h
 v
e
n
u
e
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

th
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 

o
p
e
ra
te
s
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 

 IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

ra
te
 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
) 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

in
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 
(u
p
 t
o
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

M
a
rt
in
 

T
u
c
k
e
r,
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 20



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

 C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

C
lo
s
e
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
/S
L
A
 w
it
h
  
J
C
P
 

a
n
d
 R
e
e
d
 i
n
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
£
1
b
n
 (
A
p
ri
l 
b
u
d
g
e
t)
 

F
u
tu
re
 J
o
b
s
 F
u
n
d
 

S
L
A
 w
it
h
 R
e
e
d
 i
n
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 r
a
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 G
O
L
 a
n
d
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  
T
h
is
 w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
n
ts
 c
la
im
in
g
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

re
la
te
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 

to
 R
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
jo
b
 b
ro
k
e
ra
g
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

 A
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
le
d
 F
u
tu
re
 J
o
b
s
 F
u
n
d
 

b
id
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
t 

p
re
s
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

th
a
t 
th
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 i
n
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r/
O
c
to
b
e
r 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 

 IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

ra
te
 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
) 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

in
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 
(u
p
 t
o
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

 L
D
A
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 (
u
p
 

to
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

 

M
a
rt
in
 

T
u
c
k
e
r,
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 

Page 21



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

A
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 

B
u
ild
in
g
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

F
u
tu
re
, 
D
e
c
e
n
t 
H
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

T
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
e
x
p
a
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 A
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 i
ts
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
ff
e
ri
n
g
s
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 

T
h
e
 2
n
d
 A
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 

g
ro
u
p
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 i
s
 d
u
e
 t
h
is
 

m
o
n
th
. 
 L
in
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 

F
u
tu
re
 J
o
b
s
 f
u
n
d
 a
re
 c
ru
c
ia
l.
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
L
B
H
 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

(2
5
) 
is
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 w
it
h
 u
p
 t
o
 1
0
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
c
ru
it
e
d
. 
 T
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

c
o
m
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 o
th
e
r 
“n
e
w
” 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
b
e
in
g
 

a
s
s
e
m
b
le
d
. 
P
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 

b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 n
e
x
t 

y
e
a
r’
s
 (
2
0
1
0
/1
1
) 
L
B
H
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 

7
0
. 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 

 IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

ra
te
 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
) 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

in
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
M
a
rt
in
 

T
u
c
k
e
r,
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
F
u
e
l 
P
o
v
e
rt
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 t
h
o
s
e
 

o
n
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
 p
a
y
 f
o
r 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 h
e
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

T
h
e
 F
u
e
l 
P
o
v
e
rt
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
is
 

m
a
ili
n
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 W
a
rm
 F
ro
n
t 
(a
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
c
h
e
m
e
) 
to
 a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
o
a
rd
 (
H
S
P
) 

 
J
o
h
n
 

M
a
th
e
rs
, 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 22



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

e
n
e
rg
y
. 

p
ri
v
a
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 i
n
 

re
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
m
e
a
n
s
 t
e
s
te
d
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
. 
 H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

h
a
v
e
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 £
1
.5
m
 

g
ra
n
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 H
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

c
a
v
it
y
 w
a
ll 
in
s
u
la
ti
o
n
. 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
“C
la
im
 i
t”
 a
n
d
 

“R
e
a
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
” 

c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

p
e
o
p
le
 g
e
t 
th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 t
h
e
y
 

a
re
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
. 

A
C
C
S
 r
a
n
 t
h
is
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 i
n
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
 T
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 w
a
s
 a
 s
u
b
s
id
ia
ry
 o
f 
a
 

w
id
e
r 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

a
le
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 t
h
e
y
 

m
a
y
 b
e
 e
lig
ib
le
 f
o
r.
 

 T
h
e
 R
e
a
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
s
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
o
 d
a
te
 h
a
s
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
: 

 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 –
 £
3
2
0
,1
9
0
.9
6
 (
b
e
n
e
fi
t 

ta
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
d
 d
e
b
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
) 

 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 -
 £
7
1
7
,6
1
9
.5
4
 (
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

a
n
d
 t
a
x
 c
re
d
it
s
) 

 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 (
u
p
 t
o
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
) 
- 

£
2
7
5
,2
1
6
.1
7
 (
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 t
a
x
 

c
re
d
it
s
) 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
/c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

re
m
in
d
e
rs
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

s
u
m
m
o
n
s
e
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 

W
e
ll-
b
e
in
g
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 

 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

B
e
rn
a
rd
 

L
a
n
ig
a
n
, 

A
C
C
S
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 M
a
rk
o
s
 

C
h
ry
s
o
s
to
m
o

u
 (
C
it
iz
e
n
’s
 

A
d
v
ic
e
 

B
u
re
a
u
) 

C
la
im
 i
t 
–
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

 R
e
a
p
in
g
 

th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

–
 I
n
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
“F
re
e
 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
e
a
ls
” 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 

P
u
b
lic
is
in
g
 F
re
e
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
M
e
a
ls
 

w
a
s
 w
ra
p
p
e
d
 u
p
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 o
f 

th
e
 C
h
ild
 P
o
v
e
rt
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
; 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 i
n
 m
a
k
in
g
 

c
la
im
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
. 
A
 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
ro
ll 
e
lig
ib
le
 

fo
r 
fr
e
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 

m
e
a
ls
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

(H
S
P
) 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

J
a
n
e
tt
e
 

K
a
rk
lin
s
, 

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 Page 23



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

le
a
fl
e
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

fo
r 
p
a
re
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
h
ild
re
n
 w
a
s
 

d
ra
ft
e
d
 a
n
d
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 t
o
 G
P
 

s
u
rg
e
ri
e
s
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 

a
n
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
. 
 

T
h
is
 w
o
rk
 w
a
s
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
A
B
. 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 C
re
d
it
 U
n
io
n
s
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

A
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
e
v
e
n
t 
h
e
ld
 a
n
d
 

v
o
c
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
d
e
a
 

o
f 
a
 C
re
d
it
 U
n
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

b
o
ro
u
g
h
 –
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
ro
m
 C
A
B
 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
. 
 T
h
e
 

n
e
x
t 
s
te
p
s
 a
re
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 i
n
to
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 

c
o
n
fi
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 w
ill
 s
e
n
d
 

a
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
e
v
e
n
t 
o
n
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
1
4
th
. 
  
T
h
e
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 o
f 
B
ri
ti
s
h
 C
re
d
it
 

U
n
io
n
s
 L
td
 (
A
B
C
U
L
) 
a
re
 

p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 a
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l,
 

w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

e
n
d
 o
f 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
B
o
b
 H
a
rr
is
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

b
ri
e
fe
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
m
b
e
r 

fo
r 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
p
e
n
d
in
g
 o
n
 

th
e
 e
a
rl
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
 

re
p
o
rt
 t
o
 C
A
B
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
o
f 

th
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 o
p
ti
o
n
 c
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

T
h
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
f 
a
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 

M
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 

p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 c
la
im
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 

(E
d
m
o
n
to
n
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

c
o
u
rt
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

fi
g
u
re
s
) 

 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 c
la
im
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
n
 o
rd
e
r 

(E
d
m
o
n
to
n
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

c
o
u
rt
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

fi
g
u
re
s
) 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

re
m
in
d
e
rs
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 

 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

s
u
m
m
o
n
s
e
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
P
a
tr
ic
k
 

J
o
n
e
s
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 24



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

p
h
a
s
e
 (
d
e
liv
e
ry
),
 w
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
n
 

b
e
g
in
. 

S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 

s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

 

E
x
te
n
d
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 

to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 “
E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 

Z
o
n
e
” 
w
h
e
re
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

c
a
n
 p
o
s
t 
v
a
c
a
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 s
ta
ff
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
Z
o
n
e
 w
a
s
 l
a
u
n
c
h
e
d
 

in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 I
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 

ru
n
 b
y
 K
IS
 T
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

C
O
N
E
L
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

p
o
in
t 
fo
r 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 

in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 

 IL
O
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

ra
te
 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
) 

 O
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

in
 t
h
e
 w
o
rs
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

 C
la
im
a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

c
la
im
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 

M
a
rt
in
 T
u
c
k
e
r  
C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

a
n
d
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 

w
o
rk
 

Page 25



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
d
v
ic
e
/s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

d
e
m
a
n
d
 

T
h
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 

T
e
a
m
 i
n
 c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
, 
R
a
te
s
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 

T
a
x
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
h
o
rt
 

s
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 r
a
te
s
 m
a
il 

o
u
t.
 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

  

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

M
a
in
ta
in
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
n
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 R
a
te
 

R
e
lie
f 
–
 t
h
is
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

g
ro
w
in
g
 e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
, 
R
a
te
s
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 

T
a
x
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

ra
te
 p
a
y
e
rs
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
n
y
 r
e
lie
f 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 –
 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 S
m
a
ll 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 R
a
te
 

R
e
lie
f.
  
T
h
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 T
e
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 w
h
e
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 

h
a
v
e
 s
ig
n
p
o
s
te
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 a
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 
S
te
v
e
 H
a
rt
, 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 

T
a
x
a
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m
o
v
e
 f
ro
m
 

2
1
 d
a
y
s
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

in
v
o
ic
e
s
 –
 t
o
 1
0
 d
a
y
s
 i
n
 

0
9
/1
0
 

In
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 

lo
c
a
l 
lo
b
b
y
in
g
 b
y
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
e
 F
e
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
S
m
a
ll 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 
M
ic
h
a
e
l 

W
o
o
d
, 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 26



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

in
v
o
ic
e
s
 f
ro
m
 S
M
E
s
 i
n
 1
0
 d
a
y
s
 

is
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
. 
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
o
lic
y
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 u
n
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
i.
e
. 

to
 p
a
y
 s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 w
it
h
in
 a
g
re
e
d
 

te
rm
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 (
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 

3
0
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
d
a
y
s
),
 b
u
t 
n
o
w
 

th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 b
e
s
t 
e
ff
o
rt
s
 t
o
 p
a
y
 

a
n
y
 s
u
p
p
lie
r 
(n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
S
M
E
's
 o
r 

lo
c
a
ll
y
 b
a
s
e
d
) 
w
it
h
in
 1
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s
. 
T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
ta
rg
e
t 
is
 7
5
%
 

b
y
 e
n
d
 o
f 
D
e
c
 2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 u
p
 

fr
o
m
 5
4
%
 (
A
p
r 
0
9
) 
to
 6
6
%
 (
J
u
ly
 

0
9
).
 T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
tu
a
l.
  
T
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 n
o
t 
lia
b
le
 f
o
r 
la
te
 

p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
c
la
im
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

1
0
 d
a
y
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

   

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 g
u
id
e
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
h
is
 g
u
id
e
 w
a
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
, 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 t
o
 o
v
e
r 

7
,0
0
0
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

b
o
ro
u
g
h
 i
n
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
. 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 

m
o
n
th
. 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 Page 27



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

M
o
re
 a
c
ti
v
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 f
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 b
id
 f
o
r 
p
u
b
lic
 

a
n
d
 O
ly
m
p
ic
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

T
h
e
re
 a
re
 t
w
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 p
u
rs
u
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
is
 

a
c
ti
o
n
. 
 F
ir
s
tl
y
, 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

w
o
rk
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 (
o
ff
ic
ia
l 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
g
e
n
t 
fo
r 
C
o
m
p
e
te
F
o
r)
 

to
 h
o
s
t 
a
 n
e
tw
o
rk
in
g
 e
v
e
n
t 
in
 

A
p
ri
l,
 o
v
e
r 
s
ix
ty
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
. 
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
ly
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 A
B
G
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
tu
s
, 
tw
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
lo
c
a
l 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
re
 f
it
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
e
te
 

fo
r 
O
ly
m
p
ic
s
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
s
 w
e
ll 

a
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 m
ic
ro
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 s
e
c
to
r 
to
 

b
e
c
o
m
e
 s
u
p
p
ly
 c
h
a
in
 r
e
a
d
y
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
. 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

  

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

A
re
a
 B
a
s
e
d
 

G
ra
n
t 
(u
p
 t
o
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
) 

J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
b
a
n
k
s
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 h
e
ld
 w
it
h
 

b
a
n
k
s
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 a
n
d
 M
a
y
 

2
0
0
9
. 
 O
n
 b
o
th
 o
c
c
a
s
io
n
s
 

b
a
n
k
s
 d
e
c
la
re
d
 a
 p
o
lic
y
 o
f 

b
e
in
g
 ‘
o
p
e
n
 f
o
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
’ 
w
it
h
 

re
g
a
rd
s
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
lo
a
n
s
, 

b
u
t 
c
o
m
m
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
o
r 

q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 28



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

m
o
n
th
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

R
e
g
u
la
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

a
n
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
in
g
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

(t
h
ro
u
g
h
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
) 
to
 a
d
v
is
e
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 o
n
 m
a
n
a
g
in
g
 

th
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 

A
n
 H
S
P
 e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 b
o
a
rd
 l
e
d
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 b
re
a
k
fa
s
t 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
. 
 A
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 e
v
e
n
t 
is
 

b
e
in
g
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
in
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 

e
v
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

n
e
w
 y
e
a
r.
 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 

m
o
n
th
. 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
M
a
ry
 

C
o
n
n
o
lly
, 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
n
d
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

M
a
in
 a
n
d
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
T
o
w
n
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

(W
o
o
d
 G
re
e
n
, 
T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
, 

G
re
e
n
 L
a
n
e
s
, 
C
ro
u
c
h
 E
n
d
 

a
n
d
 M
u
s
w
e
ll 
H
ill
) 
–
 t
o
 f
in
d
 

o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
ig
h
t 

d
o
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 

T
h
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 B
o
a
rd
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 f
o
rm
a
lly
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
d
 b
y
 

N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
. 
 T
h
e
 

fi
rs
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 J
u
n
e
 

1
0
th
. 
 A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

o
v
e
ra
rc
h
in
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 f
o
ru
m
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 W
o
o
d
 G
re
e
n
 w
it
h
 

o
th
e
r 
to
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 f
o
ru
m
s
 

b
e
in
g
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

tr
a
d
e
rs
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 C
ro
u
c
h
 

E
n
d
, 
H
a
rr
in
g
a
y
 G
re
e
n
 L
a
n
e
s
 

a
n
d
 M
u
s
w
e
ll 
H
ill
. 
 T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
s
 a
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

fo
ru
m
, 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 W
o
o
d
 G
re
e
n
 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 

m
o
n
th
. 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(H
S
P
) 

 
J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
 
In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 29



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

fo
ru
m
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 c
h
a
ir
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
o
f 
M
o
rr
is
o
n
s
 

s
u
p
e
rm
a
rk
e
t 
in
 W
o
o
d
 G
re
e
n
 

a
n
d
 t
w
o
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

h
e
ld
 –
 o
n
 4
th
 J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 6
th
 

A
u
g
u
s
t.
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

A
g
e
n
c
y
 –
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

In
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
P
la
n
, 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 b
id
 f
o
r 
fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

T
h
e
 S
in
g
le
 C
o
n
v
e
rs
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 U
rb
a
n
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g
. 

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
 

p
ri
c
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
e
e
s
 

 P
re
-a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

in
c
o
m
e
 

 B
u
ild
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 

in
c
o
m
e
 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
o
a
rd
 (
H
S
P
) 

 
N
ia
ll 
B
o
lg
e
r,
 

U
rb
a
n
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

 
“R
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 D
a
s
h
b
o
a
rd
” 

A
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 d
a
s
h
b
o
a
rd
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 i
n
it
ia
te
d
 b
y
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 f
ir
s
t 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

U
p
d
a
te
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
ile
d
 

fo
r 
J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 A
u
g
u
s
t.
  
T
h
e
 

d
a
s
h
b
o
a
rd
 m
o
n
it
o
rs
 k
e
y
 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
s
ix
 s
tr
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 T
h
is
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 h
o
u
s
e
 

p
ri
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
p
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 o
rd
e
rs
 (
m
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 

a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
),
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
a
ti
o
n
 

re
v
e
n
u
e
, 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 

A
ll 

H
S
P
 

 
P
a
tr
ic
k
 

J
o
n
e
s
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

 

Page 30



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
a
g
e
. 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

E
m
p
ty
 S
h
o
p
 F
ro
n
ts
 

U
rb
a
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

(U
S
M
) 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 

T
e
a
m
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 p
ilo
t 
p
ro
je
c
t 

to
 u
ti
lis
e
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
re
ta
il 
u
n
it
s
 i
n
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
. 
 

V
a
c
a
n
t 
re
ta
il 
u
n
it
s
 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
is
s
u
e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 k
e
y
 t
o
w
n
 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 p
ro
v
e
n
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
re
 

re
s
ili
e
n
t 
th
a
n
 o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
. 
 A
t 

th
is
 s
ta
g
e
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
d
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 p
e
rt
a
in
in
g
 t
o
 o
n
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 o
n
 S
tr
o
u
d
 G
re
e
n
 

R
o
a
d
, 
o
w
n
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 

a
n
d
 t
w
o
 p
re
m
is
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 M
a
ll:
 

W
o
o
d
 G
re
e
n
. 

 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
n
d
 A
rt
s
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
n
 A
C
C
S
 w
ill
 p
ro
je
c
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
ilo
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
, 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
o
lli
n
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

s
it
e
s
. 
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 a
n
d
 

L
e
g
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 o
n
 s
h
o
rt
 

te
rm
 u
s
a
g
e
 o
f 
s
p
a
c
e
s
. 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

(V
A
T
 a
n
d
 P
A
Y
E
) 

,p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

 N
e
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 g
a
in
e
d
 t
h
is
 

m
o
n
th
. 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

 
J
u
n
e
e
d
 A
s
a
d
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

(H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il)
 

In
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 Page 31



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 
T
h
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
m
o
b
ili
ty
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 A
n
n
u
a
l 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
P
la
c
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 
H
o
w
 

p
re
p
a
re
d
 a
re
 w
e
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 

w
it
h
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 

le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
le
a
v
in
g
 a
g
e
 

in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 t
o
 1
8
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 ‘
T
h
in
k
 

F
a
m
ily
’ 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
a
m
ily
 

a
n
d
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 

h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 

b
o
th
 a
s
 a
 r
o
u
te
 i
n
to
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
s
 a
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
 f
o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 

re
c
e
s
s
io
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
A
ll
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

In
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

m
ig
ra
n
t 
s
tr
e
e
t 
w
o
rk
e
rs
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
A
ll
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
u
n
o
ff
ic
ia
l 

le
n
d
in
g
 i
e
 l
o
a
n
 s
h
a
rk
s
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 32



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
A
ll
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

In
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

p
o
v
e
rt
y
- 
lin
k
 t
o
 a
n
ti
-p
o
v
e
rt
y
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
A
ll
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 d
ru
g
 a
n
d
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 u
p
ta
k
e
 i
n
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

T
a
c
k
lin
g
 s
m
o
k
in
g
, 
b
o
th
 

u
p
ta
k
e
 a
n
d
 a
d
d
ic
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

T
a
c
k
lin
g
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

R
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

T
a
c
k
lin
g
 c
h
ild
h
o
o
d
 o
b
e
s
it
y
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

c
a
re
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
n
a
b
le
 

a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 

g
a
in
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
n
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
ll
y
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 s
u
c
h
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 33



S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
S
 A
N
D
 E
N
T
E
R
P
R
IS
E
: 

S
U
S
T
A
IN
A
B
L
E
 

C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
Y
 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y
 

O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 

A
C
T
IO
N
 

P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 

R
E
L
E
V
A
N
T
 

R
E
C
E
S
S
IO
N
 

D
A
S
H
B
O
A
R
D
 

IN
D
IC
A
T
O
R
(S
) 

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 

B
Y
 W

H
O
M
 

S
T
A
T
U
S
 

F
u
tu
re
 

a
s
 t
ra
d
e
 w
a
s
te
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 f
o
o
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 

la
w
 

 

A
n
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
ll
y
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

F
u
tu
re
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 

c
o
n
tr
o
lli
n
g
 c
a
rb
o
n
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
c
a
rb
o
n
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s
. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
n
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
ll
y
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

F
u
tu
re
 

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 A
C
T
IO
N
: 

A
lig
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 o
f 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 

c
o
u
n
te
r 
c
u
lt
u
re
 o
f 
th
ri
ft
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 34



 1 

 
 
Meeting:  Haringey Strategic Partnership    
 
Date:   5 November 2009    
 
Report Title:  New Deal for Communities Succession Plan  
 
Report of:  Geoffrey Ocen, New Deal for Communities (NDC) 

Programme Director    
 
 

Purpose  
 
To seek Haringey Strategic Partnership’s endorsement of the NDC 
Succession Strategies required for submission to the Government by the end 
of November 2009. 
 
It is essential that the strategies are supported by key partners in order for the 
improvements brought in by the NDC programme to be sustained and for the 
Government to approve the succession strategies. 
 

Summary 
 
The Bridge NDC programme will end by the 31 March 2011. An overview of 
the NDC programme is provided in Appendix 1. For all NDC succession 
strategies, CLG have recently provided requirements that must be met. In line 
with the CLG guidance, the following documents, together, should 
demonstrate that all of the criteria in the guidance are met:   
 

a) An overarching succession strategy for the succession area – 
addressing each of the 8 criteria set by CLG (Appendices 2, 2.1 
and 2.2)  

b) An asset register and future management strategy (to be 
finalised) 

c) A comprehensive risk register and management strategy 
(Appendix 2.3); and 

d) Business plan for successor organisation (Appendix 2.4) 
 

Process for assessment and approval of NDC succession strategies: 
The Bridge NDC succession strategies must be submitted by the revised 
deadline of 27 November 2009. The NDC succession strategy will need to be 
endorsed by the Local Authority (both as the Accountable Body and strategic / 
delivery partner) and supported by other partners and stakeholders as follows: 

 

• Endorsement by the HSP Performance Management Group (22 
October 2009) 

• Endorsement by the HSP (5 November 2009) 

• Succession strategy and supporting documents presented to  

Agenda Item 6Page 35



 2 

Haringey Council’s Cabinet for approval (17 November 2009) 

• Succession strategy signed by NDC Chair, NDC Director and 
Haringey Council’s Chief Executive (24 November 2009) 

• Succession strategy and supporting documents submitted to 
GOL and CLG (27 November 2009) 

 
Overarching Succession Strategy: The aim of The Bridge NDC succession 
strategies is to set in place a compelling prospectus for sustaining change 
through positive engagement with the local community and key service 
agencies to ensure that the improvements made within the NDC area will be 
sustained beyond Government funding and into the long term. It involves the 
implementation of the following sub-strategies:  
 

• Mainstreaming and joining up of local services including activities / 
assets being mainstreamed  

• Implementation of The Neighbourhood Plan for the Seven Sisters 
area 

• The Bridge Renewal Trust, a charitable company limited by 
guarantee set up as a viable successor body to the NDC. The Trust 
will sustain and build on the NDC activities will particular focus on 
tackling health inequalities. 

 
The HSP is requested to commit to supporting the NDC succession strategies 
including: 
 

• Working together in the future to monitor delivery in the NDC and 
surrounding areas 

• Refining the succession strategy as necessary.  

• Inviting the Bridge Renewal Trust to join the HSP framework and 
supporting the Trust to deliver outcomes that are aligned towards 
the LAA targets and other local outcomes 

 
The Bridge Renewal Trust Update: The Bridge Renewal Trust was 
incorporated as a company limited by guarantee (company number 6949568) 
on 1 July 2009 with three initial Directors nominated by the NDC Partnership 
Board. Progress is underway to establish an expanded and robust 
governance arrangement comprised of 10 Members/Trustees. The following 
Nominating Organisations are being asked to provide nominations as follows: 
London Borough of Haringey (2 representatives), NHS Haringey (1) and The 
Mental Health Trust (1).  This will be followed by a skill audit to assess 
existing skills on the Board and determine skill gaps that will inform the 
appointment of the final 3 Members. The Bridge Renewal Trust has also 
successfully applied for charity status and it has been entered in the Register 
of Charities under charity registration number 1131941. 
 

Legal/Financial Implications 
 
1. The Bridge NDC activities have been fully funded from external grant from 

the Department of Communities and Local Government. London Borough 
of Haringey has acted as the ‘accountable body’ for the programme. 

 
2. The NDC Partnership Board that has been responsible for the strategic 

Page 36



 3 

operations of the NDC programme adopted the strategy of ensuring that 
the NDC successor body would be fully supported to ensure that it is 
viable and sustainable. To this end, The Partnership Board and Haringey 
Council are in the process of agreeing a number of initiatives including 
lease arrangements and transfer of income from NDC investments to The 
Bridge Renewal Trust.  

 

Recommendations 
 
That Haringey Strategic Partnership Members: 
 
1. Note the Government requirements for NDC succession strategies 

including their placement in the context of the local delivery landscape and 
links with LAA and other local strategies. 

 
2. Endorse the NDC succession strategies ahead of the required submission 

to the Department for Communities and Local Government by the end of 
November 2009. 

 
3. Note that Haringey Council (as the Accountable Body), Government Office 

for London (GOL) and the Department of Community and Local 
Government (CLG) may require changes to be made to the Succession 
Strategies as part of the approval process. 

 

For more information contact: 
 
Name:  Geoffrey Ocen 
Title: NDC Programme Director 
Tel: 020 8489 8840 
Email address: Geoffrey.Ocen@haringey.gov.uk 
 

Background 

 
The Bridge NDC is a £50 million regeneration programme based in the South 
Tottenham and Seven Sisters area. It is made up of a partnership between 
local residents and key agencies such as: Haringey council, the National 
Health Service, The Mental Health Trust, The Metropolitan Police, Job Centre 
Plus, The Learning & Skills Council, HAVCO (from 2009) and North London 
Business (from 2009). It began in April 2001 and runs for ten years till March 
2011. 
 
The Bridge NDC programme has so far invested over £48m since 2001 and 
levered in over £26m of match funding into the Seven Sisters area.  
 
Since 2006, The NDC delivery theme structure has been grouped into three 
workstreams: 

 

• Education, Enterprise and Employment 

• Health, Social Care, Sport and Leisure 

• Neighbourhood Services (Housing, Environment and Crime) 
 

Page 37



 4 

The latest performance review reveals that the NDC has delivered a number 
of successful outcomes (from MORI 2008) including community involvement, 
crime, environment, employment and health (Appendix 1). 

 
Appendices  
 
1. Appendix 1 – Overview of the NDC programme 
 
2. Appendix 2 – NDC Draft Overarching Succession Strategy  
3. Appendix 2.1 – Forward Plan 
4. Appendix 2.2 – NDC Draft Community Empowerment Plan 
5. Appendix 2.3 -  Risk Register and Management Strategy 
6. Appendix 2.4  – Business Plan for The Bridge Renewal Trust 
 

Page 38



 

 1 

Appendix 1 – An overview of The Bridge NDC programme  

 

1. NDC Overview 
 

New Deal for Communities is a Central Government-led regeneration 
programme for the regeneration of some of the UK’s most deprived 
neighbourhoods. 
 
The Bridge NDC is a £50 million regeneration programme based in the South 
Tottenham and Seven Sisters area. It is made up of a partnership between 
local residents and key agencies such as: Haringey council, the National 
Health Service, The Metropolitan Police, Job Centre Plus, HAVCO (from 
2009) and North London Business (from 2009). It began in April 2001 and 
runs for ten years till March 2011. The Bridge NDC has around 11,000 
residents and 4,500 homes. The area was chosen for the Haringey New Deal 
for Communities bid because the area is one of the most diverse and 
disadvantaged areas in London and one of the most deprived in Britain. The 
area suffers from severe and entrenched unemployment which is three times 
the London rate. Over 70% of residents belong to minority groups and 
around180 languages are spoken locally. It has a very high proportion of 
young people and relatively low levels of educational attainment and 
vocational skills, leading to high levels of unemployment, poverty and benefit 
dependency. The programme is required to create physical change, 
employment opportunities, improvements in health and wellbeing, improve the 
economic profile of the area and engage the wider community. Our focus is 
on improvement through community engagement and building sustainable 
and local arrangements for delivery using statutory partners and the voluntary 
sector where necessary.  
 
 
2. NDC Governance Structure 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DCLG

GOL

NDC 

PARTNERSHIP 

BOARD

ACCOUNTABLE 

BODY

LBH

STAKEHOLDERS

HSP

NDC 

EXECUTIVE

Page 39



 

 2 

 
3. The Themes of delivery , grant / match funding, outcomes delivered 

3.1.  Since 2006 The  NDC delivery theme structure is grouped into three 
workstreams: 

 

• Education, enterprise and employment (3E) 

• Health, Social Care, Sport and Leisure (HSSL) 

• Neighbourhood Services (Housing, Environment and Crime) 
 

 
3.2. The Bridge NDC total lifetime grant  and match funding brought into 

the area are shown below: 
 
Total spend by year: 

 

Year NDC Spend Match 
funding 

Total Spend 

2001/02 1,875,619 1,008,237 2,883,856 

2002/03 4,714,785 2,307,810 7,022,596 

2003/04 8,887,610 3,073,261 11,960,871 

2004/05 6,855,000 3,109,676 9,964,676 

2005/06 8,955,388 4,388,709 13,344,097 

2006/07 6,552,986 4,289,883 10,842,869 

2007/08 6,427,324 6,118,719 12,546,043 

2008/09 3,885,000 2,609,465 6,494,465 

Total 48,153,713 26,905,760 75,059,473 

 
Total lifetime spend by Theme area: 

 

Community Involvement 3,672,606 

Crime 3,418,976 

Education 9,130,381 

Enterprise, Jobs and Training 2,746,705 

Health 6,138,839 

Housing and Environment Theme 18,570,811 

Management and Delivery 4,475,575 

Total 48,153,713 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 3 

3.3. A final evaluation of the NDC programme will be available in 2010/11.  
The latest performance review reveals that the NDC has delivered the 
following successful outcomes (from MORI 2008): 

 
3.3.1. Community involvement: The NDC has increased the 

residents’ quality of life by 8% points since 2002, 80% of the 
NDC residents feel that their quality of life is good and very 
good. 

 
3.3.2. Community involvement: 58% feel part of the community (a 

great deal/fair amount), 27% points increase since the beginning 
of the programme. 

 
3.3.3. Crime: There is a reduction of 50% points since 2002 regarding 

residents thinking that “people being attacked in a problem in 
the area”. 

 
3.3.4. Crime: Car crime has been reduced by 37% points since 2002, 

only 8% of the NDC residents feel that this is a serious problem. 
 
3.3.5. Crime: 65% of the NDC residents feel very safe when walking 

alone in the area after the dark there has been an increase of 
26% points since 2002. 

 
3.3.6. Housing and environment: 60% of the NDC residents think 

that the area has got much better over the last 2 years, 10% 
points increase since 2006.  

 
3.3.7. Housing and environment: 79% of the NDC residents believe 

that the NDC activities delivered have improved this area as a 
place to live, 41% points increased since 2002.  

 
3.3.8. Housing and environment: Satisfaction with the NDC area has 

increased by 21% points since the beginning of the programme, 
75% of the NDC residents feel satisfied with the area as a place 
to live.  

 
3.3.9. Employment: 57% of the NDC population is economically 

active now, 2% points increase since 2006. 
 
3.3.10. Employment: Worklessness rates have decreased by 07% 

points between 2006 and 2007 
 

3.3.11. Health: 58% of the NDC residents believe that they have 
“good health” up 11% points since 2006. 

 
 
 

Page 41



 

 4 

 
4.  2009/10 Key Projects  
 

 
Project name 

 
Scope 

 
Type of initiative  

Key steps mentoring 
Support Key stage 4  
 

Education 

Stitch in time 
Skills, training and 
employment support in the 
fashion industry 

Unemployment 

Heading for success 
Adult literacy, numeracy and 
ICT programme  

Education 

Homework club network 
English learning for children 
and families  

Education 

Rev-up 
Tailored business  and 
employment support 

Unemployment / business 
support 

Continuing to bridge the Gap Pre- ESOL learning support Education 

Active for health Healthy living lifestyle project Health 

Easy access to talking 
therapies 

Computerised therapy for 
NDC residents suffering 
anxiety and depression 

Health 

Reach Out 
Tackles a number of inter-
related health issues. 

Health 

Footcare Plus 
Footcare services and 
business development 

Health 

Family intervention and 
diversion 

Prevention advise for young 
people to prevent antisocial 
behaviour. 

Community safety 

MTD (St Anns & haringey) 
Community project 
(environmental) 

Community cohesion / 
wellbeing 

MTD (Tottenham  &SS) 
Community project 
(environmental) 

Community cohesion / 
wellbeing 

Helston food growing  Food growing  Environment / unemployment 

Going forward young 
advisors 

Young people training to 
become community leaders 

Community cohesion / 
wellbeing 

Domestic Violence 
Arts based therapy for 
women survivors of domestic 
violence 

Health 

Summer fun summer uni 
Summer activities for young 
people 

Community cohesion / 
wellbeing / health 

Family Pedal Power 
Cycling maintenance training 
for young people 

Community cohesion / 
wellbeing / health 

Neighbourhood Plan 
Project to facilitate the 
neighbourhood plan 
implementation 

Environment 

Succession and Legacy  
Provision of staffing 
resources to complete the 
NDC programme 

NDC Succession strategy 
implementation 

Partnership activities 
Cross thematic 
communications project 

NDC events, conferences, 
publicity. 

Laurels programme manager 
Management of the Laurels 
Healthy living centre 

Laurels' programme manager 
salary 

 

Page 42



 1 

Appendix 2 

The Bridge New Deal for Communities 
 
 
 

Draft Overarching 
Succession Strategy 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



 2 

 
1.  Introduction 
 
The aim of The Bridge NDC succession strategies is to set in place a 
compelling prospectus for sustaining change through positive 
engagement with the local community and key service agencies to 
ensure that the improvements made within the NDC area will be 
sustained beyond Government funding and into the long term. This 
overarching succession strategy, which was also clearly expressed in the 
NDC 2009/10 Delivery Plan, involves the implementation of the following 
sub-strategies:  
 

• Implementation of a sustainable succession strategy through 
the following three strands: 

 
o Mainstreaming and joining up of local services including 

activities / assets being mainstreamed  
o Neighbourhood Plan for the Seven Sisters area 
o The Bridge Renewal Trust, a charitable company limited 

by guarantee set up as a viable asset-based successor 
body to the NDC. The Trust will sustain and build on the 
NDC activities will particular focus on tackling health 
inequalities. 

 

• Contextualisation of the NDC succession strategies within the 
local delivery landscape in Haringey by aligning the succession 
strategies and outcomes with those of Haringey Strategic 
Partnership, Local Area Agreement (LAA), other key strategic 
and delivery partners and other local priorities .  

 

• Sustenance of community engagement and leadership in the 
NDC succession work and the work of the mainstream service 
providers so as to leave behind a critical legacy in the area. 

 

• Ensuring assets generated by the NDC grant are safeguarded 
to continue to benefit NDC residents into the long term. 

 
2.  Social and economic conditions in the NDC area  
 
This section summarises the NDC socio-economic profile and concludes 
with the future priorities of the area. It is broken down according to the 
main regeneration themes. The NDC has an estimated population of 
10239 people (Oxford University data, 2007). 
 
Housing 
 

Page 44



 3 

The 2008 Household MORI survey reveals that a high proportion of NDC 
residents rent their accommodation (70%) when compared to the 
National figure of 30% (where 60% belongs to the Social sector renter 
category). In 2008, the average price of all NDC properties was 
£233,478; this price is below that of the houses in the rest of the Borough 
at £351,089. 
 
Quality of life 
 
75% of the NDC residents are very/fairly satisfied with the area and 80% 
define their quality of life as very/fairly good and 49% believe that 
teenagers hanging around on the streets is a problem in the area (serious 
and not serious). 60% believe that over the last years the NDC has got 
much/slightly better; this represents an increase of 29% points since the 
NDC started (MORI 2008). 
 
Community 
 
80% of the NDC residents trust the local health services a great deal / fair 
amount; 60% trust the local schools; 65% trust the local council and 75% 
trust the local police. 
 
Crime 
 
65% of the NDC population feels very/fairly safe when walking alone in 
the dark, there has been an increase of 26% points since the start of the 
NDC (British crime survey 2007-08). According to the administrative data 
from Met Police (Haringey) in 2007/08 there were 172 vehicle crime 
offences, 83 street crime offences and 161 burglary counts representing 
a decrease of 77%, 71% and 48% respectively since the beginning of the 
NDC. Haringey has a high crime rate relative to London and England as a 
whole. 
 
Demographics 
 
MORI data indicates that 32% of the NDC residents are single person 
households, 29% are between 25-34 years old. According to the 2001 
Census data, 50% of white people, 7% of Asian, 11% mixed, 25% black, 
6% Chinese live in the NDC area. 47% of the NDC residents have stated 
that English is not their first language. 
 
Work 
 
MORI 2008 reveals that 57% of the NDC population are economically 
active and 48% of the economically active NDC population are in paid 
work. 25% of the residents currently working fall into the elementary 

Page 45



 4 

occupation category which is substantially high when compared with the 
National figure (12%). The unemployment rate of the NDC area in 2007 is 
5.5% (administrative data, University of Oxford 2007) this figure is higher 
than the National average by 3.1%. The recent economic climate 
(recession) has caused a further increase in the unemployment rates, 
Haringey Borough unemployment rate (Nomis 2008) is at 9.0%, a higher 
percentage is expected in the NDC area. 
 
Health 
 
The NDC has low levels of health when compared to the London 
benchmark and the rest of the country. The NDC work limiting illness 
(11.4%) in 2007 is very high when compared to the rest of England 
(6.8%) and the rest of Haringey (8%) (Oxford University administrative 
data 2007). There is a large proportion of smokers in the area which 
leads to higher than average mortality rates due to circulatory diseases 
and cancer; contributing to the increase in the number of incapacity 
benefits claimants; it also leads to serious mental health issues 
specifically amongst women and children. 
 
Education 
 
Qualifications and skills in the NDC area are average; in 2007 the NDC 
had a 43% rate of entry to higher education slightly lower than the rest of 
the Borough (49.7%). 33% of the working age of NDC residents have no 
qualifications; this figure is substantially higher than the National rate 
(13%). 73% feels that they need to improve any type of skills (spelling, 
reading, writing and maths). 
 
Finances 
 
According to the MORI household survey 2008, 56% of the NDC 
residents receive some kind of state benefits or allowances, the highest 
proportion of residents in employment earn between £100 and £200 
weekly (20%). 
 
Priorities into the long term 

Education and employment have been highlighted as the important  
determinants of health inequalities as it is prominent that the NDC local 
labour market is relatively weak; health priorities include tackling health 
inequalities to improve everyone’s level of health bringing it closer to that 
of the most advantaged and ensuring that the health needs of the most 
disadvantaged are fully addressed. These priorities will be addressed by 
the Bridge Renewal Trust in partnership with local residents and key 
services providers. 

Page 46



 5 

 
3.  Mainstreaming 
 
The purpose of the Mainstreaming and Joining Up Local Services 
succession strand is to: 
 

• Provide a co-ordinated information point for residents with person-
focussed services. Better communications can be achieved.  

• Safeguard The Bridge NDC’s achievements in the future. 

• Sustain partnership working by joining up of services. 

• Make mainstream funding work effectively for the area. 

• Achieve better outcomes in the long-term. This will also allow local 
people to see a clearer impact. 

• Enable local people to become involved in service planning, 
delivery and evaluation. 

 
What we have achieved 
 
We consider this approach to be vital since the volume of work currently 
undertaken by the NDC can not be sustained by an independent 
successor body without the NDC grant.  We have ensured that projects 
are designed to help deliver the shared goals of our key partners or re-
shape existing services. Sustainability after the life of NDC is embedded 
into all projects and assets. We have identified a selection of all projects 
that can be mainstreamed and which are closely linked to targets or 
improvement plans of Haringey Strategic Partnership (HSP), LAA and/or 
other partners. We have joined up local services and built local 
accountability structures by establishing resident-led steering groups and 
management boards at the Laurels Healthy Living Centre, The Triangle 
Children, Young People and Community Centres and at the St Ann’s 
Library Hall Community Centre.  
 
These centres are increasingly bringing together PCT, GP Services, 
education, employment, children and young people and other community 
services. We have put in place a robust Funding Agreement and 
Business Plan to ensure that St Ann’s Library Hall will be well managed 
and maintained by Haringey Council for the benefit of local residents. 
 
We have provided capacity building and support to Resident Associations 
in the NDC area. This will ensure that local residents are aware of 
services available to them and can participate in developing responsive 
services.  
 
We have developed and implemented specific mainstreaming forward 
strategies for a number of projects (Forward Plan). Finally, we continue to 
foster links with Area Assemblies and wider neighbourhood renewal and 

Page 47



 6 

regeneration activities through programmes such as ‘Making the 
difference’.  
 
Our Plans for 2009 and beyond  
 
The NDC, Bridge Renewal Trust and partners will review the Forward 
Plan and improve the effectiveness of mainstreamed projects, relevant 
assets and ensure ongoing joining up of local services. 
 
4.  Neighbourhood Plan 
 
In February 2008 The Bridge NDC commissioned an interdisciplinary 
team led by Urban Initiatives to develop a Neighbourhood Plan for the 
NDC area and its wider context.  The purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan 
is to guide social, physical, and economic development in the area over 
the next ten to fifteen years - a plan for Seven Sisters to 2025. Its aims to 
consolidate progress made to date by the NDC and to provide a vision to 
guide development proposals and environmental improvements by the 
NDC Successor body, the Council, Homes for Haringey, The Mental 
Health Trust, the NHS Haringey and other stakeholders and private 
interests. It covers issues including transport, public open space, housing, 
employment, and community facilities.  
 
What we have achieved  
 
The Plan was approved by the NDC Board in November 2008.It was 
endorsed by Haringey Council in January 2009. The Plan is informing the 
development of Haringey Council’s Core Strategy. A Sustainability 
Appraisal of the Plan was undertaken by independent consultants, in 
order to ensure it is fit for purpose. 
 
In order to fully understand community and stakeholder aspirations for the 
area, and to generate as broad a consensus as possible, the Plan was 
developed in close consultation with all these parties. A dedicated focus 
group – the ‘Neighbourhood Team’, composed of the NDC Partnership 
Board, augmented with Residents Associations, Friends of the Parks, 
Health and other stakeholders from the NDC and adjacent areas – 
generated, advised, and tested ideas for the plan through a series of 
workshops.  'The Greenest District” in Haringey…  
 

• A group of neighbourhoods that are socially, economically, and 
environmentally sustainable.  

• Each neighbourhood develops its own identity and community 
focus. 

• Workplaces, institutions, and community facilities are open, 
accessible, and integrated into the life of each neighbourhood. 

Page 48



 7 

• People and places are connected.’  
 
Our Plans for the long term 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan is intended to be used as a flexible, variable 
menu of proposals, rather than a rigid, fixed master plan.  Each proposal 
is broken down into a ‘toolkit’ of potential actions which can be assembled 
in different combinations, realised in different timescales, and 
implemented to different extents.  Its purpose is to provide a common 
point of reference for all stakeholders to discuss the future of the area. In 
the coming year the NDC will be working to ensure that the governance 
structure for the Plan is established and implementation of the Plan is 
commenced.  NDC resources will be deployed to support this.  
 
5.  Succession Vehicle 
 
NDC’s survey in 2007 shows that the community feel that there are many 
activities and services in which they would like the successor body to be 
engaged. Consistent with the approach of other NDCs, we have recognised that 
it is not possible or beneficial to mainstream every project or activity and there is 
a need for an asset-based successor body to sustain the good work undertaken 
by the NDC.  Assets are important in ensuring there is revenue income to 
sustain future activities.  
 
The NDC currently receives revenue income from the Laurels Healthy Living 
Centre (a successful partnership with NHS Haringey, Circle 33 and Haringey 
Council). This income is intended to form the core of future revenue income to 
the NDC successor body.  More than 80% of local residents in the Bridge NDC 
area have supported the creation of the NDC successor body (MORI Survey, 
NDC National Evaluation, 2008). Our own survey in 2007 shows that the 
community feel that there are many activities and services in which they would 
like the successor body to be engaged, including: 
 

• Joining up local services such as health, employment, enterprise and others. 

• Securing inward investment in the Seven Sisters area from the statutory 
and external funders. 

• Ensuring that the income stream from the Laurels is re-invested in the area. 
• Supporting positive lifestyle changes (smoking cessation, physical activities etc) 

• Supporting other community health organisations in the area. 

• Sustaining a community ‘voice’ for the area 

• Acting as an ‘honest broker’ between community and statutory and other 
health service providers 

 
What We Have Achieved 
 
A 10-year business plan for the Bridge Renewal Trust (successor body) has 

Page 49



 8 

been prepared. An action plan to set up a company limited by guarantee with 
charitable status has also been agreed by the NDC Board. This is being 
implemented in two phases. Phase 1 saw the setting up of a company limited by 
guarantee and phase involved the application for charitable status and the 
establishment of an open and transparent governance arrangement leading to 
key staff recruitment. 
 
Our Plans for 2009 and beyond 
 
We will continue the implementation of the action plan for setting up the 
successor body as follows: 
 
Activity 
Task 

Timescale 
By When 

Updated Business Plan 
 

Achieved  
April 2009 

Set up successor body as a company limited by  
guarantee 

Achieved  
July 2009 

Recruit initial Trustees and expand Board of  
Trustees for successor body 

Achieved 
May 2009 

Apply for charitable status for the successor body 
 

Achieved  
September 2009 

Undertake discussions with Haringey Council over  
assets and funding support  

Ongoing 
 

Successor body to apply for external and NDC  
contracts 

October 2009 
 

Recruit key staff for successor body using  
phased approach starting with Chief Executive 

October 2009 
 

Launch successor body February 2010 
 

 
6. Government Requirements 
 
Strategic and Legislative Context: Department for Communities and 
Local Government (CLG) has issued final guidance on NDCs’ succession 
planning which requires Seven Sisters (The Bridge) New Deal for 
Communities programme to submit its plans for approval by the 31st 
October 2009 (amended to 27th November 2009). The Bridge NDC 
Partnership Board discussed CLG requirements at its away event in 
January 2009. During 2009/10, it has reviewed, refined and intensified 
the implementation of its succession strategies.  
 
For all succession strategies, CLG requires the following documents 
which, together, should demonstrate that all of the criteria in the guidance 
are met:   
 

Page 50



 9 

• An overarching succession strategy for the succession area – 
addressing each of the 8 criteria set by CLG (a maximum of 20 
pages plus annexes)  

• An asset register and future management strategy  

• A comprehensive risk register and management strategy; and 

• Business plans for successor organisations 
 
An overarching succession strategy for the NDC succession area:  
 
Overarching Succession Strategy: The aim of The Bridge NDC 
succession strategies is to set in place a compelling prospectus for 
sustaining change through positive engagement with the local community 
and key service agencies to ensure that the improvements made within 
the NDC area will be sustained beyond Government funding and into the 
long term. This Overarching Succession Strategy, which was also 
clearly expressed in the NDC 2009/10 Delivery Plan, involves the 
implementation of the following sub-strategies:  
 

• Implementation of a sustainable succession strategy through 
the following three strands: 

 
o Mainstreaming and joining up of local services including 

activities / assets being mainstreamed  
o Neighbourhood Plan for the Seven Sisters area 
o The Bridge Renewal Trust, a charitable company limited 

by guarantee set up as a viable asset-based successor 
body to the NDC. The Trust will sustain and build on the 
NDC activities will particular focus on tackling health 
inequalities. 

 

• Contextualisation of the NDC succession strategies within the 
local delivery landscape in Haringey by aligning the succession 
strategies and outcomes with those of Haringey Strategic 
Partnership, Local Area Agreement (LAA), other key strategic 
and delivery partners and other local priorities.  

 

• Sustenance of community engagement and leadership in the 
NDC succession work and the work of the mainstream service 
providers so as to leave behind a critical legacy in the area. 

 

• Ensuring assets generated by the NDC grant are safeguarded 
to continue to benefit NDC residents into the long term. 

 
How The Bridge NDC succession strategies meet Government criteria 
 

Page 51



 10 

Criterion 1: The outcomes to be delivered are appropriate for the NDC 
area and the community it serves. The NDC proposes to maintain the 
improvements in the NDC areas beyond the 10 year Government funding 
through a Forward Plan (Appendix 2.1). The Forward Plan involved 
positive meetings with a range of partners including Haringey Strategic 
Partnership lead officers, Haringey Council departments including Urban 
Environment, Neighbourhood Management and others, The Mental 
Health Trust, NHS Haringey, The Metropolitan Police, Jobcentre Plus and 
HAVCO. Senior managers from partner organisations have also 
completed a questionnaire relating to their outcomes and future activities 
in the NDC and surrounding areas. The Forward Plan: 

 

• identifies which of the 6 NDC themes are intended to be 
addressed by ongoing activities 

• shows details of partner activities to be undertaken in the 
NDC area. 

• show that the local priorities are clearly linked to the 
priorities set out in the LAA, Haringey’s Community Strategy 
and other local strategies and partners’ targets 

• clearly shows how the succession strategies are linked to 
existing projects 

 
Criterion 2: The community continues to be empowered and community 
leaders are supported. Following consultations with Haringey Council and 
other partners, The NDC developed a joined Community Empowerment 
Plan (Appendix 2.2) to ensure that the community will still be 
significantly involved in the future work of the NDC area.  The plan 
contains a broad spectrum of activity including: 

 

• Alignment with Haringey Council community empowerment 
agenda to ensure sustainability of the strategy into the long 
term 

• All partners are properly engaged and have put in place 
arrangements to support their part in the on-going 
implementation of the community empowerment plan as 
evidenced by completed partnership questionnaires and 
letters of support 

• Better communication of information from service providers 
to residents 

• Greater involvement by local residents in service 
development and delivery. For example, through 
participation in partner agencies and Management Boards 
of the NDC assets such as Triangle Children Centre, St 
Ann’s Library Community Hall, The Laurels Healthy Living 
Centre, The Community Hut, Trustees of the NDC 
successor body, governorships of local schools.  

Page 52



 11 

• Ongoing training programme for NDC Resident Board 
Members and other community leaders by the NDC and 
other partners into the long term 

• Promotion and expansion of role of ‘Young Advisors’ is 
mainstream service development and delivery. 

 
Criterion 3: An agreed split of responsibilities in continuing NDC 
activities/projects/services (between any successor body, the Local 
Authority, LSPs and other partners).  This criterion is addressed in the 
Forward Plan and through letters of support from partners.  
 
Criterion 4: The NDC’s assets are safeguarded into the long term. The 
NDC succession strategy must meet Government criteria that the assets 
and proceeds of any asset disposal will continue to be held and used for 
the benefit of the community.  This has been addressed as follows: 

 

• The successor vehicle’s legal status is company limited by 
guarantee with charitable status (charity status application 
pending); this is in accordance with the CLG guidance 

• There is explicit asset lock-in in the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association which ensures assets and proceeds 
of any asset disposal will continue to be held and used for 
the benefit of the community.  

• All the assets will be owned by Haringey Council and 
suitable lease arrangements agreed with the NDC 
successor body for the use of the Laurels Healthy Living 
Centre. 

 
Criterion 5: Governance arrangements support the objectives of the 
succession plans. The Government needs to see evidence that there are 
appropriate governance arrangements which will support the delivery of 
the NDC succession strategy. To this end, The NDC has sought 
commitment from the Haringey Strategic Partnership (HSP) to provide 
mutually supportive roles between the Local Authority, other delivery 
partners and The Bridge Renewal Trust. It is expected that the HSP will  
be committed to supporting the NDC succession strategies including: 
 

• Working together in the future to monitor delivery in the NDC 
and surrounding areas 

• Refining the succession strategy as necessary.  

• Inviting the Bridge Renewal Trust to join the HSP framework 
and supporting the Trust to deliver outcomes that are aligned 
towards the LAA targets and other local outcomes 

 
It is also hoped that The HSP Performance Management Group will 
consider and endorse the NDC succession arrangements at its October 

Page 53



 12 

meeting.  Specifically for The Bridge Renewal Trust, the Government 
wants to see that organisational structures and governance are robust 
and Objects are appropriate.  The proposed composition of the Board of 
the Trust in terms of Board members’ mix of skills against the identified 
skills needed,  and details on how the Board will be selected and 
appointed is addressed in Business Plan and Memorandum & Articles of 
Association of Trust. 
 

Criterion 6: The risks to the succession strategy have been properly 
identified and are being actively managed. The NDC succession strategy 
includes a completed Risk Register (Appendix 2.3) setting out: 

 

• Risks that have been identified to its implementation; the 
likelihood of these risks materialising; their potential impact; 
and the planned management and mitigation strategy.  

• All risks to implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan and 
Forward Plan and Mainstreaming Action Plan. Risks areas 
will cover assumptions made, availability of finance, 
governance, local priorities changing and so on. 

• A separate risk register and management strategy for the 
Bridge Renewal Trust to address the implementation of the 
Business Plan and ensure that relevant assets will be 
managed appropriately is contained in the Business Plan.  

• Risks associated with succession (as opposed to 
programme delivery)  

• Robust methodology, including an assessment of impact 
and probability, and level of risk (H,M,L) before and after 
mitigation  

• The nature of the identified risk  (political, economic, 
commercial)  

• Appropriate level of the mitigation of risk  

• Assessment of all risks to delivery of the succession 
strategy, for example, assumptions made, availability of 
finance, governance, local priorities changing etc. 

• A risk management/escalation plan 
 
Criterion 7: The strategy must be agreed by the Local Authority/ 
Accountable Body and supported by local partners. The NDC succession 
strategy will need to be endorsed by the Local Authority (both as the 
Accountable Body and strategic / delivery partner) and supported by 
other partners and stakeholders as follows: 

 

• Endorsement from HSP Performance Management Group 
(22nd October 2009) 

• Endorsement from HSP (5th November 2009) 

• Letters of support obtained from key partners (by November 

Page 54



 13 

2009) 

• Succession strategy and supporting documents presented 
to  Haringey Council’s Cabinet for approval (17th November 
2009) 

• Succession strategy signed by NDC Chair, NDC Director 
and Haringey Council’s Chief Executive (24th November 
2009) 

• Succession strategy and supporting documents submitted 
to GOL and CLG (27th November 2009) 

 
Criterion 8: The successor vehicle must be financially independent into 
the long term. The Government requires a business plan for the 
successor body which demonstrates its contribution to each of the criteria 
1-7 detailed above, as well as this criterion. In accordance with 
Government requirements, the Business Plan for the Bridge Renewal 
Trust (Appendix 2.4) provides: 
 

• An explanation which sets out its role in the overall 
succession strategy  

• A financial profile showing the financial viability of the 
successor vehicles(s) with a detailed financial plan for year 1, 
supported by an outline 5-year plan and an explanation of the 
projected plans for years 6-10.  

• An explanation of the legal status of the Bridge Renewal 
Trust, structure, copy of proposed Constitution, memorandum 
and articles of association, objects, registration details with 
Company House and Charity Commission;  

• A risk register; and  

• Asset management strategy for the organisation.  
 
 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 2
.1

 N
D

C
 F

o
rw

a
rd

 P
la

n
 S

h
o

w
in

g
 M

a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

e
d

 I
n

it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 

N
o

 
O

ri
g

in
a
l 

N
D

C
 

p
ro

je
c
t 

N
D

C
 T

h
e
m

e
 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

a
re

a
 

A
c

ti
v
it

y
 

d
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
L

A
A

 l
in

k
 

M
a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

in
g

 
A

g
e
n

c
y
 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

N
a
m

e
 

1
 

T
h
e
 L
a
u
re
ls
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 

L
iv
in
g
 C
e
n
tr
e
 (
2
0
0
7
) 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
e
w
 b
u
ild
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

p
ri
m
a
ry
 h
e
a
lt
h
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

ta
c
k
lin
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

in
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
. 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

N
H
S
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

J
u
lie
 Q
u
in
n
 

2
 

B
U
B
IC
 (
2
0
0
8
) 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
c
e
 m
is
u
s
e
  

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

B
U
B
IC
 

K
e
lv
in
 O
’M
a
rd
 

3
 

W
a
rd
s
 C
o
rn
e
r 
(2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

N
e
w
 b
u
ild
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

m
a
in
 g
a
te
w
a
y
 i
n
to
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 r
e
v
it
a
lis
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
ta
il 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 

M
a
rk
 H
o
p
s
o
n
 

4
 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 –
 

S
t 
A
n
n
’s
 /
 S
e
v
e
n
 s
is
te
rs
 

ro
a
d
 (
2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

M
a
jo
r 
re
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

ra
ilw
a
y
 b
ri
d
g
e
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 

S
h
a
ro
n
 L
e
e
 

5
 

E
d
g
e
c
o
t 
G
ro
v
e
 M
U
G
A
 

(2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

N
e
w
 b
u
ild
 o
f 
m
u
lt
i-
u
s
e
 

g
a
m
e
s
 a
re
a
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

6
 

T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 Y
o
u
th
 H
u
t 

re
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 (
2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

In
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

re
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
iv
e
 V
is
io
n
 

L
e
n
a
 P
a
m
p
h
ile
 

7
 

N
D
C
 e
s
ta
te
 r
e
n
e
w
a
l 
–
 

T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 E
s
ta
te
 (
2
0
0
8
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 e
s
ta
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
g
re
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
, 
M
U
G
A
, 
fi
re
 p
a
th
 

a
n
d
 p
la
y
 a
re
a
) 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

8
 

T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 E
s
ta
te
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
(2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 

a
n
d
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

9
 

E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
w
o
rk
s
 

T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
ff
o
lk
 

E
s
ta
te
 -
 (
2
0
0
6
) 

 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

1
0

 
N
D
C
 e
s
ta
te
 r
e
n
e
w
a
l 

(T
iv
e
rt
o
n
 E
s
ta
te
) 
(2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

R
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

1
1

 
E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
P
h
a
s
e
 3
 

S
ir
 F
re
d
e
ri
c
k
 M
e
s
s
e
r 

E
s
ta
te
 (
2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

s
e
c
u
ri
ty
, 
lig
h
ti
n
g
, 

s
ig
n
a
g
e
, 
p
a
th
w
a
y
s
, 
b
in
 

s
to
ra
g
e
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

p
la
y
 a
re
a
, 
a
d
u
lt
 p
la
y
 

e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t,
 g
re
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 

 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

 M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

Page 57



1
2

 
 S
ir
 F
re
d
e
ri
c
k
 M
e
s
s
e
r 

F
ro
n
ta
g
e
 (
2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

1
3

 
 

E
d
g
e
c
o
t 
G
ro
v
e
  

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
p
la
y
 a
re
a
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

1
4

 
S
ir
 F
re
d
e
ri
c
k
 M
e
s
s
e
r 

A
c
c
e
s
s
(2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

1
5

 
G
re
e
n
 i
t 
u
p
 (
P
a
ig
n
to
n
 

P
a
rk
) 
(2
0
0
3
) 

 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
a
ig
n
to
n
 O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 

re
d
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 (
P
a
rk
s
) 

S
e
a
n
 B
u
rk
e
 

1
6

 
M
a
n
c
h
e
s
te
r 
G
a
rd
e
n
s
 

(2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

R
e
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

h
is
to
ri
c
 p
u
b
lic
 g
a
rd
e
n
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 (
P
a
rk
s
) 

J
a
n
 W
ils
o
n
 

1
7

 
C
h
e
s
tn
u
t 
P
a
rk
 (
2
0
0
7
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
h
a
s
e
 1
 o
f 
a
 l
o
n
g
e
r-

te
rm
 p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

re
g
e
n
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 p
a
rk
. 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 (
P
a
rk
s
) 

J
a
n
 W
ils
o
n
 

1
8

 
C
re
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 

F
la
d
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 (
2
0
0
5
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
re
ta
il 

a
re
a
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
p
la
y
 

a
re
a
, 
p
u
b
lic
 s
e
a
ti
n
g
 

a
re
a
 a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 

D
a
v
e
 M
o
rr
is
 

1
9

 
P
u
lf
o
rd
 R
o
a
d
 F
a
m
ily
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
 (
2
0
0
5
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fa
c
ili
ty
 
A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 

L
u
c
in
a
 T
re
d
e
ri
c
k
 

2
0

 
B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
(2
0
0
6
) 
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rk
 o
f 
T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 

A
re
a
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 p
e
s
t 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
w
a
s
te
 

e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

L
B
H
 

S
te
v
e
 R
u
s
s
e
ll 

2
1

 
B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
p
h
a
s
e
 I
I 

(2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

w
o
rk
s
 t
o
 p
ri
v
a
te
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

re
n
e
w
in
g
 f
ro
n
t 
w
a
lls
 

a
n
d
 g
a
rd
e
n
s
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

L
B
H
 

S
te
v
e
 R
u
s
s
e
ll 

2
2

 
C
h
e
s
tn
u
ts
 P
a
v
ili
o
n
(2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
y
 

a
re
a
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

L
B
H
 

J
a
n
 W
ils
o
n
 

2
3

 
S
t 
A
n
n
's
 B
ri
d
g
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
re
n
e
w
a
l 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 

S
h
a
ro
n
 L
e
e
 

2
4

 
C
ri
m
e
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 F
u
n
d
 

(P
le
v
n
a
 /
 H
e
ls
to
n
 G
a
ti
n
g
) 

(2
0
0
8
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
re
n
e
w
a
l 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
a
ll 

L
B
H
/M
E
T
 P
O
L
IC
E
 

S
e
a
n
 S
w
e
e
n
e
y
 

2
5

 
S
a
fe
ty
 &
 C
o
m
fo
rt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

h
o
m
e
 )
 (
2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
  

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
a
ll 

L
B
H
 

S
te
v
e
 L
a
in
 

2
6

 
E
s
ta
te
 r
e
n
e
w
a
l 
(w
o
rk
s
 i
n
 

p
u
b
lic
 h
o
u
s
in
g
) 
(2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
t 
s
e
v
e
ra
l 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

M
a
n
le
y
 M
u
rr
a
y
 

Page 58



2
7

 

 N
D
C
 s
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 p
la
y
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

P
a
rk
s
(2
0
0
6
) 

  

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

C
h
e
s
tn
u
ts
 P
a
rk
 a
n
d
 

B
ru
n
s
w
ic
k
 O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 

fo
r 
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
. 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

L
B
H
 

J
a
n
 W
ils
o
n
 

2
8

 
S
h
o
p
 F
ro
n
t 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
(2
0
0
6
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
p
p
e
a
ra
n
c
e
 o
f 

s
h
o
p
s
 i
n
 S
e
v
e
n
 S
is
te
rs
  

R
o
a
d
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

P
ri
v
a
te
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

R
u
s
s
e
ll 
M
u
ff
a
tt
 

2
9

 
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 P
la
n
* 

(2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

S
e
v
e
n
 S
is
te
rs
 a
re
a
 

2
0
0
9
-2
0
1
0
 t
o
 g
u
id
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t 

L
a
in
y
a
 O
ff
s
id
e
-

K
e
iv
a
n
i 

3
0

 
B
ri
d
g
e
 t
o
 L
e
a
rn
 (
2
0
0
8
) 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

T
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
k
ill
s
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

L
B
H
 

M
a
rt
in
 T
u
c
k
e
r 

3
1

 
T
h
e
 T
ri
a
n
g
le
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 

a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
s
’ 

c
e
n
tr
e
 (
2
0
0
6
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
  

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

N
e
w
 b
u
ild
 o
f 
fa
c
ili
ty
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 

a
ll 

L
B
H
 

S
u
e
 J
a
m
e
s
 

3
2

 
S
t 
A
n
n
's
 L
ib
ra
ry
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

ro
o
m
 (
2
0
0
6
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
  

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

tr
a
in
in
g
 r
o
o
m
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

L
B
H
 

D
ia
n
a
 E
d
m
o
n
d
s
 

3
3

 
S
t 
A
n
n
's
 L
ib
ra
ry
 h
a
ll 

e
x
te
n
s
io
n
(2
0
0
7
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

N
e
w
 b
u
ild
 o
f 
fa
c
ili
ty
 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
 

L
B
H
 

D
ia
n
a
 E
d
m
o
n
d
s
 

3
4

 
Y
o
u
n
g
 A
d
v
is
o
rs
 (
2
0
0
8
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

e
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t,
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
c
t 
a
s
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 

 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

L
B
H
 

J
a
s
o
n
 B
ra
d
le
y
 

3
5

 
P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l 

c
o
u
n
s
e
lli
n
g
 (
2
0
0
7
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
  

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
b
a
s
e
d
 

c
o
u
n
s
e
lli
n
g
  

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

L
B
H
/S
t 
A
n
n
’s
 C
h
u
rc
h
  

J
o
h
n
 W
o
o
d
 

3
6

 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 K
S
4
 (
2
0
0
7
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
  

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
b
a
s
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 c
o
u
n
s
e
lli
n
g
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t 
 

 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

G
la
d
e
s
m
o
re
 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
o
n
y
 H
a
rt
n
e
y
 

3
7
 
Y
o
u
th
 C
ri
m
e
  

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 W
o
rk
e
rs
 

(2
0
0
8
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
ri
m
e
 

C
ri
m
e
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 o
f 

o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 

 

S
a
fe
r 
fo
r 
a
ll 

L
B
H
 Y
o
u
th
 o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

L
a
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
o
r-

F
is
h
e
r 
 

3
8
 
R
e
s
id
e
n
t 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 

(2
0
0
8
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

e
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 

c
o
n
s
o
lid
a
ti
n
g
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 n
e
w
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

H
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

S
h
e
ry
l 

H
e
n
d
ri
c
k
s
o
n
 

Page 59



3
9
 
T
re
a
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
o
a
rd
s
 

(2
0
0
8
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
  

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

 T
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
io
n
a
ry
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

fo
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 

th
e
a
tr
e
 s
k
ill
s
 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

L
B
H
 (
Y
o
u
th
 s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

 F
a
it
h
 W
ill
ia
m
s
 

4
0
 
In
te
rg
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
H
u
b
 

(2
0
0
8
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
in
g
 

a
u
to
n
o
m
o
u
s
 

in
te
rg
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

c
o
m
m
it
te
e
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili
ty
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
iv
e
 V
is
io
n
 

L
e
n
a
 P
a
m
p
h
ile
 

4
1
 
R
e
a
c
h
O
u
t 
* 
(2
0
0
9
) 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 i
n
te
ra
g
e
n
c
y
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t 
/B
U
B
IC
 

K
e
lv
in
 O
'M
a
rd
 

4
2
 
F
o
o
t 
c
a
re
 P
lu
s
* 
 (
2
0
0
9
) 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

F
o
o
t 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

fo
r 
th
e
 o
v
e
r 
5
0
s
 

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

w
it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t 

J
o
 B
a
s
ra
 

4
3
 
H
a
ls
to
n
 C
o
u
rt
 f
o
o
d
 

g
ro
w
in
g
 c
o
o
p
 *
(2
0
0
9
) 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
  

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

s
p
a
c
e
 b
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
in
g
 

s
e
lf
 s
u
s
ta
in
in
g
 u
rb
a
n
 

fo
o
d
 g
ro
w
in
g
 

c
o
o
p
e
ra
ti
v
e
 

 

A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
re
/ 

A
u
to
n
o
m
o
u
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
 

L
a
in
y
a
 O
ff
s
id
e
-

K
e
iv
a
n
i 

4
4
 
R
e
v
u
p
*(
2
0
0
9
) 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

T
a
ilo
re
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 S
M
E
s
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

 

N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

G
a
ry
 I
n
c
e
 

4
5
 
S
ti
tc
h
 i
n
 t
im
e
* 
(2
0
0
9
) 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

T
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

fa
s
h
io
n
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
y
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

L
B
H
 

M
a
rt
in
 T
u
c
k
e
r 

4
6
 
 H
e
a
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
* 

(2
0
0
9
) 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 b
a
s
ic
 s
k
ill
s
, 

jo
b
 b
ro
k
e
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 

h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

L
B
H
 

L
a
in
y
a
 O
ff
s
id
e
-

K
e
iv
a
n
i 

 
*p
ro
je
c
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 60



 
1
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
.2
 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 N
e
w
 D
e
a
l 
fo
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

   

 D
ra
ft
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 E
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

    

Page 61



 
2
 

T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 N
e
w
 D
e
a
l 
fo
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 D
ra
ft
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 E
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

IN
T

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

 

T
h
e
 B

ri
d
g
e
 N

e
w
 D

e
a
l 
fo
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 (
N
D
C
) 
a
re
a
 i
s
 a
 r
ic
h
 s
o
u
rc
e
 o
f 
e
n
e
rg
y
, 
c
re
a
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
a
le
n
t.
 T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
re
 m

a
d
e
 u
p
 

o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 r
ic
h
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 w

h
o
 e
a
c
h
 h
a
v
e
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 m

a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 N

D
C
 a
re
a
 f
lo
u
ri
s
h
. 
O
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

ro
le
 o
f 
th
e
 N
D
C
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 t
o
 p
u
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
rt
 o
f 
it
s
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 h
e
lp
 w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 N
D
C
 a
re
a
. 

T
h
e
 
B
ri
d
g
e
 
N
D
C
 
is
 
c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 
to
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 
it
s
 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 
to
 
d
o
 
th
in
g
s
 
fo
r 
th
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 
- 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t;
 W

h
e
re
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
re
 e
m
p
o
w
e
re
d
 w
e
 w

o
u
ld
 e
x
p
e
c
t 
to
 s
e
e
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
: 
lo
c
a
l 
d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
 b
o
o
s
te
d
; 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 s
k
ill
s
 

a
m
o
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
; 
h
ig
h
e
r 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
; 
a
n
d
 m

o
re
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 i
n
 a
 l
o
c
a
l 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
. 
B
e
tt
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
le
a
d
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
b
e
tt
e
r,
 m

o
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
iv
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

In
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
fe
w
 y
e
a
rs
, 
th
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 p
la
c
e
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 h
o
w
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 a
ll 
a
s
p
e
c
ts
 o
f 

lo
c
a
l 
p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 h
a
s
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 u
rg
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
u
b
lic
 b
o
d
ie
s
 t
o
 d
o
 

b
e
tt
e
r 
o
n
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
  

  

•
 

T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
W
h
it
e
 P
a
p
e
r 
2
0
0
6
 –
 “
S
tr
o
n
g
 a
n
d
 P
ro
s
p
e
ro
u
s
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
.”
  
 

•
 

D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
H
e
a
lt
h
 G

u
id
a
n
c
e
 “
R
e
a
l 
In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t”
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
6
 N
H
S
 A
c
t.
  
 

•
 

T
h
e
 “
D
u
ty
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
” 
- 
L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
u
b
lic
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 H

e
a
lt
h
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
7
. 
  

•
 

T
h
e
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
7
. 
 

•
 

T
h
e
 W

h
it
e
 P

a
p
e
r,
 “
O
u
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 O

u
r 
C
a
re
 O

u
r 
S
a
y
”,
 a
n
d
 “
P
u
tt
in
g
 P

e
o
p
le
 F

ir
s
t”
, 
th
e
 c
o
n
c
o
rd
a
t 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 C

e
n
tr
a
l 
a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
  

T
h
e
 D

e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
(C

L
G
) 
h
a
s
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
ts
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 E

m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t,
 w

h
ic
h
 

s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
th
e
 s
te
p
s
 i
t 
is
 t
a
k
in
g
, 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
c
ro
s
s
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
rs
, 
to
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
re
e
 k
e
y
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
: 

1
. 
G
re
a
te
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
 

2
. 
C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 a
tt
it
u
d
e
s
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 

3
. 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 

W
h

a
t 

is
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 e

m
p

o
w

e
rm

e
n

t?
 –

 t
h

e
 n

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

c
o

n
te

x
t 

Page 62



 
3
 

T
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
d
e
fi
n
e
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
a
s
 ‘
th
e
 g
iv
in
g
 o
f 
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
, 
s
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
w
e
rs
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 s
h
a
p
e
 a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 w

h
a
t 
p
u
b
lic
 b
o
d
ie
s
 d
o
 f
o
r 
o
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
m
’.
  
T
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
b
e
lie
v
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
c
a
n
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
re
s
u
lt
s
 o
r 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
: 
  

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
  
 

•
 

G
re
a
te
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
o
h
e
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
  
 

•
 

T
h
ri
v
in
g
 d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
; 
a
n
d
  
 

•
 

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
. 
 

 T
h
is
 i
s
 q
u
it
e
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
 A

 b
ro
a
d
e
r 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 i
n
 a
 v
e
ry
 u
s
e
fu
l 
g
u
id
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 b
y
 C

o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
E
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 
T
h
is
 a
rg
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
 e
m
p
o
w
e
re
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
s
 o
n
e
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
: 
  

•
 

c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
  

•
 

in
c
lu
s
iv
e
  
 

•
 

o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
  
 

•
 

c
o
-o
p
e
ra
ti
v
e
  
 

•
 

in
fl
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
is
 a
 h
ig
h
ly
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 t
h
e
 a
c
ti
v
e
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 a
 

w
id
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 i
t.
 I
t 
is
 a
 s
lo
w
, 
g
ra
d
u
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 w

h
ic
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
l 
le
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
ta
n
t 
b
u
ild
in
g
 

o
f 
a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
's
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 o
n
 m

o
re
 -
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 f
in
it
e
 e
n
d
 p
o
in
t 
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
 

W
h

a
t 

is
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 e

m
p

o
w

e
rm

e
n

t?
 –

 t
h

e
 l
o

c
a

l 
c

o
n

te
x

t 
 

T
h
e
 H

a
ri
n
g
e
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
H
S
P
) 
is
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
in
g
 s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 H

a
ri
n
g
e
y
 c
a
n
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 s
a
y
, 
a
re
 l
is
te
n
e
d
 t
o
, 

a
n
d
 a

re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 d

e
c
is
io
n
s
. 
 T

h
e
 H

S
P
 i
s
 a

 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 o

f 
lo
c
a
l 
p
u
b
lic
 a

g
e
n
c
ie
s
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 a

n
d
 b

u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 

T
h
e
 H

S
P
’s
 a
im

 i
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
. 
T
h
e
y
 a
re
 d
o
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 H

a
ri

n
g

e
y
’s

 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk
. 
T
h
e
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 c
le
a
r 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 f
o
r 
H
S
P
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 u
s
e
 w

h
e
n
 c
a
rr
y
in
g
 o
u
t 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 H

a
ri
n
g
e
y
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 t
o
:-
 

•
 

W
o
rk
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 j
o
in
 u
p
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

•
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
 w
h
e
n
 i
t 
w
ill
 m

a
k
e
 a
 d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
 

•
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
 w
it
h
 a
ll 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

•
 

B
u
ild
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

•
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

Page 63



 
4
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
a
ls
o
 c
le
a
rl
y
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 t
h
e
 H

S
P
’s
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.
 I
t 
c
o
n
ta
in
s
 t
h
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 a
llo

w
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 m

e
a
s
u
re
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 N
D
C
 a
re
a
: 

 

•
 

N
I1
: 
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 b
e
lie
v
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 g
e
t 
o
n
 w
e
ll 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 

•
 

N
I4
: 
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 

•
 

N
I6
: 
P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 

•
 

N
I7
: 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 

•
 

N
I2
1
: 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w

it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
a
n
d
 c
ri
m
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 p
o
lic
e
 –
 p
ro
x
y
 %

 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
w
e
ll 
in
fo
rm

e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 d
o
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 

•
 

N
I1
4
0
: 
F
a
ir
 t
re
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 -
 p
ro
x
y
 t
o
 w
h
a
t 
e
x
te
n
t 
d
o
e
s
 y
o
u
r 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
tr
e
a
t 
a
ll 
ty
p
e
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 f
a
ir
ly
 

W
h

o
 i

s
 t

h
e
 P

la
n

 f
o

r?
  

 T
h
e
 N

D
C
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 E
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
P
la
n
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
in
 t
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 N
e
w
 D

e
a
l 
fo
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

A
re
a
, 
th
e
 N
D
C
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 N
D
C
 a
re
a
. 
 

  T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
a
y
s
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 m

o
re
 e
m
p
o
w
e
re
d
: 
 

 
  

•
 

B
y
 m

o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
; 
  

•
 

B
y
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
 m

o
re
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
a
rt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
lli
n
g
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 o
f 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
; 
  

•
 

B
y
 t
a
k
in
g
 d
ir
e
c
t 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 –
 b
u
d
g
e
ts
, 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
, 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 s
o
 o
n
; 
 

•
 

B
y
 b
e
in
g
 m

o
re
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 
 

T
h
is
 P
la
n
 s
e
ts
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
a
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
h
a
p
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 w

h
ic
h
 w

ill
 

h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 (
th
e
 N

D
C
 a
re
a
).
 T
h
e
y
 c
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 k
e
y
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 w

e
ll 
b
e
in
g
, 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
, 
a
ll 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 b
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 

It
 i
s
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 H

a
ri

n
g

e
y
’s

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
s
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
s
s
o
n
s
 l
e
a
rn
t 
fr
o
m
 

th
e
 N

D
C
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
. 
It
 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 a
n
d
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
ra
c
ti
c
a
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w

h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 N

D
C
 i
s
 w

o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 a
n
d
 w

h
ic
h
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
s
 

th
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t,
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 N

D
C
 a
re
a
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 y
e
a
rs
. 

Page 64



 
5
 

  

T
h

e
 B

ri
d

g
e

 N
e
w

 D
e

a
l 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

 –
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 E

m
p

o
w

e
rm

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 

 A
c

ti
v
it

y
 

P
a

rt
n

e
r 

O
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
s

 
E

v
id

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

C
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

t 
 S

u
s

ta
in

a
b

il
it

y
 

ti
m

e
s

c
a

le
 

B
e

n
e

fi
c

ia
ri

e
s

 

G
re
a
te
r 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

in
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 

b
y
 

lo
c
a
l 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

L
B
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

L
S
P
, 
H
A
V
C
O
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t,
 

N
H
S
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

T
h
e
 

M
e
tr
o
p
o
lit
a
n
 P

o
lic
e
, 
T
h
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t,
  

a
n
d
 

N
D
C
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

A
lig
n
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 
 

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
  
in
 u
s
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 f
o
c
u
s
s
e
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 
a
n
d
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

fo
r 

N
D
C
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 

B
o
a
rd
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

N
D
C
 P

a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B

o
a
rd
, 

B
ri
d
g
e
 

R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 H
A
V
C
O
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
re
s
id
e
n
t 
b
o
a
rd
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

h
a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
, 
th
is
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 u
n
ti
l 

2
0
1
0
. 
It
 i
s
 e
n
v
is
a
g
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
o
r 
b
o
d
y
 (
T
h
e
 B
ri
d
g
e
 

R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
T
ru
s
t 
) 
w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

w
it
h
 H
A
V
C
O
 t
o
  
tr
a
in
 a
n
d
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

b
u
ild
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 
b
o
a
rd
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

 O
n
g
o
in
g
 

u
n
ti
l 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
1
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

G
re
a
te
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

in
 t
a
k
in
g
 u
p
 c
iv
ic
 r
o
le
s
 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 s
c
h
o
o
l 

g
o
v
e
rn
o
rs
, 
n
o
n
 

e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
rs
 

a
n
d
 c
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 

L
B
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

L
S
P
, 
H
A
V
C
O
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t,
 

N
H
S
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

T
h
e
 

M
e
tr
o
p
o
lit
a
n
 P

o
lic
e
, 
T
h
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t,
  

a
n
d
 

N
D
C
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

A
lig
n
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C

iv
ic
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
d
a
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 N
D
C
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 

L
B
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
A
lig
n
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 H

a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C

o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
O
n
g
o
in
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

Page 65



 
6
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

b
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

L
S
P
, 
H
A
V
C
O
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t,
 

N
H
S
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

T
h
e
 

M
e
tr
o
p
o
lit
a
n
 P

o
lic
e
, 
T
h
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t,
  

a
n
d
 

N
D
C
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

G
re
a
te
r 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

in
 

lo
c
a
l 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 b
o
a
rd
s
  

L
B
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

L
S
P
, 
H
A
V
C
O
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t,
 

N
H
S
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

T
h
e
 

M
e
tr
o
p
o
lit
a
n
 P

o
lic
e
, 
T
h
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t,
  

a
n
d
 

N
D
C
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

A
lig
n
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 H

a
ri
n
g
e
y
 C

o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

A
lig
n
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 L
A
A
s
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
d
 
w
it
h
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 
o
f 

ro
le
 
o
f 

Y
o
u
n
g
 A

d
v
is
o
rs
 w

it
h
in
 

m
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
ro
v
id
o
rs
 

L
B
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

L
S
P
, 
H
A
V
C
O
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

L
iN
K
, 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t,
 

N
H
S
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
, 

T
h
e
 

M
e
tr
o
p
o
lit
a
n
 P

o
lic
e
, 
T
h
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 

T
ru
s
t,
  

a
n
d
 

N
D
C
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

 
O
n
g
o
in
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

 

Page 66



Appendix 2.3 Succession Strategy Risk Register

ID Risk Description

Nature of Identified Risk 

(Political, economic, 

commercial)

Risk Owner

Impact

if risk 

occurs

Probabilit

y of risk 

occurring

RAG Status Mitigation Action/Escalation Plan

NDC Successor Body

R-1

Risk that the Charity application 

for the successor body is not 

successful

Political
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

This is unlikely. The Board of Trustees will review and amend the objects 

and activities to ensure desired public benefit to the satisfaction of the 

Charity Commission

R-2

Risk that governance 

arrangements for the successor 

body is not fit for purpose and fails 

to support the objectives of the 

succession plans.

Political
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Organisational structures and governance are robust and Objects are 

appropriate.  The composition of the Board of the Trust in terms of 

Board members’ mix of skills has been determined against the identified 

skills needed,  and the Board will be selected and appointed on the basis 

of skills gaps, nomination by key partners agencies such as the Council, 

PCT and Mental Health Trust, and community leaders. Protocol for 

reviewing new projects to ensure consistency with objects, powers and 

terms of funding.

R-3

Risk that The Bridge Renewal 

Trust does not have the capacity 

to take over and manage the 

asset

Political and economic
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Review clear definition of the required people resource and capabilities 

required

Review and recruit relevant skills to the Board of Trustees

Update an organisational development plan and adopt relevant quality 

standards.

R-4 Risk that The Laurels asset is not 

managed effectively and remains 

under-utilised

Political and economic
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Review viability of business plan and improve on partnership working 

and community engagement

R-5 The Laurels asset is not used in 

the public interest- taken over by 

an unrepresentative or 

unaccountable minority. Access to 

the asset is not inclusive

Political 
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Ensure Board of Trustees has relevant reperesentations from the 

community (community-led); review and update composition of user 

stakeholder group.

R-6
Risk that PCT/NHS Haringey 

policies change and it no longer 

requires the use of the Laurels 

centre as an accommodation

Political NHS Haringey H L
NHS Haringey has a 25 year lease agreement to use the Laurels and 

pays rental income which is gifted to the NDC/successor body.

R-7

Risk that he Trust is unsuccessful 

in securing the projected income 

through commissioning, grant and 

bid funding

Political and financial
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Modest income projections until The Trust is fully established

Establish a diverse income stream

Build expertise and capability within the team ref securing 

funding/building relationships etc

Prove track record of delivery, and the contribution the Trust can make 

to LAA and NHS Haringey targets

R-8

Risk that further assets are not 

forthcoming
Political and economic

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M M

Demonstrate to London Borough of Haringey that the Trust is not just 

‘a safe pair of hands’ but also innovative by making a success of the 

Laurels as a community facility.

Strong and effective governance

R-9

Risk that The Trust lacks direction, 

strategy and forward planning

Political (governance / 

management)

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Creation of a strategic Plan which sets out key objectives, aims and 

policies.; taking into account feedback from bneficiaries to refine the 

strategic plan 

R-10

Risk that Trust members ack of 

relevant skills or commitment

Political (governance / 

management)

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Skills review, competence framework, trustee training and strong 

recruitment process.

R-11

Risk that there is no compliance 

with statutory legislation and 

regulations

Political (governance / 

management of compliance)

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Identify key legal and regulatory requirements, allocate responsibility for 

key compliance procedures, compliance monitoring and  reporting, 

compliance reports from Regulators, auditorsand staff.

R-12 Risk of bad reporting to the 

Trustees (risk of poor quality  

decision making and risk of failure 

of Board to fulfill its control 

functions)

Management
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Robust strategic planning, objective setting and budgeting processes. 

Timely and accurate project, financial and performance reporting, 

adequate project assesment procedures, regular contact between 

trustees and managers.

R-13

Risks that contract are not 

adhered to.
Operational

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Cost/project appraisals procedures in place, authorisation procedures, 

professional advice on terms and conditions, performance monitoring 

arrangements, insurance cover.

R-14

Risk that ther is lack of customer 

satisfaction 
Operational

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Quality control procedures, complaints procedures and benchmarking of 

the service.

R-15
Risk of competition (loss of 

contracts income, reduced fund 

raising potential, reduced profile, 

unsatisfactory returns)

Operational
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M M

Monitoring performance and quality of service, review of market and 

methods of service delivery, fund-raising strategy , public awareness 

profile , monitoring of the adecuacy of financial returns achieved.

R-16

Risk of high staff turnover Operational
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Recruitment, interview and assesment process, open competition 

appointment for key posts, peformance appraisals, consideration to 

rates of pay, training, working conditions and job satisfaction.

R-17

Risk of poor health and safety and 

working environment
Operational

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Compliance with H&S law and regulation, regular checks by experienced 

H&S officers.

R-18

Risk that information systems fail 

to meet operational needs, loss of 

data and lack of technical support

Operational
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

System needs and options analysis, security and authorisation 

procedures, service support contracts and disaster recovery procedures.

R-19

Risk of poor budgetary control and 

financial reporting
Financial

The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Budget link to business pland and objectives, timely and accurate 

financial reporting, robust costing procedures for service delivery, 

adequate skills set to interpret and produce budgetary and financial 

reporting and review /action cashflow variances.

R-20

Risk of fraud (financial loss, 

reputational risk and impact on 

funding)

Financial
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Financial control procedures in place, authorisation limits, security of 

assets and insurable risks.

R-21

Risk of poor public perception Enviroromental / external factors
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
M L

Communication with supporters and beneficiaries , PR training 

procedures where necessary.

R-22

Risk of adverse publicity Enviroromental / external factors
The Bridge 

Renewal Trust
H L

Complaints procedures, proper regular reviews of the procedure and 

crisis management skills applied for handling consistency of key 

messages.

Page 67



ID Risk Description

Nature of Identified Risk 

(Political, economic, 

commercial)

Risk Owner
Impact

if risk occurs

Probability of risk 

occurring
RAG Status Mitigation Action/Escalation Plan

NDC Succession Strategy

R-1

Risk that the outcomes to be 

delivered are not appropriate 

for the NDC area and the 

community it serves.

Political and economic Haringey Strategic 

Partnership (HSP)

H L NDC succession outcomes are linked to LAA and the HSP 

outcomes. The HSP Performance Management Group will review 

outcomes from the NDC area as part of the bourough-wide 

performance and take steps to amend outcomes based on 

performance data received.

R-2

Risk that the community 

does not continue to be 

empowered and community 

leaders are not supported.

Political and economic London Borough of Haringey H L Haringey Council will review and ensure efective implementation of 

the NDC Community Empowerment Plan which is closley linked to 

its own Community Empowerment Framework. The Council will 

work with HAVCO, the local CVS, the Bridge Renewal Trust and 

key partners to empower residents and support community 

leaders. In future, the successor body will review governace and 

ensure adherence to this principle.

R-3

Risk of a future 

disagreement about agreed 

split of responsibilities in 

continuing NDC 

activities/projects/services 

(between the successor 

body, the Local Authority, 

LSPs and other partners).  

Political and economic Haringey Strategic 

Partnership (HSP)

H M Continuing NDC activities/projects/services have been linked to 

LAA and partners' improvement plans.  The HSP Performance 

Management Group will review LAA roles and reponsibilities 

including in the NDC area as part of the bourough-wide 

performance and take steps to agree split of responsibilities based 

on performance/capacity information received.

R-4

Risk that governance 

arrangements to support the 

objectives of the succession 

plans fail.

Political and economic Haringey Strategic 

Partnership (HSP)

H L Haringey Strategic Partnership (HSP) will provide mutually 

supportive roles between the Local Authority, other delivery 

partners and The Bridge Renewal Trust. This commitment is 

accompanied by a statement of how the partners will interrelate 

into the long term and work together in the future to monitor 

delivery and refine the succession strategy as necessary under 

the steer of the HSP Performance Management Group.   

R-5 Risk that succesful NDC 

projects are not 

maintreamed to the extent 

that will make a difference to 

local residents

Political and economic The Bridge Renewal Trust H L Underatke further negotiations with identified partners and agree 

achievable targets based on partners' improvement targets; 

Review LAA alignments and seek further HSP commitment.

R-6 Risk that projects that have 

been mainstreamed to the 

Council fail or do not benefit 

NDC area residents into the 

long term

Political and economic London Borough of Haringey H L Haringey Council will promote and intensify community involvment 

in the development and delivery of the projects or services.

R-7 Risk that assets that have 

been mainstreamed to the 

Council including proceeds 

of any disposals will not be 

used to benefit NDC area 

residents into the long term

Political and economic London Borough of Haringey H L Haringey Council will review and intensify community involvment in 

the management of the assets through Management Advisory 

Boards (MABs) such as currently opearting at the Triangle Centre 

and St Ann's Library Hall. Proceeds of any asset disposals will be 

used to provide alternative community benefit for the NDC area 

residents.

R-8 Risk that assets that have 

been mainstreamed to the 

Council are not properly 

maintained.

Political and economic London Borough of Haringey H L Haringey Council will review and set aside sufficient maintenance 

funds.

R-9 Risk that the ideas and 

initiatives contained in 

Neighbourhood Plan for 

Seven Sisters is not taken 

forward

Political, economic and 

commercial

London Borough of Haringey H M Promote the ideas and projects to developers and key partners; 

Encourage and support applications for funding through LDA, EU 

and other sources

Page 68



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 1 of 34 

 

 

 
 

APPENDIX 2.4 
 

 

Business Plan for  
The Bridge Renewal Trust 
June 2009 - March 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 2 of 34 

 

 
Contents 

 
1. Vision, Goals and Objectives 

 
3 
 

2. The Context 
 

6 

3. Operational Plan 
 

10 

4. Legal structure and Governance 
 

16 

5. Premises and the lease arrangements 
 

17 

6. Financial Plan 
 

18 

7. Accountability 
 

20 

8. People, management and roles 
 

21 

9. Communication and Community Engagement 
 

23 

10. Quality Assurance 
 

24 

11. Meeting the Local Area Agreement  Outcomes 
 

25 

12. Risk Analysis 
 

27 

13. Transition Plan 
 

29 

Appendices 
1: Financial Plan 
2. Rental Income 
3. Summary of Consultation and References 

 
31 
33 
34 

 

Page 70



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 3 of 34 

 

 
1. The Vision, Goals and Objectives of The Bridge NDC Successor Body 
 
This is the business plan for The Bridge Renewal Trust (hereafter called the Trust) 
operating in the Seven Sisters area of South Tottenham. The plan is for a 10 year 
period commencing in July 2009 to June 2019.  
 
The Trust is the asset holding successor body for The Bridge NDC which will come to 
an end in March 2011. It will encompass the Laurels Healthy Living Centre as a 
physical asset and with a broader remit to address health and wellbeing priorities in 
the area. 
 
The business plan follows extensive consultation with: 
 
• The Bridge NDC project team 
• The Bridge NDC Board 
• Key stakeholders including the Teaching Primary Care Trust (TNHS HARINGEY), 

the London Borough of Haringey, the Mental Health Trust, the Local Strategic 
Partnership, HAVCO and the Learning and Skills Council (LSC). 

• Residents 
• Voluntary and community organisations, particularly those focusing on health and 

wellbeing. 
 
All of the issues discussed, pointed to a clear role for a successor body that builds on 
the success of The Bridge NDC, initially using The Laurels Health Living Centre as its 
core platform, and which bridges the gap between the local community and health 
and social care services. 
 
The vision for Trust is: 
 
To significantly improve the health and wellbeing of people living in Seven 
Sisters by making it easy for them to influence, access and use integrated 
and relevant services. 
 
We will act as a delivery catalyst to supplement the efforts of our partners to provide 
effective, responsive and innovative health and social services in Seven Sisters, 
within our diverse and often hard to reach communities.  
 
We will represent the voice of our community in building pathways for optimum 
delivery of services to impact on the wider determinants of health, including housing, 
crime and employment. 
 
The Trust will be set up as a company limited by guarantee with charitable 
status. The purpose of the Trust is for the benefit of the community and is captured 
in its charitable objects as follows: 
 
 

• to promote and protect the physical and mental health of residents in and 
around the Seven Sisters area of South Tottenham, London (“the Area of 
Benefit”); and  

Page 71



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 4 of 34 

 

• the relief of unemployment for the benefit of residents in the Area of Benefit 
through a range of interventions including training and assistance to find 
employment; and 

• to relieve and prevent poverty amongst people living within the Area of 
Benefit; and 

• to further or benefit the residents of the Area of Benefit [and the surrounding 
neighbourhood,] [without distinction of sex, sexual orientation, race or of 
political, religious or other opinions] by associating together the said residents 
and local authorities, voluntary and other organisations in a common effort to 
advance education and to provide facilities and services in the interest of 
social welfare for the objective of improving the conditions of life for the 
residents.      

The Trust will achieve its aims by undertaking the following activities: 
 
(1) Constantly review and develop The Laurels Healthy Living Centre as a place for 
the delivery of responsive health-related services for local residents. The Charity will 
work with the community and service providers to facilitate delivery of health 
services that local people require. Services will include GP Services, Development 
Checks, Dietetics, Family Planning, Midwives, New born hearing screening, Speech 
Therapy, Spirometry, Counselling, Health Visitor sessions and Camidoc, Footcare, 
Phlebotomy, Diabetic clinics, Baby Immunisations and early stage therapy for mental 
health with services that target disadvantaged communities. 
 
(2) Deliver range of preventative health, wellbeing and social care services at  the 
Laurels Healthy Living Centre and through outreach including Health advice- 
delivered in culturally sensitive ways, Nutrition and dietary advice- healthy eating, 
Substance misuse and addiction services, Counselling services, Language support, 
Advocacy, Complimentary therapies and Welfare rights. 
 
(3) Provide affordable accommodation at the Laurels Healthy Living Centre and other 
support services to the voluntary and community sector, particularly small local 
groups. 
 
(4) Provide advocacy and voice for the community by acting as an ‘honest broker’ 
between the community and service providers such as London Borough of Haringey, 
the NHS Haringey, The Mental Health Trust and other statutory bodies and agencies. 
This role will be achieved through the composition of the Board of the Charity and 
through the creation of service user participation groups to that will assist with 
service development that meet local needs. The Charity will be a key channel for the 
statutory bodies to reach the communities living in the area. 
 
(5) Tackle worklesseness by providing education, employment and training services 
to young people and adults in need of such services 
 
(6) Create employment opportunities for unemployed people through the provision 
of business advice, support and training in order to set up and retain own 
businesses.  
 

Page 72



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 5 of 34 

 

(7) Promote public safety and prevent crime through public education and awareness 
projects. 
 
(8) Improve quality of life and create employment and training opportunities for 
disadvantaged and unemployed local residents by promoting social, physical and 
economic development of the area. 
 
Specifically, the advocacy and ‘community voice’ roles of The Trust will 
involve: 
 
• Holding assets for the benefit of the Community.   
• Based at the Laurels, it will build a mix of service delivery, and make the Laurels 

into a vibrant local centre for the community 
• It will work beyond the Laurels, outreaching to the community and working with 

a wide range of voluntary and community groups on health and social care 
matters. Through bidding for outside project funding it will increase the breadth 
and depth of services on offer 

• It will be a key channel for the statutory bodies to reach the communities living 
in the area, since it will be able to find new routes to match the needs of the 
users with provision 

• It will be a further way to represent the community voice to key strategic bodies 
in Haringey, and in this way be able to bend and influence the delivery of 
services 

• It will work with community, voluntary bodies and social enterprises of all sizes to 
offer a responsive and innovative mix of services out of the Laurels and beyond 
and it will work with new and growing social enterprises to build their capacity  

• It will work with Haringey Council, NHS Haringey and Mental Health Trust to act 
as a catalyst and pathfinder for new routes to access disadvantaged communities 
and individuals.   

• It will be in a unique position close to the point of delivery; to monitor the quality 
fit and mix of services delivered.  

• It will focus on outcomes for individuals, and thus make an active contribution to 
Local Area Agreement (LAA) targets for the Seven Sisters neighbourhood.  

 
The Wider determinants of Health 
 
The Trust will focus initially on health and wellbeing issues. This makes sense given 
the physical asset of The Laurels, existing services and the priorities for health in 
terms of the need for longer term interventions to achieve desired health outcomes. 
As the Trust becomes more established, it will broaden its remit to address some of 
the wider determinants of health, for example, skills and employment, and housing. 
 
In tandem, the Trust will acquire other physical assets where these add to the 
services provided to the community, and once its record of delivery and reliability has 
been established. 
 
 

Page 73



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 6 of 34 

 

2. The Context 
 
2.1 The Bridge NDC 
 
The most widely recognised achievements of the NDC have been in the creation of 
physical assets, such as The Laurels, and The Triangle Children’s centre.  These are 
seen by residents and stakeholders alike as the most recognisable and lasting legacy.  
The community would also claim a greater feeling of safety, and a pleasanter local 
environment, whilst recognising that the area still has a way to go on these 
measures.   
 
Most interestingly, the community have greatly valued the feeling of involvement and 
consultation in their own neighbourhood, and feel they have been able to influence 
initiatives in the locality.  The NDC has helped to build a community spirit and now 
has a group of local residents who are committed to making a difference, and 
‘looking out for one another’. 
 
The NDC has developed effective means of community engagement and 
empowerment. We have therefore built into the governance plan for the successor 
body, transparency and accountability which ensure resources and assets are used 
for the benefit of the local community. Securing charitable status for the  successor 
body will provide a suitable asset lock to ensure that any assets held are protected 
for this purpose.   
 
 
2.2 Health and Wellbeing in Haringey 
The NDC area of Haringey remains an area of significant health issues and 
inequalities: 
 
• The population is very transient and this creates both challenges and 

opportunities for the successor body.   
• A large population of people are not accessing health care 
• A significant percentage of people have language needs 
• A large percentage of refugees and asylum seekers with associated health issues  
• High rates of mental health issues- associated with a migrant population and high 

unemployment 
• Male life expectancy is 1.8 years below the national average, a reflection of the 

socio-economic status and deprivation within the area. 
• High rates of diabetes – in some parts of Haringey this is twice the national 

average 
• Excess of deaths from heart disease and cancer in the in the 20-64 year age 

groups 
• Higher rates of obesity among children than the national average (21.6% 

compared to 17.3% nationally) 
• A large number of people with conditions that would benefit from treatment but 

a lack of awareness of what is available. The needs therefore remain unmet. 
 
 
2.3 Health- the national context 
 
The January 2006 White Paper ‘Our Health, Our Care, Our say’ recognises that there 
is growing evidence that, where people are actively involved in choosing services and 

Page 74



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 7 of 34 

 

making decisions about the kind of treatment and care they get, the results are 
better. In addition, as the Health agenda moves towards asking people to take more 
responsibility for making choices in their lives that will promote their health and 
independence, they should have a greater say in the services provided. 
 
People have clearly stated that they want more convenient local health and social 
care services. They want different services more closely integrated to meet their 
needs, with better information provided to the people who use the services.   
The new emphasis on prevention will help close the health inequalities gap, which is 
all too evident in the very transient populations of the NDC area.   
 
Better links between health and social care are becoming an essential platform for 
more effective service delivery, as is innovation in delivery mechanisms, which will 
include a greater role for smaller, local organisations, social enterprises, and 
voluntary bodies, to meet local needs.  A focus on prevention rather than cure will 
put more control into individuals’ hands.   
 
Similarly the move towards practice based commissioning, allowing GPs to 
commission services most appropriate to the particular local needs 
will act as a driver for more responsive and innovative models of joined-up support 
within communities, delivering better health outcomes and well-being, including a 
focus on prevention. It will be in the interests of primary care practices to develop 
more local services, which will provide better value for money.   

The national context is for more joint commissioning between the NHS HARINGEYs 
and local authorities to achieve greater integration between primary and social care. 
A joint commissioning framework and shared outcomes will underpin this approach 
and the Local Area Agreement, a key mechanism for joint planning and delivery. 

The national priorities are reflected in Haringey’s Well Being Strategic Framework 
2007-2010 which sets out 7 key outcomes: 
 
§ Improved health and emotional wellbeing 
§ Improved quality of life 
§ Making a positive contribution 
§ Increased choice and control 
§ Freedom from discrimination or harassment 
§ Economic wellbeing 
§ Maintaining personal dignity and respect 
 
The Laurels Healthy Living Centre has been selected by NHS Haringey as one of 
three ‘polyclinics’ in Haringey. Polyclinics are intended to be the place where most 
routine healthcare needs are met and the “main stop for health and wellbeing” 
Polyclinics are planned to offer access to antenatal and postnatal care, healthy living 
information and services, community mental health services, community care, social 
care and specialist advice-all in one place. 
 
Currently 15000 patients are registered with the GPs based at The Laurels and in two 
year’s time this will have risen to 20 000.  NHS Haringey would like to see the 
Laurels become a ‘one-stop-shop’ for local healthcare needs.  
 
2.4 The people who live in the community - their vision 

Page 75



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 8 of 34 

 

 
The local residents have certainly felt the influence of the NDC initiative in the area – 
not just in the physical developments and improvements, although they are very 
visible, but in such things as: 
 

• The focus on the elderly has helped to build the social networks which go to 
the heart of a strong community.   

• Healthy eating awareness 
• Access to and awareness of a greater range of local services 
• Physical activities for children and young people, which has contributed to 

wellbeing, self-esteem, and provided external role models, which it is hoped 
will contribute to employment ambitions.   

• The residents feel consulted and more included.  They place a high value on 
the feeling of having some influence over their own neighbourhood.   

 
The local community is hoping that The Laurels will be a base for fully integrated 
excellent health and social care (for South Tottenham or part of it) that genuinely 
helps people to keep healthy, and acts as a ‘one-stop-shop’ for their day-to-day 
health needs.   
 
The NDC has already been able to influence the delivery of mainstream NHS 
Haringey services out of the Laurels, and in response to community demand, foot 
care and phlebotomy services have moved there from April 2008. This is seen as a 
significant improvement, and a very strong example of the effective representation 
that The Bridge NDC can provide on behalf of the community.  The community feel 
that there are many services which they would like an organisation like The Bridge 
NDC to help provide: 
 

• More information – what services are available and where / how to access 
them, with shorter waiting times 

• Social networks and support groups – residents want an environment where 
people look out for each other 

• Health promotion and education – whilst more has been done, particularly in 
schools, people, particularly children, are still making poor choices  

• Worklessness – continues to be high and creates complex social and well-
being issues 

• Someone should be able to integrate better the initiatives taken in hospitals, 
schools, and the council 

• Alcohol – is still causing a lot of problems in the neighbourhood, but also for 
families 

• Residents want to be involved, in the community, or through voluntary 
organisations 

• Services for older people 
• Health services should be provided within the community:  

o For the elderly 
o In managing long term conditions 
o Screening services 
o Footcare 
o Services for young people 

• A feeling of greater safety – which has clear links to well being and mental 
health 

 

Page 76



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 9 of 34 

 

2.5 The Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 
There are many community and voluntary groups in Haringey with a focus on 
improving health and wellbeing in the borough. Some of these are local arms of 
large well known charities, others are small and are responding to the specific needs 
of the local community. 
 
The VCS Wellbeing Theme Group brings these organisations together to consult on 
and influence the Haringey Strategic Partnership and its members on health and 
wellbeing priorities in the borough. HAVCO as the community and voluntary 
infrastructure organisation in Haringey work with the sector to build their capacity 
and assist with funding applications and quality matters. They recognise that the 
challenges for many voluntary and community groups remain premises- having a 
recognisable “shopfront” and funding. HAVCO can see a valuable role for the Trust 
as being an effective intermediary between the statutory and other funders and the 
community and voluntary groups on health and wellbeing issues. Some voluntary 
and community groups utilise space in The Laurels and this has proven successful in 
being able to access their target clients. Historically, the rental was free to the group 
but more recently a charging structure has been introduced - moving to a position 
over time of full cost recovery. 
 
2.6 What this means for the successor body- The Trust 
 
All of these factors point to a clear role for The Trust as the successor body. 
A role which: 
 
• Builds on the successes of the NDC programme and fully utilises its assets, 

specifically The Laurels Healthy Living Centre.  In time, further assets could also 
be built into this model.   

• Works to address the health and social care priorities in the area through the 
Laurels and through other channels 

• Works to assist the Local Authority, NHS Haringey and the MHT meet their 
objectives through greater involvement of the community 

• Supports and facilitates voluntary and community organisations to address the 
health and social care priorities 

 
Its role will over time broaden to address other factors which collectively impact on 
the health and wellbeing of the community –particularly skills and employment. 
 

Page 77



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 10 of 34 

 

3. The Operational Plan 
 
This section sets out what The Trust will do and the services it will deliver. It outlines 
how the organisation will operate and work with its key partners. 
 
The successor body will operate as a community organisation.  Community-based 
organisations provide an important alternative, bottom up, self-help approach that 
complements the interventions of most external agencies.The existence of strong 
sustainable community-based organisations offers significant benefits to public sector 
service providers. These agencies have the knowledge that there are organisations 
working locally that can tap into resources and networks that are not open to them. 
The activities that these organisations undertake can forestall the call on their 
services, complement those that they deliver, and provide early warning signs of 
changing needs. 
 
The Trust will therefore be a multi-purpose organisation, as recognised in the 
recently published work on Community Assets, and Community Ownership(i) It will 
have a range of income sources, whilst maintaining a very simple internal structure.   
 

 

 

 

 

After ‘Community Assets: the benefits and costs of community management and Ownership, Stephen Thake, Reader 
in Urban Policy, Centre for Social and Evaluation Research, London Metropolitan University 
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/communityassets 

 
The income sources will be: 
• Income from leasing space in the Laurels Healthy Living Centre to regular users 

such as primary care services 
• Income from the rental of space to enable multiple projects, activities and users 

to deliver services within the remit of The Trust. These could be social 
enterprises, community groups, or commercial tenants.   

• Delivery of service contracts for the statutory agencies and other organisations 
• Income from grants 

Page 78



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 11 of 34 

 

 
In order to take on contracts on a commercial basis, the new organisation will: 
• Meet the necessary quality criteria, by putting in place appropriately experienced, 

skilled staff, management structure and quality assurance procedures. These are 
further detailed in Sections 8 and 10.   

• Demonstrate commercial viability through this Business Plan. The financial 
projections are detailed in Appendix 1.   

• Show evidence of sound governance, and clarity of purpose, through having well-
defined roles, and structural safeguards for the protection of the community 
assets and utilisation of surplus generated. 

 
3.1 The Services 
 
The Trust will deliver the following services. It will have the flexibility to extend 
beyond the strictly delineated geographic boundaries of the NDC.  These boundaries 
have caused some on-the-ground anxieties for residents marginally outside the area, 
but equally in need.  A ‘greying’ of the existing boundaries will be helpful to all.  It 
will be a community facility open to who ever needs to access it.  
 
(1) The Laurels Healthy Living Centre as a place for the delivery of NHS 
Haringey  and Mental Health Trust services 
 
These services are already in place and will grow to reach more people and to 
provide a wider range of services. This development is in line with the intention to 
develop the Laurels into a polyclinic. NHS Haringey would like to extend the services 
provided at the Laurels as do the Mental Health Trust. 
 
The existing services are: 
 
GP Services 
Development Checks 
Dietetics 
Family Planning 
Midwives 
New born hearing screening 
Speech Therapy 
Spirometry 
Counselling 
Health Visitor sessions 
Camidoc 
 
The NDC has already influenced an increase in the availability of NHS Haringey 
services, in line with resident wishes. From April 2008 the following services became 
available at The Laurels: 
 
Footcare 
Phlebotomy 
Diabetic clinics 
Baby Immunisations 
 
The Mental Health Trust (MHT) is also looking to offer early stage therapy from The 
Laurels. This will involve a full time clinical technician plus a room with 3-5 

Page 79



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 12 of 34 

 

computers. They would be able to treat approximately 20 patients per day. In 
particular the MHT need to offer services to the large Turkish and Kurdish population 
in the area where they know there are high rates of depression and domestic 
violence.  
 
(2) The delivery of preventative health, wellbeing and social care services 
through the Laurels Healthy Living Centre and through outreach 
 
The preventative health, wellbeing and social care issues will include: 
 
Health advice- delivered in culturally sensitive ways 
Nutrition and dietary advice- healthy eating 
Substance misuse and addiction services 
Counselling services 
Language support 
Advocacy 
Complementary therapies 
Welfare rights 
 
The Trust will maximise the use of the space within the Laurels to both deliver these 
services directly and importantly through other organisations- using the community 
and voluntary sector as much as possible. It will not be enough to rely on people 
coming in to the Laurels and outreach services will be essential to reach those people 
particularly hard to reach. The Trust will promote volunteering and support people in 
the community to fulfil this important role. 
 
(3)  Providing accommodation, space and other services to the voluntary 
and community sector 
 
This builds on the current practice whereby voluntary and community groups utilise 
the NDC space within The Laurels. Historically this was rent free but latterly a rental 
model has been introduced to move to a full recovery position. The Trust will 
maximise the utilisation and occupancy of the space available to the voluntary and 
community sector while achieving competitive rates for rental income. The Trust will 
extend its operating hours to operate longer in the evening and over the weekend. 
This responds to feedback from the community and in addition opens its doors to a 
wider range of organisations as well as the community. In addition to the rental of 
space, the Laurels will accommodate events, workshops and drop-ins which a wider 
range of organisations can utilise. When referring to voluntary and community 
groups we are talking about small local groups as well as larger organisations with 
local representation.  
 
The existing Café space will be a key feature of the accommodation and service 
package. There needs to be a review of the need for a café as apposed to a 
pharmacy. The financial forecasts assume income for rent of the café space.  
 
The shared community room will be rented to five not for profit organisations 
working on health, well being or social care issues with the local community. 
This space at an affordable rate gives these organisations a base from which to 
operate and provides easy access for the community. 
 

Page 80



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 13 of 34 

 

The other rooms will be available on a sessional basis. The Trust will market these to 
a wide range of charities, the community and voluntary sector, statutory bodies and 
private companies. The following are given purely as examples of how organisations 
might use the facilities, in what ways and importantly how these meet the vision of 
the Trust. There are no firm commitments in place from any of the organisations 
mentioned.  These are proposed by way of example of the kind of services the Trust 
might consider.   
 
 

 
Ø Healthy Living Advisers to run events and surgery sessions for parents and 
children 
The rate of obesity among children is higher than the national average 
 
Ø MIND to hire the meeting room on a regular basis for people experiencing 
depression 
There are high rates of mental health needs in the area 
 
Ø Age Concern to hire a consulting room to hold surgery sessions with older 
people giving them advice on benefits and other support 
 
Ø St Mungos to hire a consulting room on a weekly basis for a GP to meet with 
homeless people advising them on health matters 
The population is very transient 
 
Ø The Alzeimer Society could hire the café and surrounding area for a drop in 
for people and their families 
 
Ø The Café could be used to do healthy eating talks and demonstrations 
Helping to tackle the obesity problem 
 
Ø The Citizens Advice Bureau could do regular surgery sessions as could other 
organisations giving advice and information- perhaps to certain community groups 
and in the appropriate language. 
A significant percentage of people have language needs 
 
Ø A refugee/asylum seeker support group could provide advice on health and 
social care. 
There are a large percentage of refugees and asylum seekers with 

associated health issues 

 
 

Page 81



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 14 of 34 

 

(4) An Advocacy and Voice for the community  
 
The Trust will represent the community on health and wellbeing issues in liaison with 
the London Borough of Haringey, NHS Haringey and MHT and other statutory bodies 
and agencies. Similarly they will provide an access channel to the community for 
these bodies. This role will be achieved through the composition of the Board of the 
Trust and through the creation of a service user participation group. The Trust will 
plan and manage regular workshops, forums and events as appropriate.  The Trust 
will be represented on the Haringey Local Strategic Partnership.   
 
(5) Expertise and a Coordination role 
 
To liaise with key stakeholders on health and wellbeing matters, to tender for 
funding from a range of sources and manage the effective delivery of these 
contracts. 
 

A key role of the Trust will be expertise to liaise with the statutory bodies, to tender 
for funds to deliver a wider range of services to the community and to manage the 
delivery of these services within the community and voluntary sector.  
The Trust will work with HAVCO and support bringing the VCS together on 
collaborative tenders to develop the capacity of the VCS to deliver. It will identify 
gaps in provision and support the development of delivery channels- again using the 
community wherever possible. The Trust will have expertise in tendering and funding 
applications and in contract management and delivery. 
 
These services will be built up over the five year period of this plan with the Laurels 
Healthy Living Centre as the starting point and a forecast target income by March 
2016 of over £1 million.  
 
3.2 Rental of Space within The Laurels 
 
A key objective of The Trust will be to maximise the occupancy and utilisation of the 
space within The Laurels for health, wellbeing and social care services. This will 
extend the range of services to the community, improve access by extending the 
operating hours and at the same time maximise the income which can be reinvested 
in the community. 
 
Ø The Trust will rent out the rooms in its part of The Laurels to a range of 

organisations working within the health, wellbeing and social care arena  
Ø These organisations will be from the private, charitable and community and 

voluntary sector including social enterprises. 
Ø We want to encourage and support a flexible use of the space and so the 

following arrangements will be established. 
Ø Some space will be available for rental on affordable terms for the community 

and voluntary sector delivering health and well being services to the community. 
Ø The Trust will support the establishment of new community and voluntary groups 

where these meet an identified need and existing gap in provision by offering 
space on these affordable terms and by providing additional support through the 
expertise of The Trust and key partners such as HAVCO. 

Ø Some space will be available for rent on a sessional basis designed to maximise 
the range of organisations using The Laurels and reaching the community. 

Page 82



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 15 of 34 

 

Ø The operating hours of the Laurels will be maximised and sessional hire will be 
based on the following sessional arrangements 

 
1. 09.00-12.30 
2. 13.30-17.00 
3. 17.30-21.00 
4. 10.00-13.00 ( Saturday mornings) 
 

Ø The sessional rates are detailed in Appendix 2 and have been developed 
following research into comparative fee structures in a range of community 
organisations 

Ø The Trust will market the space to the relevant private providers and the larger 
charities/bodies as a key access point for the community  

Ø The Trust will maximise the occupancy of the space over the period of this plan 
from 30% occupancy in year 1 to 60% occupancy by year 4. A 10% increase 
each year should be easily achievable. 

Ø As previously described, the focus at the outset will be health and wellbeing and 
over time it may be feasible to use the space for a wider remit. 

Ø Where The Trust is delivering services directly and using space within The 
Laurels to do so, the rental cost will be built into the service overheads.  

 
 
3.3 Working Practices 
 
The Trust will establish the following working practices: 
 
Ø An initial small core team of 4 (3 FTE) people will operate the basic services of 

the Trust at the Laurels 
Ø The Laurels Project Manager will have specific responsibility for the overall 

management of The Laurels Healthy Living Centre reporting to The Trust Director 
Ø As is currently the case, facilities management will be contracted out to a 

management company 
Ø NHS Haringey services delivered at The Laurels will be managed by a NHS 

Haringey Manager as now 
Ø The Laurels Project Manager will manage the utilisation of the dedicated Trust 

space 
Ø A Laurels Operating Guide will set out what type of organisation can use The 

Laurels to ensure they are aligned with the purpose of The Trust and the 
conditions of use. 

Ø The Laurels Project Manager will promote the Laurels and attract a number of 
voluntary community organisations into the Laurels, delivering relevant services, 
and work with these organisations where necessary to up skill them and ensure 
they are self-supporting. 

Ø The Bridge Project and Contracts Manager will work with The Bridge Chief 
Executive to develop and deliver a range of project and contracts. 

 
For additional commissioned services, the Trust will: 
 
Ø Recruit or contract additional people as needed 
Ø Ensure all additional overhead costs such as space, are fully costed into the 

tender finances 
Ø Strictly adhere to financial and performance reporting requirements 

Page 83



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 16 of 34 

 

 
4. Legal Structure and Governance 
 
The Trust will have as its purpose: 
 
• Improved services 
• Local accountability and involvement 
• Social Return on Investment 
• Commitment to serving the community 
 
The Trust will be company limited by guarantee and a charity governed by a Board 
of Trustees. It is proposed that a maximum of 10 Directors/Trustees  are drawn from 
a balance of the following sources: 
 
• Local residents (including NDC Resident Board members) 4 
• London Borough of Haringey     2 
• NHS Haringey       1 
• Mental Health Trust      1 
• Co-opted Members eg legal and financial expertise  2 
 
 
No one group will dominate the Board. Directors will be chosen to ensure an 
appropriate skills mix is available.  This skills mix should include: 
 

• Members of the community who understand the community and its 
diversity 

• An understanding of health issues 
• Legal 
• Financial 
• General organisational and management skills. 

 
Community members will be selected by a transparent process of nomination with 
selection by a panel of other members of the Board. A development programme for 
the Board will be put in place.  
 
The transition period involving initial Trustees appointed by the NDC Partnership 
Board will allow for some continuity whilst enabling other people to become involved.  
As one of the underpinning requirements for the success of The Trust will lie in  
having an appropriately high quality Board, the selection of members will be key.   
  
A Service User Participation Group will also be established to inform the future 
development and improvement of the services provided through the Trust. 
 

Page 84



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 17 of 34 

 

5.  Premises and the Laurels Lease Arrangements 
 
The current lease arrangements are as follows: 
 
1. Circle 33 is the Head lease holder and the landlord to the Mayor and Burgesses 

of the London Borough of Haringey (the Council) 
2. The Mayor and Burgesses of the London Borough of Haringey (the Council) are 

the tenants of Circle 33, having the lease of the building for 125 yrs 
3. The Mayor and Burgesses of the London Borough of Haringey (the Council) is the 

landlord of the Haringey Teaching Primary Care Trust,   
4. NHS Haringey, formerly Haringey Teaching Primary Care Trust, holds a sublease 

and is the tenant of council (25 yrs at market rent) 
5. NDC is a sub tenant of NHS Haringey (25 year) 
 
It is proposed that the current lease arrangements will be maintained with the 25 
year NDC sub-tenancy being re-assigned to The Bridge Renewal Trust. The 
Successor body will also derive benefits from the rental income from the building. 
Haringey Council does not derive any direct financial benefit from any of the lease 
arrangements. 
 

Page 85



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 18 of 34 

 

6. The Financial Plan 
 
Financial spreadsheet relating to Years 1 to 5 of activities is shown in Appendix 1.  
Key assumptions are: 
 

• The major stakeholders including Haringey Local Authority, NHS Haringey and 
the MHT all contract for service delivery with The Trust.  They have all 
indicated a willingness to do this, although the amounts assumed are 
relatively small.   

• The rental pricing structure outlined in Appendix 2 is implemented for the 
dedicated Trust space with an increase in occupancy over the 5 years of 30% 
to 60%. 

• The current Café space  is rented out to, say, a pharmacy service 
• The Laurels is currently the only asset used for planning purposes, although 

future growth to include other assets should not be discounted.   
• Activities are based on community health care services 
• To grow further, there will need to be further assets involved.   

 
This creates an organisation turning over £0.5m per year by year five, employing an 
initial core staff of 3 FTE. 
 
6.1 Financial Management 
 
Income and Surplus Available for Reinvestment given the above assumptions: 
 
 

  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total 

TOTAL INCOME £555,000 £432,000 £509,700 £512,889 £551,663 £2,561,252 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE £358,706 £417,830 £495,092 £504,994 £546,544 £2,323,165 

RETAINED NET 

SURPLUS/CONTINGENCY £196,294 £14,171 £14,608 £7,895 £5,120 £238,087 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 19 of 34 

 

7. Accountability 
 

• As a company with charitable objectives, the Trust will be as focused on 
activities that is for public benefit.   

• It will be obliged by charity commission to serve the interest of the 
community thus keeping its aims fixed on its public benefit. 

• As a small local organisation with a limited number of commissioning clients, 
it will be obliged to focus firmly on reliable delivery and agreed outcomes, in 
order to sustain a flow of delivery contracts.   

 
 

Page 87



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 20 of 34 

 

8.  People, management and roles 
 
The Trust will start up with lean people resources, building these over time as 
needed. In order to manage and deliver the above services the starting structure will 
be: 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Trust Chief Executive 
 
Overall responsibility reporting to the Board of Trustees.  Specific responsibility for 
liaison with the key stakeholders and statutory bodies in order to communicate the 
needs of the local community. Identifying funding opportunities which meet The 
Trust’s goals and tendering for contracts will be important. Will be responsible for 
representing and promoting The Trust, recruiting and managing staff. 
 
Programme Manager 
 
Responsibility for managing The Laurels Healthy Living Centre within the Trust 
organisation. They will  

The Trust Chief Executive 
Overall responsibility 
Support the Board of Trustees 
Liaise with key stakeholders 
Tender for contracts 
Contract Management 
Staff recruitment and management 

Programme Manager 

 
Managing the Laurels HLC  
Occupancy of The Laurels 
Assist the CE with tenders  
Contract delivery 
Community Advocacy 

 

Finance and Administrative 
Assistant 

 
Administrative support for contract and 
financial management and general 
admin of the Trust 

Project Worker(s) 

 
Project delivery 
Position(s) filled subject to contracts 

Page 88



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 21 of 34 

 

• maximise occupancy and utilisation of the Laurels facility 
• Liaise with the managers of NHS Haringey services being delivered from The 

Laurels 
• Work closely with the CE to identify service gaps and funding opportunities 
• Responsible for the project and contract delivery working with the project 

team- whether they are employed, contracted, volunteers or other 
community and voluntary organisations. 

 
The Finance and Contract Assistant 
 
Responsible for all administration and basic financial and contract management. 
 
It would greatly help the Trust to attract the appropriate calibre and experience level 
if the staff employment terms and conditions were similar to those offered by 
Haringey Council at present.  In particular the pension could be part of the council 
scheme, as has been the case in other similar successor bodies.   
 
 

Page 89



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 22 of 34 

 

9. Communication and Community Engagement 
 
There are four strands to the marketing and promotion of The Trust. 
 
Ø Marketing to the statutory bodies and other organisations with the purpose of 
securing commissions and grants for services. This will be done by the Board of 
Trustees and by the Chief Executive through effective relationship building and 
management 
 
Ø Marketing the Laurels space to a wide range of private, community and 
voluntary organisations. This will be the responsibility of the Programme Manager 
who will undertake tours, events, proactive contact to achieve the occupancy targets. 
The Programme Manager will develop a calendar of events and workshops which will 
be promoted to the local community directly and through relevant organisations 
 
Ø Promoting the Trust to the community as the access point for health, 
wellbeing and social care issues and as the body that listens and influences public 
health providers. This will be achieved by: 
 
• Effective delivery on the ground 
• Outreach work deploying local community workers and volunteers 
• The Service User Participation Group 

• By a regular programme of forums and consultative events 
 
Ø NHS Haringey, the MHT and community and voluntary organisations will want 
to action their own marketing. This will be within the overall brand of The Trust 
brand and this will be a condition of lease and room hire.  
 
9.1 Community Engagement 
 
The engagement of the community is essential to secure the success of The Trust 
and will be achieved by: 
 
Ø Local resident representation on the Board of Trustees. 
Ø A Service User Participation Group 
Ø Opening up The Laurels to the community and voluntary sector-for more 

organisations to use and with extended opening hours 
Ø Recruiting and training volunteers from the community to outreach to the “hard 

to reach” and to deliver awareness and information. The Trust will seek funding 
to action this. This will not only deliver health messages to the community but 
will up-skill and engage the volunteers.  

Ø An annual community/social audit which will engage the community in improving 
the services being delivered 

 
 

Page 90



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 23 of 34 

 

10. Quality Assurance 
 
To be the community organisation with which local stakeholders want to contract, 
the Trust will achieve high quality standards of delivery. 
 
Ø It will be well governed with a balanced and skilled Board of Trustees 
Ø The employed team will be capable with a proven track record of relevant work 

and achievement that builds on the track record of the NDC 
Ø Volunteers will be recruited and managed using professional people management 

practices 
Ø Service delivery will be tightly monitored and managed - both for projects 

delivered directly or through other organisations 
Ø In partnership with HAVCO, Support will be given to develop the capacity of 

community and voluntary groups 
Ø The Trust will invite regular feedback from the Service User Participation Group 

on the quality of services on how they can be improved 
Ø The Trust will action an annual community /social audit deriving feedback from 

the community and from all other stakeholders. This will provide the basis on 
which to plan ongoing improvements 

Ø The Trust will seek quality accreditations such as Customer First and Investor in 
people (IiP) where these will demonstrably improve the quality of services and 
/or are essential to secure grants and contracts. 

 
 
10.1 Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
Regular monitoring and evaluation of performance will be essential for the Trust, 
both for any commercial contracts undertaken, and also in terms of regular reviews 
of performance against this and other plans.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 24 of 34 

 

11. Meeting the Local Area Agreement Outcomes 
 
The Trust is committed to working in close and effective partnership with Haringey council and all stakeholders to meet local needs and deliver 
the LAA outcomes in the area of benefit. We will achieve this by improving access to appropriate services without taking over the delivery of 
statutory services.  
 

Community 
Strategy/Priority 

National Indicators Set The Trust Objectives/Targets 

Economic vitality prosperity 
shared by all 

Working age people claiming 
out of work benefits NI153 
16- 18 year olds not in 
education, training or 
employment  NI 117 

• Improved access and provision of health, well being, social care services which will impact on 
economic prosperity of all 

• Support for community and voluntary groups  
• Using the community to deliver outreach services 
• Initial focus on health and wellbeing – in time broaden remit to skills & employment 

Be safer for all Drug users in effective 
treatment NI 40 
Reduce the harm caused by 
illegal drugs 
Repeat Incidents of Domestic 
Violence NI 32 

• The Laurels HLC as a place for delivery of NHS Haringey  and MHT services 
• Delivery of preventative health, wellbeing and social care services through the Laurels and 

through outreach, such as provision of substance misuse and addiction services 

Healthier people with a 
better quality of life 

Early access of women to 
maternity services NI126 
Prevalence of breast feeding at 
6-8 weeks from birth NI53 
Under 18 conception rate 
NI112 
Prevalence of Chlamydia in 
under 20 year olds NI113 
16+ current smoking rate 
prevalence NI123 
Alcohol harm related hospital 
admission rates NI 39 
Mortality rate from all 
circulatory diseases NI121 

The Laurels HLC as a place for delivery of NHS Haringey and MHT services 
• Promote the benefits of active living 
• Smoking cessation clinics 
• Alcohol related services 
 
Delivery of preventative health, wellbeing and social care services through the Laurels and through 
outreach 
• Access to HIV testing 
• Support for families with children with a disability through drop ins and through voluntary 

homecarers 
• Provision of maternity services 
• Healthy Eating awareness  
• Sexual health and sexually transmitted diseases clinics 

P
a

g
e
 9

2



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 25 of 34 

 

Number of vulnerable people 
achieving independent living 
NI141 
 

People and customer 
focused 
 
People at the heart of 
change 

% of people who feel that they 
can influence decisions in their 
locality NI4 
Fair treatment by local services 
NI140 
Participation in regular 
volunteering NI6 
% of people who believe 
people from different 
backgrounds get on well 
together in their local area NI1 

• To fulfil an advocacy and conduit role 
• Expertise and Co-ordination 
• Providing accommodation, space and other services to the voluntary & community sector 
• Delivery of services through outreach using the community  
 
The Trust to manage the delivery of services commissioned by the statutory bodies 
Service User participation group 
Represented on the HSP 
Local people on the Board of Trustees 
Engage local people in volunteering roles such as volunteer carers, leaders of activity sessions, 
healthy eating advisers 

 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

3



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 26 of 34 

 

 
12. Risk Analysis Reference has been made to The Quirk Review of community management and ownership of public assets (ii) 
 

Risk Actions to mitigate 

Laurels is not transferred to the successor body Ø Start discussing lease arrangements with London Borough of Haringey and NHS 
Haringey as soon as possible. An immediate requirement is the gifting of surplus 
income from the Laurels to the NDC Successor body (This figure is currently 
£285,000 per year plus savings made by the NDC which the Council has been 
carrying forward every yea r- this amounts to £225,000 at the end of 2008/09) 

The Trust does not have the capacity to take over and manage the asset Ø Clear definition of the required people resource and capabilities required 
Ø The composition and skills of the Board of Trustees 
Ø Develop an organisational development plan and adopt relevant quality 

standards. 
Ø Effective transition plan pre transfer 

The asset is not managed effectively and remains under-utilised Ø Viable business plan  
The asset is not used in the public interest- taken over by an 
unrepresentative or unaccountable minority. Access to the asset is not 
inclusive 

Ø Establishing The Trust as a charity with the asset lock and subject to public 
benefit assessment 

Ø Composition of the Board 
Ø The provision of space for community development support to smaller 

community and voluntary organisations 
Ø Leasehold and “Expectations Document” which set out how the assets can be 

used 
Ø Establishment of a Service User Participation Group 

The Trust is unsuccessful in securing the projected income through 
commissioning, grant and bid funding 
 
 

Ø Modest income projections until The Trust is fully established 
Ø Establish a diverse income stream 
Ø Build expertise and capability within the team ref securing funding/building 

relationships etc 
Ø Prove track record of delivery, and the contribution the Trust can make to LAA 

and NHS Haringey targets 

The former Café space is not let Ø Explore various options for use of the space including pharmacy and other usage 
by NHS Haringey and VCS.   

Further assets are not forthcoming Ø Demonstrate to London Borough of Haringey that the Trust is not just ‘a safe 
pair of hands’ but also innovative by making a success of the Laurels as a 

P
a

g
e
 9

4



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 27 of 34 

 

community facility. 
Ø Strong and effective governance 

The Trust is not recognised as a representative voice of the community Ø Demonstrate to Key Stakeholders that all interests are accommodated and 
ensure the organisation has transparent governance and operation 

 

P
a
g
e
 9

5



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 28 of 34 

 

 
13. Transition Plan 
 
A plan for the transition to The Trust is detailed in the attached project plan. 
This shows the key issues to be addressed before the NDC funding ends and a 
proposed timeline. 
 
This affords The Bridge NDC a significant period of time to gear up to the following 
challenges: 
 
• Provision of crucial support and resourcing from the NDC whilst it is operational 
• Working with NHS Haringey and MHT to develop a plan of action for NHS 

Haringey and MHT services delivered within the Laurels and to refine operating 
practices 

• To pilot and plan a range of community based health and wellbeing services 
• To test the rental and pricing policy for the Trust space and refine procedures 
• To promote and market The Trust in advance of its official launch 
• To build relationships with the statutory bodies and other organisations 
• To gear up capacity for tendering for contracts 
• To refine the services based on ongoing consultation and feedback with the local 

community 
• To achieve the rental of the former café space 

Page 96



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 29 of 34 

 

Transition Plan June 2009 - March 2011 
 

 Apr-June 
2009 

Jul-Sept 
2009 

Oct-Dec 
2009 

Jan-Mar 
2010 

Apr-June 
2010 

Jul-Sept 
2010 

Oct-Dec 
2010 

Jan-Mar 
2011 

Appoint three initial Trustees 
from the NDC Board to 
manage the transition plan 

        

Set up Company limited by 
guarantee 

 
 

 
 

      

Apply for and secure 
Charitable Status 

        

Recruitment of Full Board of 
Trustees (x10)   

        

Utilise the Health Theme 
Working Group as 
consultative group during the 
transition 

        

Initiate and agree Forward 
strategy for The Laurels with 
the Council, NHS Haringey & 
MHT 

        

Develop & deliver marketing 
plan to promote the Laurels 
space 

        

Secure ongoing external 
contracts 

  
 

      

Recruit key staff starting with 
Director and project delivery 
staff 

        

Review governance and 
operations of the Trust and 
implement changes as 
appropriate 

       
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

7



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 30 of 34 

 

Appendix 1 Financial Plan 
Year 1 - 5       

       

Income and expenditure account       

  Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Y4  Yr 5 Total 

INCOME          

Rental Income          

The Laurels- Gifted income £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 £1,425,000 

Room rental income £8,000 £10,000 £12,000 £14,000 £16,000 £60,000 

Pharmacy rental income   £10,000 £10,300 £10,609 £10,927 £41,836 
Laurels Start Up Fund (from unspent 
income from the Laurels) £225,000       £225,000 

External Contracts          

NDC Projects £15,000       £15,000 

Health Projects (NHS/MHT) £20,000 £75,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £395,000 

Employment Projects   £25,000 £50,000 £50,000 £50,000 £175,000 
Other Bids Projects (eg capacity building 
etc)   £25,000 £50,000 £50,000 £85,000 £210,000 

TOTAL INCOME £553,000 £430,000 £507,300 £509,609 £546,927 £2,546,836 

          

EXPENDITURE          

Facility Costs          

Service charge payable to Circle 33 £9,456 £9,692 £9,935 £10,183 £10,438 £49,704 

Rent payable to NHS Haringey £95,000 £95,000 £95,000 £95,000 £95,000 £475,000 

TOTAL FACILITY COSTS £104,456 £104,692 £104,935 £105,183 £105,438 £524,704 

Staff Costs          

Chief Executive £50,000 £51,500 £53,045 £54,636 £56,275 £265,457 

Programme Manager £35,000 £36,050 £37,132 £38,245 £39,393 £185,820 

Finance and Admin Assistant £20,000 £20,600 £21,218 £21,855 £22,510 £106,183 

On costs (@ 20%) £21,000 £21,630 £22,279 £22,947 £23,636 £111,492 

Staff Training  (@4% of payroll) £3,400 £3,502 £3,607 £3,715 £3,827 £18,051 

Staff Travel £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £7,500 

TOTAL STAFF COSTS £130,900 £134,782 £138,780 £142,899 £147,141 £694,502 

Direct Costs towards Charitable Objectives          

Scholarships (Medical/Health Fileds)   3000 6000 9000 12000 £30,000 

Laurels Funded Projects 40000 40000 40000 40000 40000 £200,000 

NDC Projects £13,500.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £13,500 

Health Projects (NHS/MHT) £18,000.0 £67,500.0 £90,000.0 £90,000.0 £90,000.0 £355,500 

Employment Projects £0.0 £22,500.0 £45,000.0 £45,000.0 £45,000.0 £157,500 
Other Bids Projects (eg capacity building 
etc) £0.0 £22,500.0 £45,000.0 £45,000.0 £76,500.0 £189,000 

TOTAL CHARITABLE OBJECTIVES £71,500 £155,500 £226,000 £229,000 £263,500 £945,500 

Marketing and Promotion          

Marketing materials £5,000 £2,500 £2,500 £2,500 £2,500 £15,000 

Events £2,000 £2,060 £2,122 £2,185 £2,251 £10,618 

Website development £10,000 £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 £14,000 

TOTAL MARKETING COSTS £17,000 £5,560 £5,622 £5,685 £5,751 £39,618 

Other Overheads          

Evaluation £1,500 £1,545 £1,591 £1,639 £1,688 £7,964 

Set up costs £20,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £20,000 

Equipment, Purchase, Hire and Repair £1,000 £1,030 £1,061 £1,093 £1,126 £5,309 

Printing Stationery and Office Expenses £1,500 £1,545 £1,591 £1,639 £1,688 £7,964 

Photocopier hire £500 £515 £530 £546 £563 £2,655 

Computer Costs £500 £515 £530 £546 £563 £2,655 

Page 98



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 31 of 34 

 

Telephone and broadband £1,200 £1,236 £1,273 £1,311 £1,351 £6,371 

Post and courier £200 £206 £212 £219 £225 £1,062 

IT support £600 £618 £637 £656 £675 £3,185 

Payroll services £300 £309 £318 £328 £338 £1,593 

Bank Fees £200 £206 £212 £219 £225 £1,062 

Legal Fees £1,000 £1,030 £1,061 £1,093 £1,126 £5,309 

Audit £500 £515 £530 £546 £563 £2,655 

Insurance £2,000 £2,060 £2,122 £2,185 £2,251 £10,618 

Other Professional Fees £2,000 £2,060 £2,122 £2,185 £2,251 £10,618 

Board expenses and trustee training £1,600 £1,648 £1,697 £1,748 £1,801 £8,495 

Depreciation £250 £258 £265 £273 £281 £1,327 

TOTAL OTHER OVERHEADS £34,850 £15,296 £15,754 £16,227 £16,714 £98,841 

          

TOTAL EXPENDITURE £358,706 £415,830 £491,092 £498,994 £538,544 £2,303,165 

          
RETAINED NET 
SURPLUS/CONTINGENCY £194,294 £14,171 £16,208 £10,615 £8,384 £243,671 

 
 
Financial Forecast 
Year 6 - 10       

  Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9  Yr 10 Total 

TOTAL INCOME 601,620 661,782 727,960 800,756 880,832 6,219,787 

TOTAL FACILITY COSTS 108,074 118,881 130,769 143,846 158,231 1,184,506 

EXPENDITURES       

TOTAL STAFF COSTS 150,819 165,901 182,491 200,741 220,815 1,615,269 
TOTAL CHARITABLE 
OBJECTIVES 270,088 297,096 326,806 359,486 395,435 2,594,411 

TOTAL MARKETING COSTS 5,895 6,484 7,133 7,846 8,631 75,607 

TOTAL OTHER OVERHEADS 17,132 18,845 20,729 22,802 25,082 203,431 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 552,007 607,208 667,929 734,722 808,194 5,673,225 

       
RETAINED NET 
SURPLUS/CONTINGENCY 49,613 54,574 60,031 66,035 72,638 546,562 

 
 
 

Page 99



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 32 of 34 

 

Page 100



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 33 of 34 

 

Appendix 2: Rental Income from The Laurels 2009/10 - 2013/14 
         

Appendix 2: Rental Income from The Laurels 2009/10 - 2013/14  

         

Full 
Occupancy 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Calculation 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 

Space Rental 
Basis 

Unit 
Cost 

(based on 

44 weeks 
per year) 

          

NHS 
HARINGEY 

space 

1392.50 

sqm 

  

Sub 
lease 

£285,000 
pa 

n/a £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 £285,000 

The Trust Space 

Shared 

Community 
Room 

52.80 sqm 

Rental  4 desk 
spaces 

6000 £2,400 £3,000 £3,600 £4,200 £4,800 

Pharmacy 
(former 

Kitchen 
and store) 

46.1sqm 

Rental £190 
psm 

£8,759   £8,759 £9,022 £9,292 £9,517 

Consulting 
Room 1 

12sqm 

Sessional £10 per 
hour 

£13,200 £5,280 £6,600 £7,920 £9,240 £10,560 

Consulting 

Room 2 

12sqm 

Sessional £10 per 
hour 

£13,200 £5,280 £6,600 £7,920 £9,240 £10,560 

Consulting 

Room 3 

12.2 sqm 

Sessional £10 per 
hour 

£13,200 £5,280 £6,600 £7,920 £9,240 £10,560 

NDC 
Groom 

Room 
(next to 

consulting 
rooms) 

23.3sqm 

Waiting 
area 

              

Sub Total 
(Trust 

Space) 

    54359 £18,240 £31,559 £36,382 £41,212 £45,997 

Total 
(Gifted and 

Rental) 

      £303,240 £316,559 £321,382 £326,212 £330,997 

         

         

Notes and Assumptions       

o         Assumes no increase in rental costs over the 5 year period   

Page 101



   

The Bridge Renewal Trust Business Plan  Page 34 of 34 

 

 
 

Appendix 3: Summary of Consultation 
 

Cllr Bob Harris Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Well–being, London Borough of 
Haringey 

Cllr Clare Kober Leader, London Borough of Haringey 
Cllr Isidoros 
Diakedes 

Councillor, Former Cabinet Member for Housing Services, London Borough 
of Haringey 

Niall Bolger London Borough of Haringey, Director of Urban Environment 
  
Helena Pugh London Borough of Haringey, Health Development, Adult Services 
James Slater Haringey NHS HARINGEY, Director of Commissioning and Performance 
Christina 
Gradowski 

Haringey NHS HARINGEY, Former Director of Corporate services and 
Partnership 

Maria Kane Chief Executive, Haringey MHT 
Paul Head Vice Chair, Haringey Strategic Partnership 
Pam Pemberton 
 

HAVCO 

Yolande Burgess Partnerships Director LSC London North 
 Wellbeing Theme Group 

 
 

References 
 

(i)Community Assets and Community Ownership 
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/communityassets 
 
(ii)The Quirk Review  
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/makingassetswork 
 

Page 102



 

1 

 
 

Meeting:  Haringey Strategic Partnership   
    
Date:   5 November 2009   
 
Report Title:  Local Area Agreement Performance Update to August 2009 
 
Report of: Eve Pelekanos – Head of Policy and Performance 
 

1. Purpose  
 

1.1  To provide an update on the latest performance data against the Local Area 
Agreement targets.   

 

2. Summary: 
 
2.1 In June 2008 Haringey signed a new Local Area Agreement (LAA) which was 

refreshed and signed off by ministers in June 2009 
 

2.2 The LAA includes 35 ‘designated’ improvement targets and 10 educational 
attainment targets along with 40 local indicators including stretch targets and 5 
safeguarding indicators which were added in the refresh from April 2009. 
 

2.3 This report provides the latest available performance information on the indicators 
contained within the LAA.  

 
2.4 The latest data shows that overall, 37% (31) are reported as green or amber, 22% 

(19) as red and 41% (35) as data not available at the time of writing this report.   
 

2.5 Where data is only available once a year, the latest available data is shown. 
Performance highlights are provided under the six Haringey Sustainable 
Community Strategy Outcomes, and an update is provided on the 13 stretch targets 
which form part of the LAA.  

 
2.6 Exception reports are provided for our areas for focus (Appendix 1): 

• Serious violent crime 

• Initial and core assessments for children’s social care 

• Under 18 conception rate 

• Net additional homes and affordable homes  

• Recycling 

• Number of people on job seekers allowance helped into sustained work 
 

3. Legal/Financial Implications 
3.1  The Council’s Chief Financial Officer has been consulted on the contents of this 
report and notes the positive progress made on the 13 stretch targets.  It should be 
noted that final assessment and payment of the performance reward grant (PRG) will not 
take place until the end of the final year i.e. 2009/10.  It should also be borne in mind 
that the actual sum paid depends on the level of stretch attained. 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 103



 

2 

4. Recommendations 
 
4.1 That the Strategic Partnership:  
 

• Consider the latest performance for the Local Area Agreement and 
remedial actions to be taken to address areas of risk. 

• Consider progress against the agreed LAA ‘stretch targets’ for 2007-2010. 
 

For more information contact: 
 
Name: Becky Cribb 
Title: Project Officer, Policy and Performance 
Tel: 020 8489 2971 
Email address: rebecca.cribb@haringey.gov.uk  
 

 

5. Background 

 
5.1 In June 2008 Haringey signed a new Local Area Agreement which was 

refreshed and signed off by ministers in June 2009.  The new LAA was 
developed within a new framework whereby 35 targets were chosen, selected 
from the list of 198 new national indicators.  These 35 improvement targets 
encompass our key priority areas for the next three years.  In addition to the 35 
there are 10 statutory education attainment targets.  40 local indicators have 
been developed for areas where local priorities were not reflected among the 
198 national indicators. 

 
5.2 The full scorecard is available on the Haringey website (see link below). It sets out 

the latest available performance information. A significant number of the 
indicators lend themselves to annual reporting, the 2008/09 outturn is therefore 
provided as 2009/10 data is outstanding. Also included is the 2008/09 London 
average where available. 

 
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/index/council/performance_and_finance/council_inspecti
ons/performance-reports/hsp_performance_quarters.htm 

6. Performance overview  
 

6.1 The table below shows the status for the 35 designated LAA targets and 10 
mandatory education attainment targets. 

 
 

 

 

 

7.

Summary for 35 LAA Indicators  and 10 Mandatory Indicators 
 
Details Status based on 

August 2009/10 
Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 11 (24.4%) Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 3 (6.7%) Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 12 (26.7%) Red 

Number of indicators where data not  available 
Baseline Year/ No Target/ Not Measured 

19 (42.3%) 
       

 

Page 104



 

3 

 Key performance messages    
 
People at the heart of change 
 
Of the 12 indicators under this outcome:  
 

 
v With the exception of graffiti, provisional results for litter, detritus and fly 

posting exceed the targets set for 2009/10 (NI 195). 
 
v 14 parks have achieved/retained green flag status, exceeding the stretch 

target of 12. 
 
v Forecast data for net additional homes provided, indicates that there will be 

433 additional homes in 2009/10 against a target of 1602 (NI 154). 
 
 
An environmentally sustainable future 
 
Of the 7 indicators under this outcome: 

 
 

v It is unlikely that the recycling target of 32% will be achieved in 2009/10. There 
is an ongoing drive to increase recycling participation and performance with a 
detailed action plan in place aimed at improving performance in future years 
as well (NI 192). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Economic vitality and prosperity shared by all 

People at the heart of change 
 

Details Status based on 
August 2009/10 

Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 5 Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 0 Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 2 Red 

Number of indicators where data not yet available 
 

5 
 

 

An environmentally sustainable future 
 

Details Status based on 
August 2009/10 

Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 0 Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 0  Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 1 Red 

Number of indicators where data not yet available 
 

6 
 

 

Page 105



 

4 

 
Of the 22 indicators under this outcome: 

 
v The NEET (16-18 year olds Not in Employment, Education or Training) level 

has stabilised at a level below the 2010 stretch target of 10.4% (NI 117). 
 
v The proportion of ‘Not knowns’ (these are the young people whose status in 

respect of being in education, employment or training is not known) as at 
August is 3.6%, below last August’s at 8.3% and the rolling year target of 
9.9%. 

 
v The educational attainment indicators and DCSF value-added measure for 

2008 shows that Haringey pupils are making good progress from KS2 to 
GCSE. 

 
v In ‘Achievement of 5 or more A*-C grades at GCSE (incl. English and Maths)’,  

Haringey is now 5.6 percentage points below the national rate, a significant 
improvement from 13.4 percentage points below the national target in 2003 

 
Safer for all 
 
Of the 16 indicators under this outcome: 
 

 
v There have been 215 violent crimes in the year to August against a target of 

148, a 39.6% increase on the same period last year (NI 15).  
 
v Performance on initial assessments for children’s social care carried out within 

7 days of referral has improved from 11.9% in June to 25.9% in August, 
although this remains below the 53% target (NI59).  
 

Economic vitality and prosperity shared by all 
 

Details Status based on 
August 2009/10 

Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 6 Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 2  Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 7 Red 

Number of indicators where data not yet available 
 

7 
 

 

Safer for all 
 

Details Status based on 
August 2009/10 

Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 7 Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 2  Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 3 Red 

Number of indicators where data not yet 
available 
 

4 
  
 

 

Page 106



 

5 

v The percentage of core assessments carried out in 35 working days improved 
in July to 49.3% but reduced again to 31.9% in August, below the 63% target 
(NI60).  

 
v The number of repeat victims of domestic violence has reduced to 122 as at 

September ’09 (12 month rolling year) against a target of 156.   
 

v The increase in personal robberies reported last time has reduced to just over 
0.5% when compared with the same period last year. This is one of our stretch 
targets and progress in this area over the last two years should put us on track 
to achieve the stretched improvement target.  

 
v The latest provisional figures (2008/09) for Hospital admissions for Alcohol 

Related Harm indicate that we have missed the target by 51 cases (NI39).   
 
Healthier people with a better quality of life 
 
Of the 27 indicators under this outcome: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
v Prevalence of breast-feeding is on target (NI 53). 
  
v Percentage change in under-18 conceptions – Quarter 4 of 2007/08 shows a 

16.5% reduction from the 1998 baseline. The reduction continued into the first 
quarter of 2008/09. This reverses the trend rather than slowing the rate of 
increase.  However, performance remains below the 2009/10 target of -18.1% 
(NI112). 

   
v The target for Chlamydia screening/tests for under 25 year olds continues to 

be met (NI 113).   
 
v The target for the number of 4-week smoking quitters who attended NHS Stop 

Smoking Services (NI 123) has been met.  
 
v Delayed transfers of care from hospital remained at 14.4 per hundred 

thousand population for July and August 2009 having reduced from 16.1 in 
May 2009, this figure remains comparatively high (NI 131). 

 
v Adult participation in sport and active recreation (2007-2010 stretch target) – 

interim data indicates that there has been no change in the percentage of 
adults participating in sport and active recreation.  The level of participation at 

Healthier people with a better quality of life 
Details Status 

based on 
August 
2009/10 

Total 

Number of indicators that are on target 6 Green 

Number of indicators that are just off target 3  Amber 

Number of indicators that are off target 5 Red 

Number of indicators where data not yet available 
 

13                   
 

 

Page 107



 

6 

20.8% is below the target of 22.9% for 2008/09. Data will be formally reported 
in December 2009 (NI 8).  

 
People and customer focused 
 

v There is only one Place Survey indicator (NI 4: People who feel that they can 
influence decisions in their locality) under this outcome. 40.3% of Haringey 
residents felt they could influence decisions in Haringey placing us fourth 
highest in London well above both the National average of 29% and 35% in 
London. 

8.   Progress against the 2007 LAA ‘stretch targets 

The table below shows progress against the 13 stretch targets agreed as part of 
the 2007/10 local area agreement.  

 

Progress against the stretch targets 
1. NI 117 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment or 

training (NEET)  
Green 

2. Local Reduction in personal robbery   Green 

3. Local Domestic Violence Green 

  Increase the proportion of incidents of domestic violence 
which result in sanction detections  

Green 

        Repeat victimisation of domestic violence  Green 

4. Local Street and environment cleanliness (litter & detritus) for the worst 
3 wards (Northumberland Park, Noel Park and Bruce Grove) 

Green 

5. Local Parks and green spaces  Green 

  Number of parks achieving green pennant status   Red 

  Increase in number of green flag award parks  Green 

  The % of people who report they are satisfied or fairly satisfied 
with local parks and green spaces (annual)  

Data awaited 

6. Local Number of schools achieving healthy schools status  Green 

7. Local Smoking cessation – increase in the number of smoking quitters in 
N17.  

Green 

8. NI 8 Adult participation in sport and active recreation   Red 

9. NI 192 Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting  

Red 

10. Local Number of people from the 12 worst wards helped into sustained 
work 

Red 

  Number of lone parents in the worst wards helped into 
sustained work  

Red 

  Number of JSA from the worst performing wards helped into 
sustained employment 

Green 

11. Local Number of people on incapacity benefits for more than six months 
helped into sustained work 

Red 

12. NI 79 Achievement of Level 2 qualification by the age of 19 Data awaited 

13. Local Improved living conditions for vulnerable people (reduced carbon 
emissions as a result of energy efficiency measures). A request 
has been made to the sub-regional coordinator for the final values 
for 2007/08 and 2008/09 

Data awaited 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



 

7 

9.0  Exception Reports  
 

9.1 Exception reports have been provided (Appendix 1) for areas where targets are 
not being achieved and detail an explanation of the performance.  

Areas for focused review by the partnership are:  

• Serious violent crime 

• Initial and core assessments for children’s social care 

• Under 18 conception rate 

• Net additional homes and affordable homes  

• Recycling 

• Number of people on job seekers allowance helped into sustained work 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



1
 

H
S
P
 E
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 R
e
p
o
r
t 
2
0
0
9
/
1
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  
  
 

 T
h
e
 f
u
ll
 H
S
P
 s
c
o
re
c
a
rd
 o
f 
a
ll
 L
A
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
re
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 a
t:
  

h
tt
p
:/
/w

w
w
.h
a
ri
n
g
e
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
/i
n
d
e
x
/c
o
u
n
c
il
/p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
_
a
n
d
_
fi
n
a
n
c
e
/c
o
u
n
c
il
_
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
/p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
-r
e
p
o
rt
s
/h
s
p
_
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
_
q
u
a
rt
e
rs
.h
tm

 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
1
5
 N
 

N
o
. 
o
f 
r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d
 m

o
s
t 
s
e
r
io
u
s
 v
io
le
n
t 
c
r
im

e
s
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 
 

  E
n
fo
r
c
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 S
a
fe
r
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 S
a
fe
r
 f
o
r
 a
ll
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
m
o
s
t 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
s
  

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

1
2
9
 

1
0
0
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

2
1
5
 

1
4
8
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

 

A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
in
g
: 
M
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
 f
u
n
d
in
g
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a
 s
m
a
ll
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
ll
o
c
a
te
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
 s
o
lv
in
g
 p
o
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk
 o
f 
a
 g
a
n
g
 m

u
lt
i-

a
g
e
n
c
y
 g
ro
u
p
. 
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 M
o
s
t 
S
e
ri
o
u
s
 V
io
le
n
c
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 p
e
rf
o
rm

 w
o
rs
e
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 l
im

it
 o
f 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 1
2
-m

o
n
th
s
. 
A
t 
A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
 t
h
e
re
 w

e
re
 2
1
5
 m

o
s
t 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
 
v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
s
 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 
ta
rg
e
t 
o
f 
1
4
8
. 
T
h
is
 
is
 
in
 
li
n
e
 
w
it
h
 
o
u
r 
m
o
s
t 
s
im

il
a
r 
C
ri
m
e
 
a
n
d
 
D
is
o
rd
e
r 
R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 
(C
D
R
P
s
).
 
T
h
is
 
s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
 
is
 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 
M
P
S
 
w
h
ic
h
 
is
 
a
ls
o
 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 
s
im

il
a
rl
y
 
i.
e
. 
c
le
a
rl
y
 
d
e
te
ri
o
ra
ti
n
g
. 
N
o
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 
b
o
ro
u
g
h
s
 
h
a
v
e
 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 
a
 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 
in
 
m
o
s
t 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 

v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
 (
M
S
V
),
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 C
a
m
d
e
n
 a
n
d
 B
a
rn
e
t 
h
a
v
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 a
 s
ta
b
le
 r
a
te
. 

Page 111



2
 

 T
h
e
 O

th
e
r 
V
io
le
n
t 
C
ri
m
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 (
O
V
C
P
) 
m
a
d
e
 t
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 a
s
 t
o
 w

h
y
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
: 
e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r,
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
io
le
n
t 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
t 
th
e
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 o
f 
th
is
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 c
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 r
u
le
s
. 
 

  C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

 

§ 
G
a
n
g
s
 a
n
d
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
 s
o
lv
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 w
a
s
 e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
io
le
n
t 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 r
iv
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
. 

§ 
T
h
e
 B
la
c
k
 I
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
A
d
v
is
o
ry
 G
ro
u
p
 (
B
IA
G
) 
h
a
s
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
te
d
 t
w
o
 p
a
re
n
t 
m
e
d
ia
ti
o
n
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 p
a
re
n
ts
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 r
iv
a
l 
g
a
n
g
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
. 

§ 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
t 
th
e
 O
th
e
r 
V
io
le
n
t 
C
ri
m
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
. 

§ 
A
n
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 a
n
d
 E
n
fi
e
ld
 C
D
R
P
s
 a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 M

id
d
le
s
e
x
 A
&
E
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
v
io
le
n
t 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
. 

T
h
is
 w
il
l 
h
e
lp
 t
o
 b
u
il
d
 a
 m

o
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
 p
ic
tu
re
 o
f 
v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 

§ 
M
P
S
 c
a
ll
e
d
 a
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
ld
 g
ro
u
p
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 1
4
.0
9
.0
9
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
 i
s
 o
v
e
rs
e
e
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 M
P
S
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 Y
o
u
th
 V
io
le
n
c
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

 B
e
s
t 
p
r
a
c
ti
c
e
 

G
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 w

o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 g
a
n
g
s
 i
n
 H

a
c
k
n
e
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
a
m
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 w

o
rk
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 t
o
 e
x
p
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 m

u
lt
i-
d
is
c
ip
li
n
a
ry
 g
a
n
g
s
 t
e
a
m
 o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 o
f 
b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
. 

T
h
e
 C
a
rd
if
f 
m
o
d
e
l 
fo
r 
s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 C
D
R
P
s
 a
n
d
 A
&
E
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 l
o
c
a
ll
y
 w
h
e
re
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

 E
m
e
r
g
in
g
 r
is
k
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 s
e
t 
to
 m

is
s
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 

 P
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 t
o
 d
a
te
 

 A
t 
th
e
 O
th
e
r 
V
io
le
n
t 
C
ri
m
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 –
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

A
t 
th
e
 S
a
fe
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 –
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

            

Page 112



3
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
 5
9
 

P
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r
 c
h
il
d
r
e
n
’s
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
r
e
 c
a
r
r
ie
d
 o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 7
 w

o
r
k
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
r
e
fe
r
r
a
l 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 

  C
h
il
d
r
e
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 S
a
fe
r
 f
o
r
 a
ll
 

In
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 a
n
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 
h
o
w
 q
u
ic
k
ly
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
a
n
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 

w
h
e
n
 a
 c
h
il
d
 i
s
 t
h
o
u
g
h
t 
to
 b
e
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 o
f 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 h
a
rm

. 
A
s
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
, 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 s
h
o
w
 h
o
w
 w
e
ll
 m

u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n
c
y
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
. 
G
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 t
y
p
if
ie
d
 

b
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
s
. 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

2
5
.0
%
 

5
3
%
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

1
4
.1
%
 

5
3
%
 

Ju
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

1
1
.9
%
 

5
3
%
 

Ju
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

1
4
.7
%
 

5
3
%
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
 

2
5
.9
%
 

5
3
%
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 (
Y
T
D
) 

1
8
.4
%
 

5
3
%
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

 

A
G
B
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
M
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 
fo
r 
c
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 
c
a
rr
ie
d
 
o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 
ti
m
e
s
c
a
le
 
(N

I 
5
9
) 
d
ro
p
p
e
d
 
to
 
1
2
%
 i
n
 
Ju
n
e
 
fr
o
m
 
2
5
%
 
in
 
A
p
ri
l.
 
T
h
e
 
a
c
tu
a
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
in
 
Ju
n
e
 
(1
5
9
) 
w
a
s
 
m
u
c
h
 
h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 
in
 
A
p
ri
l 
(1
0
4
).
 
A
u
g
u
s
t’
s
 
d
a
ta
 
s
h
o
w
s
 
th
a
t 
th
is
 
h
a
s
 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 
to
 
2
5
.9
%
 
(1
8
9
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
),
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
5
3
%
. 

  L
o
w
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
N
I 
5
9
 a
n
d
 N
I 
6
0
 i
s
 a
tt
ri
b
u
ta
b
le
 t
o
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
s
 t
o
 a
 h
ig
h
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
u
t 
o
f 
ti
m
e
s
c
a
le
, 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 
W
e
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
il
l 
b
e
 p
o
o
r 
a
s
 

w
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 a
ll
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 w
o
rk
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 
W
e
 e
x
p
e
c
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
re
a
ft
e
r 
a
 m

o
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
 m

e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
fu
tu
re
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
rr
iv
e
d
 

a
t.
 R
e
c
e
n
t 
tr
e
n
d
s
 a
re
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 s
o
m
e
 c
a
u
ti
o
u
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 w
e
 b
e
li
e
v
e
 w
e
 r
e
m
a
in
 o
n
 t
ra
c
k
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
la
re
d
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
5
3
%
 f
o
r 
in
it
ia
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 6
3
%
 f
o
r 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 e
n
d
 o
f 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 

 

Page 113



4
 

C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

 T
h
e
re
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 h
ig
h
 v
o
lu
m
e
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 o
v
e
ra
ll
 5
0
%
 m

o
re
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 t
w
o
 y
e
a
rs
. 
T
h
is
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 
re
c
ru
it
in
g
 
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 
q
u
a
li
fi
e
d
 
s
ta
ff
, 
h
a
s
 
im

p
a
c
te
d
 
o
n
 
o
u
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
. 
6
 
n
e
w
ly
 
q
u
a
li
fi
e
d
 
s
o
c
ia
l 
w
o
rk
e
rs
 
(N

Q
S
W
) 
h
a
v
e
 
jo
in
e
d
 
th
e
 
re
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
a
k
in
g
 c
a
s
e
s
. 
T
w
o
 o
th
e
r 
p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
N
Q
S
W
 a
re
 d
u
e
 t
o
 j
o
in
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 t
h
is
 m

o
n
th
, 
w
it
h
 t
w
o
 p
la
c
e
s
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
. 

 B
e
s
t 
P
r
a
c
ti
c
e
  

 A
 d
ra
ft
 t
h
re
s
h
o
ld
s
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
is
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w

h
ic
h
 i
s
 h
e
lp
in
g
 t
o
 c
la
ri
fy
 a
n
d
 e
n
a
b
le
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y
 i
n
 w

h
a
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 W

o
rk
 i
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 l
in
k
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 C
A
F
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
to
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
a
s
e
s
 a
re
 g
o
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 C
A
F
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 r
a
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
&
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

a
n
d
 
o
n
 
w
o
rk
in
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
P
o
li
c
e
 
o
n
 
c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
n
g
 
a
 
m
o
re
 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 
to
 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
. 
C
o
m
b
in
e
d
, 
th
e
s
e
 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 
w
il
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
 
o
u
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
in
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 

 A
u
d
it
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 a
n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
S
o
c
ia
l 
W
o
rk
e
r 
in
 J
u
ly
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
o
m
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w

it
h
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

  P
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 d
a
te
 

 T
h
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 P
la
n
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 (
fo
rm

e
rl
y
 t
h
e
 J
A
R
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
) 
is
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 P
la
n
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
. 
R
e
p
o
rt
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
la
n
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 M

a
y
 a
n
d
 J
u
ly
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 C
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 J
u
ly
 a
n
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 C
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
. 

  

Page 114



5
 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
 6
0
 

P
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
r
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r
 c
h
il
d
r
e
n
’s
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
r
e
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
r
e
 c
a
r
r
ie
d
 o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 3
5
 w

o
r
k
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

  

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 

  C
h
il
d
r
e
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 S
a
fe
r
 f
o
r
 a
ll
 

 

T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

w
it
h
in
 3
5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
. 
C
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
-d
e
p
th
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
 c
h
il
d
, 
o
r 

c
h
il
d
re
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 f
a
m
il
y
, 
a
s
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

C
h
il
d
re
n
 i
n
 N
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 F
a
m
il
ie
s
. 
T
h
e
y
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 m

e
a
n
s
 b
y
 w
h
ic
h
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
7
 

(c
h
il
d
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
) 
e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
. 
  

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

2
7
.6
%
 

6
3
%
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

3
0
.2
%
 

6
3
%
 

Ju
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

4
9
.1
%
 

6
3
%
 

Ju
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

4
9
.3
%
 

6
3
%
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
 

3
1
.9
%
 

6
3
%
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 (
Y
T
D
) 

3
9
.0
%
 

6
3
%
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

 

E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
c
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 3
5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
(N

I 
6
0
) 
d
e
c
re
a
s
e
d
 i
n
 A
u
g
u
s
t 

to
 3
1
.9
%
 w

h
il
s
t 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
h
a
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 (
7
2
 c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
).
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
a
rg
e
t 

o
f 
6
3
%
. 

 S
e
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
N
I 
5
9
, 
w
h
ic
h
 a
ls
o
 a
p
p
ly
 t
o
 N
I 
6
0
. 

   

Page 115



6
 

  N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
1
1
2
 P
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
  
u
n
d
e
r
-1
8
 c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 (
p
e
r
 1
0
0
0
 g
ir
ls
 a
g
e
d
 1
5
-1
7
 a
s
 c
o
m
p
a
r
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
li
n
e
)
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 

 C
h
il
d
r
e
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r
 p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
li
fe
 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
: 
T
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
r 
1
8
 c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 g
ir
ls
 1
5
-1
7
 

y
e
a
rs
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r,
 a
s
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
8
 

b
a
s
e
li
n
e
 r
a
te
, 
s
h
o
w
n
 a
s
 a
 %

 o
f 
th
e
 1
9
9
8
 r
a
te
. 

G
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 t
y
p
if
ie
d
 b
y
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
e
li
n
e
 

fi
g
u
re
. 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

-1
6
.5
%
 

-1
8
.1
%
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

-8
.2
%
 

-1
8
.1
%
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
s
 

- 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

1
2
.4
%
 

-5
.3
%
 

-1
1
.6
%
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

N
I 
1
1
2
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
r-
1
8
 c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
li
n
e

0
.3
0
%

3
2
.6
0
%

6
.4
0
%

1
4
.4
0
%

-1
6
.5
0
%

-8
.2
0
%

-3
0
.0
0
%

-2
0
.0
0
%

-1
0
.0
0
%

0
.0
0
%

1
0
.0
0
%

2
0
.0
0
%

3
0
.0
0
%

4
0
.0
0
%

J
a
n
-M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
7

A
p
ri
l-
J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
7

J
u
ly
-S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7

O
c
t-
D
e
c
 2
0
0
7

J
a
n
-M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8

A
p
ri
l-
J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8

%
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
1
9
9
8
 b

T
a
rg
e
t

 A
B
G
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
3
3
7
,0
0
0
: 
T
e
e
n
a
g
e
 P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 L
o
c
a
l 
Im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 G
ra
n
t 
(£
1
7
0
,0
0
0
);
T
P
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 (
£
1
0
2
,7
5
0
);
 4
Y
P
 (
B
u
s
) 
(£
6
4
,2
5
0
) 

 M
ig
r
a
ti
o
n
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
F
u
n
d
: 
£
8
6
,0
0
0
 

  E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 1
4
 m

o
n
th
 t
im

e
-l
a
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
, 
a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 p
a
rt
ly
 c
o
m
p
il
e
d
 f
ro
m
 b
ir
th
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 d
a
ta
. 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 w

il
l 
b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

Page 116



7
 

 T
h
e
 c
h
a
rt
 a
b
o
v
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 J
a
n
-M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 (
Q
1
 2
0
0
8
) 
th
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
li
n
e
, 
fr
o
m
 1
4
.4
%
 i
n
 Q

4
 2
0
0
7
 (
6
2
 

a
c
tu
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
) 
to
 -
1
6
.5
%
 Q
1
 2
0
0
8
 (
4
5
 a
c
tu
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
).
 

 

 T
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
ti
m
e
 w

e
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 r
a
te
 l
o
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 o
u
r 
1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
 r
a
te
. 
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 w

e
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
u
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
a
rg
e
t 
(-
1
8
.1
%
),
 

th
is
 i
s
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t.
  

 D
a
ta
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
A
p
ri
l-
Ju
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 (
Q
2
 2
0
0
8
) 
s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
 s
m
a
ll
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 Q

1
 2
0
0
8
 f
ig
u
re
- 
a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
-8
.2
%
 o
n
 1
9
9
8
 

b
a
s
e
li
n
e
 (
4
9
 a
c
tu
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
).
 Q
2
 r
a
te
s
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 s
h
o
w
n
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 f
ro
m
 Q
1
. 

  C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 

 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
- 
T
h
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 T
e
e
n
a
g
e
 P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
n
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 b
e
 c
h
a
ir
e
d
 b
y
 C
ll
r 
R
e
it
h
. 
T
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w
il
l 
ta
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 1
8
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
; 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
 (
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
) 
w
il
l 

m
e
e
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 2
1
s
t  
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
T
a
s
k
 a
n
d
 F
in
is
h
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
il
l 
b
e
 r
e
fo
rm

e
d
 w
it
h
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 l
e
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
le
a
d
s
 t
o
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
: 

§ 
Im

p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
p
ta
k
e
 o
f 
lo
n
g
e
r 
a
c
ti
n
g
 r
e
v
e
rs
ib
le
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 (
L
A
R
C
) 
 

§ 
Im

p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
p
ta
k
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 d
a
ta
 

§ 
A
 p
il
o
t 
ta
rg
e
te
d
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

§ 
Im

p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
o
s
t-
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
 

§ 
Im

p
ro
v
in
g
 S
e
x
 a
n
d
 R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 (
S
R
E
)/
 w

e
ll
-b
e
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
il
s
, 
p
a
re
n
ts
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

T
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 f
ro
m
 a
 n
e
w
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 d
u
e
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
fr
o
m
 N
H
S
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
. 

 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
- 
A
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 p
u
b
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 m

a
d
e
 w
it
h
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
le
a
v
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 a
s
y
lu
m
 t
e
a
m
 c
li
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
Z
 c
a
rd
s
, 
p
o
s
tc
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 b
o
o
k
le
t 

p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 4
Y
P
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
, 
a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 s
a
fe
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 m

e
s
s
a
g
e
s
 o
n
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 e
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
; 
 

 D
e
li
v
e
r
y
 o
f 
S
e
x
u
a
l 
R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 (
S
R
E
)
 a
n
d
 P
e
r
s
o
n
a
l 
S
o
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 H
e
a
lt
h
 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 (
P
S
H
E
)
- 
A
 t
h
o
ro
u
g
h
 S
R
E
 m

a
p
p
in
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll
 

p
ri
m
a
ry
, 
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
, 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
, 
p
o
s
t 
1
6
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 k
e
y
 t
a
s
k
s
 f
o
r 
S
R
E
 s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
; 

 P
r
o
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
r
v
ic
e
s
 (
C
A
S
H
)
- 
N
H
S
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 h
a
s
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
il
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 a
 w
e
e
k
ly
 c
li
n
ic
 f
o
r 
w
o
m
e
n
 o
n
ly
, 
u
n
d
e
r 
2
0
s
 a
t 
L
o
rd
s
h
ip
 L
a
n
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 c
a
ll
e
d
 4
Y
P
 P
lu
s
. 
C
li
n
ic
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
c
o
n
tr
a
c
e
p
ti
o
n
, 
c
o
n
d
o
m
s
, 
L
A
R
C
, 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 t
e
s
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 C
h
la
m
y
d
ia
 s
c
re
e
n
in
g
,)
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 4
Y
P
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 u
n
d
e
r-
1
8
 o
u
tr
e
a
c
h
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 e
x
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
ll
 t
h
re
e
 a
re
a
 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 Y
o
u
th
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
IY
S
S
) 
y
o
u
th
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 4
Y
P
 N
u
rs
e
 r
u
n
n
in
g
 f
o
rt
n
ig
h
tl
y
 c
li
n
ic
a
l 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
; 

 W
o
r
k
fo
r
c
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 T
r
a
in
in
g
- 
T
h
e
 p
il
o
ti
n
g
 o
f 
S
p
e
a
k
e
a
s
y
 T
o
g
e
th
e
r 
a
n
d
 R
U
 R
e
a
d
y
/ 
D
e
la
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
; 

 T
a
r
g
e
te
d
 w

o
r
k
 w

it
h
 a
t 
r
is
k
 g
r
o
u
p
s
- 
A
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
P
re
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 T
e
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 T
o
d
d
le
rs
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 f
o
r 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

a
n
 e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 D
C
S
F
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
a
rg
e
ti
n
g
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
5
0
 g
ir
ls
 i
n
 Y
e
a
rs
 9
 a
n
d
 1
0
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 a
t 
ri
s
k
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
h
il
d
re
n
 i
n
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 a
t 
th
e
 

P
u
p
il
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 C
e
n
tr
e
. 
T
h
e
 P
re
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
il
l 
b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
il
l 
b
e
g
in
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 2
0
1
0
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 a
re
 r
u
n
n
in
g
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 o
w
n
 T
e
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 T
o
d
d
le
rs
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 l
e
d
 b
y
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 t
ra
in
e
d
 

fa
c
il
it
a
to
rs
. 
 

Page 117



8
 

 A
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
o
l 
is
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 b
y
 p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 i
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
a
 d
a
ta
 s
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
u
ld
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 ‘
m
o
s
t 
a
t 
ri
s
k
’.
 

 B
e
s
t 
P
r
a
c
ti
c
e
  

 T
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 1
9
9
8
-2
0
0
7
: 

•
 R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
 -
3
2
%
 

•
 K
e
n
s
in
g
to
n
 a
n
d
 C
h
e
ls
e
a
 -
2
9
.3
%
 

•
 E
a
li
n
g
 -
2
8
.2
%
 

•
 H
a
m
m
e
rs
m
it
h
 a
n
d
 F
u
lh
a
m
 -
2
6
.5
%
 

•
 
N
e
w
h
a
m
 -
2
4
.9
%
 

 

D
C
S
F
 a
tt
ri
b
u
te
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
a
 s
e
n
io
r 
lo
c
a
l 
c
h
a
m
p
io
n
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
e
x
 a
n
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
fo
c
u
s
 
o
n
 
ta
rg
e
te
d
 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 
o
n
 
s
e
x
 
a
n
d
 
re
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 
fo
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
 
w
e
ll
 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
d
 
y
o
u
th
 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
a
n
d
 
a
 
g
o
o
d
 
lo
c
a
l 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

 P
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 d
a
te
: 

T
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 T
e
e
n
a
g
e
 P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w

il
l 
ta
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 1
8
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
6
 m

o
n
th
s
. 

T
h
e
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
 w
il
l 
m
e
e
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 2
1
s
t  
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
T
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 G
ro
u
p
 w
il
l 
b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 T
e
e
n
a
g
e
 P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
. 

 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 y
o
u
n
g
 w
o
m
e
n
 1
5
 –
 1
8
 y
e
a
rs
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
th
is
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
s
 f
o
ll
o
w
s
: 

T
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 w
o
m
e
n
 1
5
 –
 1
8
 6
,3
8
4
 

B
ri
ti
s
h
 3
2
%
, 
W
h
it
e
 O
th
e
r 
1
7
%
, 
M
ix
e
d
 9
%
, 
A
s
ia
n
 9
%
, 
C
a
ri
b
b
e
a
n
 1
4
%
, 
A
fr
ic
a
n
 1
6
%
, 
O
th
e
r 
3
%
. 

A
 T
P
 C
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 S
c
o
re
c
a
rd
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
g
e
, 
e
th
n
ic
it
y
 a
n
d
 w
a
rd
. 

            

Page 118



9
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
 1
5
4
 

N
e
t 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
h
o
m
e
s
 p
r
o
v
id
e
d
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 

 H
o
u
s
in
g
  

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
r
t 
o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
t 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 d
w
e
ll
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 o
v
e
r 
o
n
e
 y
e
a
r.
 G
o
o
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 t
y
p
if
ie
d
 b
y
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
n
e
t 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
h
o
m
e
s
. 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

4
3
3
 (
fo
re
c
a
s
t)
 

1
6
0
2
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
c
id
e
d

2
7
0

2
8
0

2
9
0

3
0
0

3
1
0

3
2
0

3
3
0

3
4
0

3
5
0

3
6
0

2
0
0
7
/0
8

2
0
0
8
/0
9

Y
e
a
r

Number of applications

D
e
c
is
io
n
s

 

A
B
G
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
 0
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
: 
 

T
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 a
n
d
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
s
ta
g
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
a
re
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
ly
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
a
ll
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 s
h
a
rp
 

d
e
c
li
n
e
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 s
ta
rt
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
. 
D
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
th
e
 l
e
a
d
-i
n
 t
im

e
 f
ro
m
 p
ro
je
c
t 
in
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
u
p
p
ly
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
tw

o
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
c
id
e
d
 f
e
ll
 f
ro
m
 a
 h
ig
h
 o
f 
3
4
8
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 t
o
 2
9
7
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 (
c
h
a
rt
 1
) 
w
h
ic
h
 w
il
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
 k
n
o
c
k
-o
n
 a
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 s
ta
rt
in
g
 o
n
 s
it
e
 

in
 2
0
0
9
-1
0
. 
  

T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
L
A
A
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 
2
0
0
9
-1
0
 o
f 
1
6
0
2
 d
w
e
ll
in
g
s
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
  
fi
g
u
re
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 5
 y
e
a
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
ra
je
c
to
ry
. 
 T
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 5
 y
e
a
r 

tr
a
je
c
to
ry
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 
u
n
im

p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 c
o
n
s
e
n
ts
; 
a
ll
o
c
a
te
d
 s
it
e
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 U
D
P
; 
s
m
a
ll
 w
in
d
fa
ll
 s
it
e
s
 c
o
m
in
g
 f
o
rw

a
rd
; 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
ty
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
b
a
c
k
 

in
to
 u
s
e
. 
  
T
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 P
la
n
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 f
ig
u
re
 i
s
 6
8
0
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
. 
 

 

In
 r
e
c
o
g
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
, 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
d
e
c
id
e
d
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
th
is
 y
e
a
r 
to
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 2
0
0
9
 “
lo
c
k
d
o
w
n
” 
a
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 

re
w
a
rd
 m

o
d
e
l 
fo
r 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 b
a
s
e
d
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 N
Is
 1
5
4
 a
n
d
 1
5
5
. 
A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
, 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
s
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 c
a
n
 n
o
w
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
. 

 C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
: 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 o
f 
la
rg
e
r 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 i
.e
. 
th
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 a
n
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 e
le
m
e
n
t.
 T
h
e
s
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
f 
N
I 
1
5
5
. 

Page 119



1
0
 

  N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
1
5
5
 N

u
m
b
e
r
 o
f 
a
ff
o
r
d
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 d
e
li
v
e
r
e
d
 (
g
r
o
s
s
)
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 
  

 H
o
u
s
in
g
  

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 P
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
r
t 
o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

T
o
ta
l 
s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l 
re
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
 G
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 

ty
p
if
ie
d
 b
y
 h
ig
h
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
, 
in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 l
o
c
a
l 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
. 
 

2
0
0
9
/
1
0
 

 
V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

Q
1
 2
0
0
9
 

3
2
 (
p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l)
 

8
5
 

Q
2
 2
0
0
9
  

8
2
 (
fo
re
c
a
s
t)
 

8
5
 

Q
3
 2
0
0
9
  

3
8
 (
fo
re
c
a
s
t)
 

8
5
 

Q
4
 2
0
1
0
  

1
9
 (
fo
re
c
a
s
t)
 

8
5
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
  

1
7
1
 (
fo
r
e
c
a
s
t)
 

3
4
0
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

P
ro
je
c
ts
 s
ta
rt
in
g
 o
n
 s
it
e
 b
y
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r

-1
0
00

1
0
0

2
0
0

3
0
0

4
0
0

5
0
0

6
0
0

7
0
0

8
0
0

2
0
0
6
/0
7

2
0
0
7
/0
8

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

Number of projected affordable completions

T
o
ta
l 
s
ta
rt
s

R
e
n
t

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te

L
in
e
a
r 
(I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
)

L
in
e
a
r 
(R
e
n
t)

L
in
e
a
r 
(T
o
ta
l 
s
ta
rt
s
)

 
 

Page 120



1
1
 

A
B
G
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
0
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 
a
n
d
 
s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
s
ta
g
n
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
a
re
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 

fi
g
u
re
s
 f
a
ll
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
lo
w
 2
0
0
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w

it
h
 a
 h
ig
h
 o
f 

4
1
5
 
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 
in
 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
. 
T
h
is
 
re
fl
e
c
ts
 
th
e
 
s
h
a
rp
 
d
e
c
li
n
e
 
in
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 
s
ta
rt
s
 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 
d
u
ri
n
g
 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
. 
T
h
e
 
tw

o
 

c
h
a
rt
s
 s
h
o
w
 b
o
th
 t
h
e
 d
ip
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 s
ta
rt
in
g
 o
n
 s
it
e
 (
th
e
 l
o
w
 

o
c
c
u
rr
in
g
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 a
n
d
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 t
o
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 

s
h
o
rt
fa
ll
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
il
l 
b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
p
p
a
re
n
t 
in
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 2
0
1
0
/1
1
. 

 D
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
th
e
 l
e
a
d
-i
n
 t
im

e
 f
ro
m
 p
ro
je
c
t 
in
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
 a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

s
u
p
p
ly
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
tw

o
 y
e
a
rs
. 
  

 In
 
re
c
o
g
n
it
io
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
d
o
w
n
tu
rn
, 
th
e
 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

d
e
c
id
e
d
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
th
is
 y
e
a
r 
to
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 2
0
0
9
 “
lo
c
k
d
o
w
n
” 
a
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 
L
A
A
 
re
w
a
rd
 
m
o
d
e
l 
fo
r 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
b
a
s
e
d
 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 
N
Is
 
1
5
4
 
a
n
d
 

1
5
5
. 
A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
, 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
s
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 c
a
n
 n
o
w
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 

o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
, 
to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
lo
c
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
. 

 C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

T
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 u
n
s
o
ld
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
w
e
 a
re
 w

o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 R
S
L
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 (
H
C
A
) 
to
 b
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
s
e
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 

u
s
e
 i
n
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
a
y
s
: 
 

 •
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
R
S
L
s
 l
e
tt
in
g
 u
n
s
o
ld
 o
r 
u
n
d
e
r-
c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 s
h
a
re
d
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 h
o
m
e
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 R
e
n
t-
to
-H

o
m
e
b
u
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 •
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
R
S
L
s
 t
o
 a
c
q
u
ir
e
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 f
ro
m
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 u
n
s
o
ld
, 
n
e
w
ly
-b
u
il
t 
h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 e
it
h
e
r 
a
s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 r
e
n
te
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
R
e
n
t-
to
-H

o
m
e
b
u
y
 a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 

 •
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 
fo
r 
R
S
L
s
 t
o
 
a
c
q
u
ir
e
 
v
a
c
a
n
t 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 
o
n
 t
h
e
 
o
p
e
n
 
m
a
rk
e
t 
fo
r 
u
s
e
 
a
s
 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
re
n
te
d
 
fa
m
il
y
 
h
o
m
e
s
 
to
 
a
d
d
re
s
s
 
lo
c
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
n
e
e
d
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
ll
y
 

o
v
e
rc
ro
w
d
in
g
 
in
 
th
e
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
s
to
c
k
. 
 
W
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 
h
a
v
e
 
a
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
in
 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 
w
it
h
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 
&
 
Q
u
a
d
ra
n
t 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 
to
 
d
e
li
v
e
r 
2
6
 

h
o
m
e
s
 w
it
h
 g
ra
n
t 
s
u
p
p
li
e
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 f
ro
m
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
c
e
ip
ts
. 
 

 •
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 E
m
p
ty
 H

o
m
e
s
 T
e
a
m
 i
s
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 w

o
rk
in
g
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 u
s
e
 a
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
n
o
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
n
d
 i
s
 e
x
te
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
p
u
ls
o
ry
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 p
o
w
e
rs
 a
n
d
 e
n
fo
rc
e
d
 s
a
le
s
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 m

o
re
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 u
s
e
 a
s
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 r
e
n
te
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
 W

e
 a
re
 s
p
e
a
k
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
C
A
 

a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
il
it
y
 o
f 
it
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 R
S
L
s
 w

it
h
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
n
t 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
ll
o
w
 o
n
w
a
rd
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 i
n
 a
 m

a
n
n
e
r 
th
a
t 
e
n
a
b
le
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
it
s
 c
o
s
ts
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
e
d
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
C
P
O
s
. 

 In
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 H
C
A
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
a
ll
o
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
0
/1
1
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 H
C
A
’s
 n
e
x
t 
th
re
e
 y
e
a
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
1
1
-1
4
, 

w
e
 h
a
v
e
 e
m
b
a
rk
e
d
 o
n
 a
 s
in
g
le
 c
o
n
v
e
rs
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 H
C
A
’s
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 T
e
a
m
. 
  

A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 (
a
c
tu
a
l 
a
n
d
 f
o
re
c
a
s
t)
 2
0
0
8
-2
0
1
2

0

5
0

1
0
0

1
5
0

2
0
0

2
5
0

3
0
0

3
5
0

4
0
0

4
5
0

2
0
0
8
-0
9

2
0
0
9
-1
0

2
0
1
0
-1
1

2
0
1
1
-1
2

Number of affordable completions

T
o
ta
l 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 (
A
c
tu
a
l 
&

fo
re
c
a
s
t)

T
o
ta
l 
R
E
N
T

T
o
ta
l 
in
te
rm

e
d
ia
te

T
o
ta
l 
S
P
H

L
in
e
a
r 
(T
o
ta
l 
in
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
)

L
in
e
a
r 
(T
o
ta
l 
R
E
N
T
)

L
in
e
a
r 
(T
o
ta
l 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 (
A
c
tu
a
l 
&

fo
re
c
a
s
t)
)

Page 121



1
2
 

 W
e
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 o
f 
a
 s
p
e
c
ia
li
s
t 
e
x
te
rn
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t,
 f
o
r 
a
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
-w

id
e
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
p
la
n
 c
o
v
e
ri
n
g
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
la
te
d
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
fi
v
e
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

 T
h
is
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
p
la
n
 w

il
l 
b
e
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
C
A
 i
n
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 w

it
h
 a
 v
ie
w
 t
o
 a
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 H
C
A
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 

th
e
 
y
e
a
r.
 
It
 
is
 
h
o
p
e
d
 
th
a
t 
th
is
 
fo
rm

a
l 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
H
C
A
 
w
il
l 
s
e
c
u
re
 
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 
to
 
ta
k
e
 
fo
rw

a
rd
 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
’s
 
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
s
u
p
p
ly
 

a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
fi
v
e
 y
e
a
rs
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
in
e
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
b
o
v
e
. 
 

 A
 g
o
o
d
 e
x
a
m
p
le
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
w
e
 a
re
 d
o
in
g
 t
o
 m

a
in
ta
in
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
le
ra
te
 s
u
p
p
ly
 i
s
 t
h
e
 m

a
jo
r 
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
je
c
t 
a
t 
H
a
le
 V
il
la
g
e
 i
n
 T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 H

a
le
. 
T
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
lo
s
e
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r,
 H

a
le
 V
il
la
g
e
 L
td
 a
n
d
 R
S
L
, 
N
e
w
lo
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H

C
A
, 
th
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
a
n
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
2
2
8
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
b
ri
n
g
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 t
o
ta
l 
o
n
 s
it
e
 t
o
 o
v
e
r 
5
4
0
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
il
l 
b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
3
. 
 T
h
e
 H
C
A
 h
a
s
 a
ls
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
is
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 b
y
 b
e
c
o
m
in
g
 a
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
th
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 l
o
a
n
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
. 
  
 

 T
h
e
 d
e
-c
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
s
u
rp
lu
s
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 h
o
s
te
ls
 i
n
to
 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
fa
m
il
y
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 i
ts
 u
s
e
 o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is
 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 
is
 b
e
in
g
 
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
h
e
lp
 
o
f 
e
x
te
rn
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
T
a
rg
e
te
d
 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 
S
tr
e
a
m
 
(T
F
S
) 
a
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 
fo
r 

N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
. 
E
ig
h
t 
h
o
m
e
s
 w
e
re
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
/9
, 
w
it
h
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
9
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
re
c
a
s
t 
fo
r 
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 a
n
d
 2
0
1
0
/1
1
. 

 E
m
e
r
g
in
g
 R
is
k
 

T
h
e
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
m
a
rk
e
t 
is
 
s
h
o
w
in
g
 
(a
lb
e
it
 
s
lo
w
) 
s
ig
n
s
 
o
f 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
. 
T
h
e
 
w
o
rk
 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 
to
 
e
n
s
u
re
 
th
e
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
a
t 
T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 
H
a
le
 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 
w
il
l 
m
e
a
n
 
th
a
t 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
ig
u
re
s
 w
il
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 
le
v
e
ls
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
2
0
1
1
-1
3
 (
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 p
ro
je
c
t 
ti
m
e
s
c
a
le
s
).
  

T
h
e
re
 
a
re
 
a
ls
o
 
s
e
v
e
ra
l 
o
th
e
r 
la
rg
e
 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
ip
e
li
n
e
 
s
u
c
h
 
a
s
 
T
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 
T
o
w
n
 
H
a
ll
, 
S
p
u
rs
, 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 
H
e
a
rt
la
n
d
s
, 
H
a
le
 
W
h
a
rf
, 
G
re
a
te
r 
A
s
h
le
y
 
R
o
a
d
, 

H
o
rn
s
e
y
 T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll
 a
n
d
 H
o
rn
s
e
y
 D
e
p
o
t.
  
 

  E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t:
  

T
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 h
a
s
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
u
n
it
s
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 a
ff
e
c
ts
 B
M
E
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
, 
a
n
d
 4
0
%
 o
f 
B
la
c
k
 A
fr
ic
a
n
 

a
n
d
 A
s
ia
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 u
n
s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 w
h
ic
h
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
v
a
il
a
b
il
it
y
 o
f 
la
rg
e
r,
 t
h
re
e
 t
o
 f
o
u
r 

b
e
d
ro
o
m
, 
d
w
e
ll
in
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
; 
th
is
 i
s
 a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 f
o
r 
B
M
E
’s
 w
h
o
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
a
ll
y
 h
a
v
e
 l
a
rg
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 

 W
e
 w

il
l 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 c
o
ll
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 n
e
w
 e
q
u
a
li
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 

 

Page 122



1
3
 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 

1
9
2
 

P
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w

a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
fo
r
 r
e
u
s
e
, 
r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 (
2
0
0
7
-2
0
1
0
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
r
g
e
t)
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

   

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 
 

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
  

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 A
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
ll
y
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
tu
r
e
 

T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
re
u
s
e
, 
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
, 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 
a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 

a
 k
e
y
 m

e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
’ 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
n
 m

o
v
in
g
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 u
p
 t
h
e
 h
ie
ra
rc
h
y
, 
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t’
s
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
w
a
s
te
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.
 G
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 t
y
p
if
ie
d
 b
y
 a
 h
ig
h
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
a
s
te
 r
e
u
s
e
d
, 

re
c
y
c
le
d
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
o
s
te
d
. 
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

2
4
.5
%
 

3
2
%
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

2
4
.3
8
%
 

3
2
%
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

2
3
.7
9
%
 

2
8
%
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

A
B
G
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
1
7
0
,0
0
0
; 
P
u
m
p
-
p
r
im

in
g
 g
r
a
n
t 
(
P
P
G
)
 £
4
0
,0
0
0
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
 c
h
a
rt
 a
b
o
v
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
e
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
3
2
%
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
, 
a
t 
2
4
.5
%
. 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
w
in
g
 t
o
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fa
c
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 l
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 r
a
te
 b
e
in
g
 a
ro
u
n
d
 4
-5
%
 l
o
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
: 

§ 
C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m

e
th
o
d
 o
f 
a
p
p
o
rt
io
n
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
-h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
, 
re
s
u
lt
in
g
 i
n
 m

o
re
 w
a
s
te
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
u
n
te
d
 a
s
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 t
h
a
n
 w
a
s
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
. 

§ 
A
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
la
im

e
d
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 f
ro
m
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 W

a
s
te
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
. 

§ 
A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 b
y
 N
L
W
A
. 

 C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
  

A
 d
e
ta
il
e
d
 R
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
a
im

 o
f 
m
a
x
im

is
in
g
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
 3
2
%
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 a
n
 

Page 123



1
4
 

e
x
tr
e
m
e
ly
 c
h
a
ll
e
n
g
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
 

 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 

•
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 i
n
 S
e
p
t/
O
c
t 
0
9
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 m

o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 O
c
t 
0
9
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
ia
ll
y
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
d
 b
y
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
b
o
d
y
, 
W
a
s
te
 &
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 (
W
R
A
P
).
 

•
 

M
a
jo
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 d
ri
v
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d
 f
o
r 
O
c
t-
N
o
v
 0
9
 t
o
 t
ie
 i
n
 w
it
h
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
  
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 (
O
c
t 
0
9
) 
a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 m

ix
e
d
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
ll
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 (
w
it
h
 r
o
ll
-o
u
t 
o
f 
fl
a
ts
 a
b
o
v
e
 s
h
o
p
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
O
c
t 
0
9
) 

•
 

E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 f
ro
m
 O
c
t 
0
9
 (
to
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 p
la
s
ti
c
 t
ra
y
s
, 
b
a
g
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
ts
 a
n
d
 c
a
rt
o
n
s
) 
w
il
l 
re
d
u
c
e
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
. 

•
 

A
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 m

e
th
o
d
s
 f
o
r 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
-h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 m

o
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 f
ig
u
re
, 
w
it
h
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
to
 b
e
 a
p
p
li
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 0
9
/1
0
. 
 

•
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
u
n
c
o
n
tr
a
c
te
d
/f
ly
ti
p
p
e
d
 t
ra
d
e
 w
a
s
te
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
ll
e
c
te
d
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
, 
w
it
h
 t
ri
a
l 
o
f 
c
o
lo
u
re
d
 b
a
g
s
 f
o
r 
fl
a
ts
 a
b
o
v
e
 

s
h
o
p
s
 r
e
fu
s
e
 c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 b
e
tt
e
r 
id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
-h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 –
 A
u
g
 0
9
. 

•
 

O
n
-t
h
e
-g
o
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 b
in
s
 i
n
 p
u
b
li
c
 p
la
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 o
f 
s
tr
e
e
t 
c
le
a
n
s
in
g
 w
a
s
te
, 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 

 B
e
s
t 
P
r
a
c
ti
c
e
 

H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
c
ti
v
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 N
L
W
A
 ‘
5
0
%
 c
lu
b
’ 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 a
 v
e
h
ic
le
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
th
e
 N
o
rt
h
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
’s
. 
T
h
e
 c
lu
b
 i
s
 s
ti
ll
 

in
 i
ts
 i
n
fa
n
c
y
 b
u
t 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
m
o
n
th
s
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 w
il
l 
h
e
a
r 
fr
o
m
 i
n
v
it
e
e
 A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
ro
u
p
 a
b
o
u
t 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
e
ra
ll
y
 s
h
a
re
 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
. 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 h
a
s
 a
ls
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
 W

R
A
P
 (
W
a
s
te
 a
n
d
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
) 
w
h
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll
 i
n
 s
e
le
c
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s
. 

 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 w
il
l 
b
e
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 o
u
r 
fa
m
il
y
 g
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
 a
re
a
s
: 

 

§ 
E
a
li
n
g
 –
 D
o
o
rs
te
p
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
ll
e
c
ts
 a
 w
id
e
r 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 t
h
a
n
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
s
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 f
o
c
u
s
s
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
F
la
ts
 

re
c
y
c
li
n
g
 i
s
 w
id
e
s
p
re
a
d
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 n
e
tw

o
rk
s
. 

§ 
C
a
m
d
e
n
 –
 F
la
ts
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 B
ri
n
g
 S
it
e
s
 c
a
te
r 
fo
r 
u
p
w
a
rd
s
 o
f 
4
0
,0
0
0
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
s
 c
o
ll
e
c
te
d
. 

§ 
Is
li
n
g
to
n
 –
 F
la
ts
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 a
n
d
 w
a
s
te
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 a
re
 t
w
o
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
 a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
Is
li
n
g
to
n
 

 E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
’ 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
p
la
n
 
fo
r 
e
n
g
a
g
in
g
 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 
o
n
 
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
 
a
im

s
 
to
 
ta
k
e
 
in
to
 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
d
iv
e
rs
e
 
ra
n
g
e
 
o
f 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 
a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
rc
o
m
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
: 
 

 

- 
F
u
ll
 t
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
k
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 
w
id
e
ly
 s
p
o
k
e
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
. 

- 
M
a
x
im

is
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
im

a
g
e
ry
 a
n
d
 c
le
a
r,
 e
a
s
il
y
 u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 a
ll
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
te
ri
a
ls
. 

- 
F
a
c
e
-t
o
-f
a
c
e
 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 
d
o
o
r-
k
n
o
c
k
in
g
 
a
n
d
 
a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 
a
t 
p
u
b
li
c
 
a
n
d
 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
e
v
e
n
ts
, 
u
s
in
g
 
s
ta
ff
 
w
it
h
 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 
w
h
e
re
v
e
r 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 o
n
 w
e
e
k
e
n
d
 ‘
b
li
tz
’ 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
. 

- 
W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
 
in
 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 
(a
ll
o
w
in
g
 
k
e
y
 
m
e
s
s
a
g
e
s
 
to
 
b
e
 
ta
k
e
n
 
h
o
m
e
 
to
 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 
th
a
t 
m
a
y
 
n
o
t 
s
p
e
a
k
 
E
n
g
li
s
h
 
a
s
 
a
 
fi
rs
t 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
) 
a
n
d
 
to
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 f
a
it
h
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

- 
A
s
s
is
te
d
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 t
h
is
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 t
h
in
k
 r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 
o
r 
v
e
ry
 g
o
o
d
:-
 

W
h
it
e
 B
ri
ti
s
h
 6
8
%
, 
O
th
e
r 
W
h
it
e
 6
5
%
, 
A
s
ia
n
 6
7
%
, 
C
a
ri
b
b
e
a
n
 5
9
%
, 
A
fr
ic
a
n
 6
4
%
, 
M
ix
e
d
 a
n
d
 O
th
e
r 
7
0
%
, 
W
o
m
e
n
 6
9
%
, 
M
e
n
 6
3
%
, 
A
g
e
 1
8
-3
4
 6
6
%
, 
3
5
-5
9
 6
6
%
, 

6
0
+
 6
5
%
 

Page 124



1
5
 

L
o
c
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

0
4
6
  

N
u
m
b
e
r
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 h
e
lp
e
d
 i
n
to
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 w

o
r
k
 (
2
0
0
7
 -
2
0
1
0
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
r
g
e
t)
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 L
e
a
d
: 

 N
ia
ll
 B
o
lg
e
r 
 

P
o
r
tf
o
li
o
: 

 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
  

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
: 

 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
it
a
li
ty
 a
n
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 s
h
a
re
d
 b
y
 a
ll
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
la
im

in
g
 a
n
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fo
r 
6
 m

o
n
th
s
 o
r 

m
o
re
, 
h
e
lp
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 o
f 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
n
to
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
t 

le
a
s
t 
1
6
 h
o
u
rs
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 f
o
r 
1
3
 c
o
n
s
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 w
e
e
k
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
, 
a
s
 m

e
a
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d
a
ta
. 
 

G
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
y
p
if
ie
d
 b
y
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
. 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

3
 

4
2
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

3
 

4
2
 (
a
n
n
u
a
l 
ta
rg
e
t 
1
8
0
) 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 V
a
lu
e
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

1
3
 

8
5
 

 

 

R
e
d
 

 

 

A
B
G
 F
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
9
3
1
,0
0
0
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
 t
o
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 o
f 
th
is
 t
a
rg
e
t 
 

 W
e
lf
a
r
e
 t
o
 W

o
r
k
 p
a
r
tn
e
r
s
h
ip
 f
u
n
d
in
g
: 
£
6
0
,0
0
0
 

 E
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
r
r
e
n
t 
p
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

 In
 Q
1
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
, 
3
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 f
o
r 
s
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 w
e
re
 h
e
lp
e
d
 i
n
to
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 w
o
rk
. 
 

A
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
is
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
rg
e
t 
re
m
a
in
s
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
a
c
e
. 
 A
n
 u
n
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
a
tt
e
m
p
t 
w
a
s
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 

re
n
e
g
o
ti
a
te
 t
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t 
w
it
h
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 c
la
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
O
ff
ic
e
 f
o
r 
L
o
n
d
o
n
, 
w
h
ic
h
 m

e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 c
a
n
 b
e
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 R
e
e
d
 i
n
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 P
a
th
w
a
y
s
 t
o
 W

o
rk
. 
 D
e
s
p
it
e
 t
h
is
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 w
h
ic
h
 w
il
l 
h
e
lp
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
th
e
 r
is
k
 o
f 
n
o
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
re
m
a
in
s
 v
e
ry
 

m
u
c
h
 o
n
 t
h
e
 u
p
s
id
e
. 

 

Page 125



1
6
 

C
u
r
r
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

 T
h
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 i
s
 t
h
e
 m

a
in
 v
e
h
ic
le
 f
o
r 
d
e
li
v
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 s
tr
e
tc
h
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
U
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
In
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im

a
n
ts
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 (
C
M
P
) 
d
e
li
v
e
re
d
 b
y
 N
H
S
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
. 
 T
h
e
 C
M
P
 w
il
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 a
 m

e
n
ta
l 
o
r 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
is
a
b
il
it
y
 o
r 
lo
n
g
-t
e
rm

 i
ll
n
e
s
s
, 
a
n
d
 w
h
o
 w
is
h
 t
o
 r
e
tu
rn
 t
o
 w
o
rk
. 
 T
h
e
y
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o
f 
c
li
n
ic
a
l 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 a
 h
o
li
s
ti
c
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 N
H
S
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
. 
 T
h
is
 c
a
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 

 

•
 I
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
in
g
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 b
e
tt
e
r,
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 i
n
 a
 w
o
rk
in
g
 c
o
n
te
x
t 

•
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 u
n
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 f
e
a
rs
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
, 
a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
to
 f
e
e
l 
m
o
re
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
a
b
le
 t
o
 c
o
p
e
 w
it
h
 r
e
tu
rn
in
g
 t
o
 

w
o
rk
 

•
 T
h
e
 c
h
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 w
h
o
 r
e
tu
rn
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 b
e
 m

o
re
 ‘
e
x
p
e
rt
’ 
in
 m

a
n
a
g
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 h
e
a
lt
h
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 m

o
re
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
in
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
 a
d
ju
s
tm

e
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r.
 

 T
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 t
o
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im

a
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
k
il
ls
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 G
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 a
d
v
is
e
rs
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 n
o
w
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
in
g
 r
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 J
o
b
 C
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
, 
a
s
 w
e
ll
 a
s
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
G
P
 s
u
rg
e
ri
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
. 
 A
 S
L
A
 

w
it
h
 R
e
e
d
 i
n
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
th
e
 P
a
th
w
a
y
s
 t
o
 W

o
rk
 p
ro
v
id
e
r,
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
il
l 
h
e
lp
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 t
o
 t
h
is
 c
li
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
. 
  

 E
m
e
r
g
in
g
 R
is
k
  

 T
h
e
 r
e
c
e
s
s
io
n
, 
w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 s
e
e
n
 c
la
im

a
n
t 
c
o
u
n
t 
u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
in
 H
a
ri
n
g
e
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 b
y
 4
5
%
 s
in
c
e
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
, 
w
il
l 
m
a
k
e
 i
t 
e
v
e
n
 m

o
re
 c
h
a
ll
e
n
g
in
g
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
is
 

c
li
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
 i
n
to
 s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

 P
e
r
fo
r
m
a
n
c
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 d
a
te
: 

 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 B
o
a
rd
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

      

Page 126



 
 
Meeting:  Haringey Strategic Partnership Board   
  
Date:   5 November 2009   
 
Report Title: Haringey’s Community Engagement Framework: 

Delivery Plan 
 
Report of: Wayne Longshaw, Assistant Chief Executive, 

Haringey Council 
 
 

Purpose  
 
This report is for information only and its purpose is to update the PMG on the 
progress on the Community Engagement Framework (CEF) and provide 
information on taking forward and monitoring the CEF Delivery Plan.  
 

Summary 
 
The Community Engagement Framework Delivery Plan was agreed by the 
HSP’s Performance Management Group (PMG) on 22 October 2009.  
 
This report provides an update on progress on the Community Engagement 
Framework.  
 
It gives details of the CEF Delivery Plan which focuses on improving the 
structures and processes necessary to take forward community engagement 
work in partnership. 
 
It also provides details of a new high level CEF Steering Group with overall 
accountability for the delivery and monitoring of the CEF Delivery Plan.  
 

Legal/Financial Implications 
 
Legal:  
 
The use of the CEF as recommended should assist the Council in complying 
with its new statutory duty to involve.  
 
Financial: 
 
The Delivery Plan (2009-2012) attached as Appendix 1 indicates that the bulk 
of the actions can be met from within existing resources which come 
predominately from the Council plus some ABG funding.   
 

Recommendations 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 127



That the HSP notes the information provided.  
 

For more information contact: 
 
Name:  Helena Pugh / Kirsty Fox 
Title: Head of Corporate Policy / Principal Corporate Policy Officer 
Tel: 020 8489 2509 / 2979 
Email address: helena.pugh@haringey.gov.uk   / Kirsty.fox@haringey.gov.uk  
 

 

Background 

 

1. Community Engagement Framework and Delivery Plan progress 
to date 

 
1.1 Following the adoption of the CEF by the HSP in April 2009 the following 
progress has been made: 

• The final Community Engagement Framework document is available 
on partner websites. 

• A ‘you said, we did’ table demonstrating how the responses have 
informed the development of the draft CEF is also on the website.   

• A summary version of the CEF is being produced which will be 
distributed widely including to those who took part in the consultation 
earlier this year. 

• An easy words and pictures version of the CEF is being produced to 
make it more user-friendly and accessible to members of the public. 

• The CEF Delivery Plan has been produced and is included in Appendix 
1. 

 
1.2 This progress was recognised by the Audit Commission in the recent 
Comprehensive Area Assessment process. The draft feedback stated: ‘The 
partnership is further strengthening how it communicates and works with local 
people. It has recognised the need to improve the quality and co-ordination of 
community involvement in this work and, following discussions with local 
people, has agreed a clear ‘community engagement framework’’.  It is 
important to now build on this progress.  

2. Taking forward the Community Engagement Framework: 

2.1 The PMG agreed in December 2008 that in order to produce the CEF, a 
multi-agency group should be established. It was agreed that this should be a 
time-limited group which met until the CEF was written. It was agreed that the 
working relationships built during the development period should continue. 

 
2.2 The CEF has now been produced by the CEF multi-agency group and 
published (agreed by the HSP in April 2009). This group has also developed 
the CEF Delivery Plan. It has therefore carried out its function and no longer 
needs to meet, although through the Delivery Plan actions, the working 
relationships established through this group will continue.  
 

Page 128



2.3 The CEF Delivery Plan now requires senior level commitment across 
HSP organisations to ensure that its work is driven forward. On 22 
October 2009 the PMG agreed that: 
 

• A new high level Community Engagement Framework Steering 
Group, supported by the Council’s Corporate Policy Team, is 
established to drive forward and monitor the work of the CEF Delivery 
Plan  

• Its membership is more senior than that of the group which developed 
the CEF 

• It is chaired by the Assistant Chief Executive of Policy, Partnerships, 
Performance and Communication at Haringey Council  

• It meets quarterly 

• It requests updates on the proposed projects of the draft CEF Delivery 
Plan quarterly 

• It reports to the PMG on CEF Delivery Plan progress every six months  

• Partner agencies will receive a formal, written invitation to nominate 
representatives to attend this high level steering group.  

 
2.4 Membership of CEF Steering Group: 
 

HSP partner: Group member: 

Haringey Council Assistant Chief Executive, PPP&C – CHAIR 
Adult, Culture and Community Services – to be 
advised 
Children and Young People’s Service – to be advised 
Urban Environment – to be advised 
Head of Local Democracy 
Head of Communications 
Head of Corporate Policy 

NHS Haringey To be advised 

Police To be advised 

Fire Brigade To be advised 

College of North 
East London 

To be advised 

HAVCO To be advised 

Learning and Skills 
Council 

To be advised 

Any other partners? To be advised 

 
2.5 This high level commitment to improving community engagement practice 
across the HSP is essential. Haringey’s CAA self evaluation identified the 
following partnership priorities, falling under the ‘People and customer 
focused’ outcome of the Sustainable Community Strategy, for the HSP’s 
focused attention:  

• Ensure local services are value for money  

• Enhance community engagement and partnership working   

• Adopt an HSP approach to Equalities Impact Assessments 

• Strengthen the quality of information and quality assurance practice 

• Manage our reputation 
 

Page 129



2.6 The CEF Delivery Plan (see Appendix 1) sets out actions to improve the 
tools and processes by which HSP partners carry out community 
engagement. The Delivery Plan includes some projects which arose from the 
community responses to the CEF consultation earlier this year.  The Delivery 
Plan was agreed by the PMG on 22 October.  
 
2.7 The Delivery Plan aims to improve and deliver on key National Indicators. 
The majority of activity will be delivered through existing resources; however 
the following action may require some investment following its pilot phase: 
 

Outcome Proposed action Additional investment 
required 

Inclusive 
community 
engagement 
processes 

13. Establish HSP 
approach to service user 
payment, taking into 
account needs of 
different communities 
(e.g. travel expenses, 
caring options, language 
support etc) 

A service user payment 
approach is currently being 
trialled under the Well-being 
Partnership Board. It is not 
possible to estimate the 
resource required until the 
results of the pilot are known.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices:  
 
Appendix 1  Community Engagement Framework Delivery Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 

Page 130



 
 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (CEF) DELIVERY 
PLAN:  
2009-2012 
 
This Community Engagement Framework Delivery Plan will: 
 

• help the Haringey Strategic Partnership (HSP) work to the 
principles of community engagement outlined in Haringey’s 
Community Engagement Framework (CEF).  

• aim to provide tools and processes to enable partners to work 
together to carry out more effective community engagement.  

• bring together a set of new high level projects to be undertaken 
across the partnership1.  

• help us to measure whether the Community Engagement Framework is 
making a difference  using the targets set in Haringey’s Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) – see the table below for details.   

• be regularly monitored by Community Engagement Framework 
Steering Group. 

• be reviewed in 2012.     
 
 
All HSP partners are responsible for this Delivery Plan: 

 

Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental 
Health Trust 

Haringey Youth Council 

College of North East London (CoNEL) Homes for Haringey 

Greater London Authority Job Centre Plus 

Haringey Association of Voluntary and 
Community Organisations (HAVCO) 

Learning and Skills Council 

Haringey Children’s Trust London Fire Brigade 

Haringey Community Link Forum Metropolitan Police 

Haringey Council Middlesex University 

Haringey Members of Parliament NHS Haringey 

Haringey Registered Social Landlords The Bridge New Deal for 
Communities (NDC) 

 
 

 
 

                                                 
1
 This plan only includes work to be undertaken in partnership. It does not list all community 

engagement activities already taking place in Haringey.     

Page 131



 
CEF Delivery 
Plan outcomes 

Sustainable 
Community 
Strategy 
outcomes  

Sustainable 
Community 
Strategy 
priorities 

Local Area Agreement Targets2 Baseline % 
(2008 Place 
Survey) 

2009/10 target 
% 

2010/11 target % 

People at the 
heart of 
change 

Enhance 
community 
cohesion 

NI1: % of people who believe people 
from different backgrounds get on well 
together in their local area 

75.5 77.9 81.1 

NI140: Fair treatment by local 
services. Proxy: to what extent does 
your local council treat all types of 
people fairly? 

60.4 62.6 65.0 Increase resident 
satisfaction with 
services and the 
area they live in 

NI21: Dealing with concerns about 
anti-social behaviour and crime by the 
local council and police. Proxy: % of 
people who feel well informed about 
what the council is doing to tackle anti-
social behaviour 

27.9 32.0 34.0 

Provide greater 
opportunity for 
civic 
engagement and 
participation 

NI4: % of people who feel they can 
influence decisions in their locality 

40.5 42.9 45.1 

NI6: Participation in regular 
volunteering 

20.7 22.7 24.7 

1. Effective 
community 
engagement 
structures  

 
2. Inclusive 

community 
engagement 
processes 

 
3. Increased 

community 
engagement 
capacity  

 
4. Community 

engagement 
good 
practice 
shared 

Be people 
and customer 
focussed 

Draw on the 
strength of the 
voluntary and 
community 
sector 
 
Make our 
children and 
young people 
active citizens 

NI7: Environment for a thriving third 
sector 

18.93 21.9 24.9 

 
 
 
 

                                                 
2
 NI targets set through negotiation with Government Office for London, and in accordance with government standards. To be measured through annual Place Survey 

results.  
3
 Third Sector Organisations Survey 2008 

P
a
g

e
 1

3
2



Outcome 1: Effective community engagement structures 
 

Project Timescale / Existing 
progress 

Resource 
implications 

Key output(s) – to be decided by 
group responsible 

Team / Group responsible 

1. Establish a multi-agency 
community engagement 
governance and accountability 
structure 

Can be achieved by 
Dec 2009 following 
PMG agreement  

Within existing 
resources 

CEF Steering Group established 
 
Membership effective and roles and 
responsibilities adhered to 

Proposed CEF Steering 
Group, supported by Council 
Corporate Policy Team 

2. Map existing community 
engagement activities undertaken 
by partners  

Mapping already 
undertaken. 
 
Annual refresh 
necessary.  

Within existing 
resources 

Mapping exercise maintained 
 
Mapping exercise publicly available 

3. Establish a common evaluation 
process for engagement activities  
to ensure that we use results to 
improve local services, identify best 
practice and learn from mistakes 

 

2010-11  Within existing 
resources 

Evaluation process designed and 
rolled out across partner agencies 
 
Results analysed  
 
Process used and results analysed 
on an on-going basis 

4. Using mapping and evaluations, 
undertake audit and gap analysis of 
existing community engagement 
activities across partners 

2010-11  Within existing 
resources 

Audit and gap analysis undertaken 
 

5. Make recommendations to expand 
/ rationalise / share activities 

2010-11 Within existing 
resources 

Recommendations made to PMG  

Council’s Consultation 
Group, with representatives 
of HSP partners in 
attendance 
 

6. Review existing mechanism for 
community representatives to 
engage with HSP 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

Existing mechanism reviewed; 
recommendations made to PMG 

Proposed CEF Steering 
Group (with input from CLF, 
HAVCO  and Haringey 
Strategic Partnership Team, 
Haringey Council, ,) 

7. Establish process for recording and 
monitoring issues raised to 
councillors in surgeries and Area 
Assemblies and attendance at 
these 

2010-11 Within existing 
resources 

Process established; monitoring 
reported to CEF Steering Group 

Council’s Local Democracy 
Team and Neighbourhood 
Management Team 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
3



 

Outcome 2: Inclusive community engagement processes 

 

Project Timescale / Existing 
progress 

Resource 
implications 

Key output(s) – to be decided by 
group responsible 

Team / Group responsible 

8. Develop publicity plan for 
Community Engagement 
Framework (for residents, 
councillors, staff in HSP 
organisations etc) 

 
9. Undertake review of current 

publicity processes and guidelines 
across HSP partners  

 
10. Develop HSP process to publicise 

engagement opportunities and 
activities 

2010-11 
 
Progress to date: 
CEF already 
published on website. 
CEF summary and 
Easy Read versions 
in production.  
 
 

Within existing 
resources 
 

Publicity Plan produced 
 
Review undertaken and guidelines 
agreed by all partners 
 
Increased impact of publicity: 
 - increased attendance at Area 
Assembly & other community 
meetings 
 - higher response rates for 
consultations across HSP 
 - increased applications for civic 
roles 

11. Develop partnership approach to 
Translation and Interpretation  

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

HSP Translation and Interpretation 
Approach agreed by HSP 

HSP Communications 
Network 
 

2010-11  Within existing 
resources 

Review undertaken using results of 
evaluation process and 
recommendations made to PMG 

12. Undertake review of how different 
communities prefer to engage and 
support required  

 
13. Establish HSP approach to service 

user payment, taking into account 
needs of different communities 
(e.g. travel expenses, caring 
options, language support, etc) 

2011-12 A service user 
payment approach 
is being trialled 
under the Well-
being Partnership 
Board. It is not 
possible to 
estimate the 
resource required 
until results of pilot 
are known. 

HSP approach to community 
support established 
 
Increased uptake of support 
measured by: 
increased attendance of different 
communities at meetings and 
engagement events 

HSP Commissioning Group 

14. Develop partnership advocacy 
strategy 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

HSP Advocacy Strategy and Action 
Plan agreed by HSP 

Well-Being Partnership 
Board with input from CEF 
Steering Group 

 

 

 

P
a
g

e
 1

3
4



Outcome 3: Increased community engagement capacity 

 

Project Timescale / Existing 
progress 

Resource 
implications 

Key output(s) – to be decided by 
group responsible 

Team / Group responsible 

15. Establish a cross-sector 
engagement development 
programme (that can be 
undertaken by staff, community 
groups and community 
representatives) 

 
 
 
 

2010-11  Within existing 
resources. 
Community 
engagement 
training is already 
offered by some 
partners. This offer 
needs to be 
widened and co-
ordinated.  

Cross-sector development 
programme established 
 
No. of attendees on engagement 
courses, measured by those from   
statutory organisations and 
voluntary sector organisations 
 
No. of attendees who find courses 
useful  

16. Ensure community engagement 
awareness and COMPACT way of 
working is included in staff 
induction programmes across HSP 
partners 

2010-11  Within existing 
resources 

Community engagement 
awareness and COMPACT way of 
working included in all partner 
inductions 

17. Review and build on capacity 
building support available for 
community representatives to 
enable them to influence partner 
decision making 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

No. of groups and individuals 
receiving capacity building support 
 
Outcomes of capacity building 
support for individual groups 

Council’s OD&L Team, with 
input from key partners. 
COMPACT Implementation 
Working Group  
 

18. Establish an annual community 
engagement conference for service 
providers and community 
representatives 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources  

Annual conference established 
 
Nos. from different agencies and 
groups attending 
 
Nos. who find conference useful 

Council’s Consultation Group 
with input from key partners, 
including CLF 
 

19. Develop partnership volunteering 
plan 

2010-11 ABG funded HSP volunteering plan produced HAVCO with input from CEF 
Steering Group 

20. Undertake mapping of third sector 
in Haringey 

2010-11 ABG funded HSP  knowledge of third sector in 
Haringey increased 

HAVCO with input from CEF 
Steering Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
5



Outcome 4: Community engagement good practice shared 

 

Project Timescale / Existing 
progress 

Resource 
implications 

Key output(s) – to be decided by 
group responsible 

Team / Group responsible 

21. Ensure information in Borough 
Profile – Customers & Citizenship 
chapter – is updated 

March 2010 Within existing 
resources 

Information up to date Council’s Corporate Policy 
Team  

22. Develop HSP Online Engagement 
Strategy  

 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

Online Strategy agreed by HSP HSP Communications 
Network 

23. Build on existing Council toolkit to 
establish a partnership web-based 
community engagement & Equality 
Impact Assessment toolkit  

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

Partnership toolkit established 
 
No. of users 

HSP Communications 
Network 
With input from Council’s 
Corporate Equalities Team 

24. Establish a partnership web-based 
database where all partners: 

i. record details of upcoming 
engagement activities (for use by 
HSP partners and the public) 

ii. record results and analysis of 
engagement activities 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

Database established 
 
Database used by all partners 
 
 

HSP Communications 
Network 

25. Develop online engagement tools 
through projects with external 
organisations 

2011-12 Within existing 
resources 

To be confirmed with external 
organisations 

HSP Communications 
Network 

26. Establish a common approach to 
research to be used across all HSP 
partners 

2011-12  Within existing 
resources 

Common approach to research 
agreed by all partners 

Council’s Consultation 
Working Group with input 
from all HSP partners 

27. Raise awareness of COMPACT 
good practice through establishing 
COMPACT Good Practice Award 

2010-11 Within existing 
resources  

Awareness of COMPACT raised 
across HSP organisations 

COMPACT Implementation 
Working Group 

 

  
 

P
a
g

e
 1

3
6



 1 

 
 
Meeting:   Haringey Strategic Partnership    
   
Date:    5 November 2009    
 
Report Title:  Thematic Board Updates   
  
Report of:     Mary Connolly, Partnerships Manager, Haringey 

Council  
 

Summary 
 
This report provides updates from the last cycle of Theme Board meetings.  
The updates provide an overview of the work streams, activities and decisions 
taken by each Board.  
 

Recommendations 
 
To note the updates from each of the boards and to comment as appropriate.  
 

Financial/Legal Comments 
 
N/A. 
 

For more information contact: 
 
Name: Mary Connolly 
Title: HSP Manager 
Tel: 020 8489 6939 
Email: mary.connolly@haringey.gov.uk  
 

 
 
Better Places Partnership Board 
 
The Better Places Partnership has met twice (July and October) since the last 
update to the HSP.   
 
A major development for the Board has been the launch of the Greenest 
Borough Innovation Fund (GBIF). Funded through the Area Based Grant, this 
provided partner organisations the opportunity to bid for funding for projects 
that support delivery of key priorities within the Greenest Borough Strategy. 
Twelve bids were received and following a meeting of the decision making 
panel in mid September (where all bids were scored against a set of criteria) 
four bids were successful.  
Progress has also been made with work around supporting Partnership 
development. The sponsors of the seven Greenest Borough Strategy priorities 
will identify external priority leads. In time, sponsors and external leads will 

Agenda Item 9Page 137



 2 

write up formal partnership agreements that set out how value will be added 
through a partnership approach and how resources can be pooled.  
 
Exception reports have been presented to the Board on underperforming 
performance targets in the Local Area Agreement, in particular NI 192 - % of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting. The Greenest 
Borough Strategy Programme monitoring is to be integrated with the 
performance reports in future to provide a clearer, more effective monitoring 
report each quarter.  
 
The Board has also received presentations on the work of the British Trust of 
Conservation Volunteers, Climate Change Alliance and Haringey’s plans for 
gaining Fair Trade Status. Following a discussion at the last Board meeting  
on ‘faith and recycling’ a project has started to consider how best to  
overcome the barriers certain communities face in fully utilising recycling 
services and how faith ‘infrastructure’ (networks, groups, institutions) can be 
used to overcome these barriers. 
 

The next scheduled meeting of the Better Places Partnership Board is on 1 
December. 
 
Children’s Trust 
 
The Children’s Trust has met twice since the last HSP meeting.  
 
A major development for the Trust has been the launch of the new Children 
and Young People’s Plan at the October meeting.  The Plan comprises a 
Strategic Plan, which sets the overall priorities for 2009-2020 and a rolling 
three year Implementation Plan.  Development of the plan was based on an 
extensive Needs Assessment, consultation and an evaluation of the final year 
of the previous Children and Young People’s Plan: Changing Lives.   
These documents are available at Haringey’s website: 
 
http://harinet.haringey.gov.uk/index/children_and_families/cyp.htm.   
 
The development of the Children’s Trust has continued with the establishment 
of three Area Children’s Partnerships.  Each Area Children’s Partnership 
covers the same geographical area as one of the existing Children’s 
Networks.  The role of the Area Children’s Partnerships is to bring together a 
range of local people to identify and work on local priorities in their area within 
the framework of the Children and Young People’s Plan strategic priorities.   
 
Exception reports have been presented to the Trust on underperforming 
performance targets in the Local Area Agreement.  These included social care 
targets on assessments and child protection reviews, on teenage conceptions 
and on education.  All education data is provisional and subject to validation 
by December.  The social care targets are also part of the refreshed Haringey 
Safeguarding Plan (formerly know as the JAR action plan).  A progress report 
on this plan is presented to each meeting of the Children’s Trust.  The Trust 
has also received a presentation in July on the lessons to be drawn from 
serious case reviews and an update on the work of the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board in October.   

Page 138



 3 

 
Presentations have also been made on the Infant Mortality Plan and on the 
development of a Children’s Workforce Development Strategy.  In October the 
Trust participated in a consultation and discussion session on the proposals 
for the Family Support Strategy.   
 

The Trusts next meeting is scheduled for 17 December 2009. 
 
Enterprise Partnership Board 
 
The Enterprise Board last met on 8 September 2009. 
 
Cllr Brian Haley was nominated and confirmed as Vice Chair for the rest of 
2009/10 replacing Cllr Kaushika Amin who stood down. The Boards Terms of 
Reference for 2009/10 were also confirmed and adopted, and Reed in 
Partnership was confirmed as a new organisation represented with a place on 
the Board. 
 
A presentation on the progress being made with respect to the Council’s 
Resilience Plan for the recession was given and an update on the progress 
being made towards developing a Future Jobs Fund bid was provided to the 
Board. Other reports given included; information on the Personalised 
Employment Programme, which will be piloted by the Department for Work 
and Pensions in Barnet, Enfield and Haringey from March 2011 and; updates 
on the three main Worklessness programmes: Haringey Guarantee, Families 
into Work and the North London Pledge.  A general overview of business and 
enterprise activities in the Borough was also provided.  
 
The Board was advised that attempts to renegotiate the LAA Incapacity 
related Benefits Stretch Target had been unsuccessful.  Despite this Haringey 
Council and Reed in Partnership were still able to agree a Service Level 
Agreement allowing clients to access both Haringey Council and Pathways to 
Work provision. 
 
The Boards next meeting is scheduled for 17 November 2009. 
 
Integrated Housing Board  
 
The Integrated Housing Board met on 21 September and considered a 
number of issues including the new Affordable Warmth Strategy and Action 
Plan. Once agreed by the Council’s Cabinet the Board will lead on monitoring 
the delivery of the Action Plan.  
 
The Board also reviewed progress against the Housing Strategy and its sub 
strategies and the progress made during the first year of the Homelessness 
Strategy 2008 -2011.   
 
Performance against Local Area Agreement targets within the Boards 
responsibility during the first quarter of 2009/10 was reviewed. Although 
performance against the target with respect to the number of people living in 
temporary accommodation was showing as amber, it was recognised that 
performance in this area was improving. With the new Emergency 

Page 139



 4 

Accommodation project team now in place it was anticipated that the target 
for the year would be met.  
 
The Board also looked at the results of a consultation exercise with respect to 
the formation of a new Registered Providers Partnership and Protocol and it 
was agreed that the Chair should sign this off on behalf of the Board prior to 
agreement by the Council’s Cabinet.  
 
The Boards next scheduled meeting is due to take place on 26 November 
2009.   
 
Safer Communities Executive Board 
 
The Board met in September and discussed a presentation on the analysis 
from the Place Survey.  The findings and recommendations from the annual 
partnership data report will be considered at the next meeting on 19 
November.  
  
The half-year crime report indicates that overall recorded crime is down by 2% 
with some notable successes in the following areas, despite the recession:  
There are fewer young people entering the youth justice system; higher 
numbers of women are accessing the Hearthstone domestic violence centre; 
acquisitive crime has been reduced; knife crime has reduced significantly; the 
ASBAT continues to achieve 100% success in court and their parenting 
programme has assisted one hundred and forty families where no further 
enforcement has been required.   
 
Critical areas of concern to the board are:   

• young adults engaged in serious violence and gangs; 

• maintaining performance on problematic drug users accessing 
treatment;  

• hospital admissions for alcohol-related incidents;  

• higher levels of gun crime and insufficient support to young victims - 
the latter is largely due to funding issues.   

Mitigation plans and regular inter-agency problem solving is occurring in 
support of these problems with weekly and sometimes daily updates.  The 
SCEB Performance Management Group is looking at directing resources into 
the problem areas as a matter of urgency. 
  
The DAAT oversaw a range of awareness events and publicity for Alcohol 
Awareness Week, including a visit by David Lammy MP to the COSMIC 
facility, which provides early intervention and assistance to children and their 
families with substance misuse problems or vulnerabilities. 
  
The new Justice Seen, Justice Done programme is progressing well in the 
borough and the first Community Safety Matters newsletter is due in 
December.  Community Payback is being delivered and additional funding 
has been secured for victims and witnesses of ASB. 
  
The Borough is well prepared for further outbreaks of Swine Flu and there has 
been high praise for the community-focused, partnership work of Haringey's 
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Team. 

Page 140



 5 

  
Two new members have joined the SCEB -  Hywel Ebsworth and Rohan 
Sankey of the Court/Crown Prosecution Service.   
 
The Board’s next meeting is scheduled for 19 November.  
 
Well-Being Strategic Partnership Board  
 
The Board received a report and presentation on the development of the new 
Tobacco Control Strategy and Action Plan. An overview was given of how the 
Borough was affected by smoking. The final version of the Strategy and 
Action Plan will be presented at the next meeting in December 2009 for sign 
off. 
 
The Board received a report that provided an overview of findings of the 
review carried out of projects funded by the Area Based Grant (ABG) during 
2008/09. A further detailed report of the eighteen projects undergoing review 
will also be presented at the next meeting.  

 

An overview was given of the process that the Health Inequalities National 

Support Team (NST) visit, taking place in October, would follow. This was not 

intended to measure performance or audit services in any way, but is 

designed to support the local area and improve performance. 

  

The Board received a report setting out performance against LAA targets, 

within its responsibility, during the first quarter of 2009/10. Concerns were 

raised as to whether data was being captured and measured across the 

partnership as a whole. There was agreement that work was required to 

develop a systematic approach to demonstrate this there was discussion 

around the outputs and outcomes needed to shift to outcome based 

measures.  

 

The next scheduled meeting of the Board is on 8 December 2009.  
 

 

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	230909 Final to Chair

	5 Update on Haringey's Response to the Recession
	Recession -Appendix A
	Recession -Appendix B

	6 New Deal for Communities Succession Plan
	HSP NDC Succession Report -Appendix 1
	HSP NDC Succession Report -Appendix 2
	HSP NDC Succession Report -Appendix 2.1
	HSP NDC Succession Report -Appendix 2.2
	NDC Appendix 2.3
	HSP NDC Succession Report -Appendix 2.4

	7 Local Area Agreement Performance Update
	Performance Report -Exception Appendix

	8 Haringey's Community Engagement Framework: Delivery Plan
	9 Thematic Board Updates

